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THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.

If you are in any doubt as to the course of action you should take, you should consult your stockbroker,
bank manager, saolicitor, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

If you have sold your ordinary shares in the capital of DBS Group Holdings Lid (the “Company”), you
should immediately forward this Circular and the Proxy Form attached to this Circular to the purchaser
or to the stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale was effected for onward transmission to the

purchaser.

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited takes no responsibility for the accuracy of any
statements or opinions made in this Circular.
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CIRCULAR TO SHAREHOLDERS
IN RELATION TO
THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

IMPORTANT DATES AND TIMES:
Last date and time for lodgement of Proxy Form : 2 April 2007 at 2.30 p.m.

Date and time of Extraordinary General Meeting : 4 April 2007 at 2.30 p.m. (or as soon
thereafter following the conclusion or

adjournment of the Eighth Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be
held at 2.0C p.m. on the same day and at
the same place)

Place of Extraordinary General Meeting : Auditorium, 3rd Storey
DBS Building Tower One

6 Shenton Way
Singapore 068809
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DEFINITIONS

In this Circular, the following definitions apply throughout unless otherwise stated:

“Articles”

“Awards”

ISCAR”

“CDP“
*2006 Circular”

“Companies Act”

“Company” or “DBSH"
“Directors”

“EGM”

“2006 EGM”

“EPS”
*“Group”
“Income Tax Act”

”

“Latest Practicable Date

“Listing Manual”

“Maju”

“Market Day”
“MAS”

“NAV”

“Ordinary Shares”
“ROE”

“Securities Accounts”

The Articles of Asscciation of the Company.

Awards in respect of Ordinary Shares granted under the DBSH
Performance Share Pilan.

Capital Adequacy Ratio based on the guidelinas set out by the
Monetary Authority of Singapore in MAS Notice 637 “Notice on
Risk Based Capital Adequacy Requirements for Banks
incorporated in Singapore”.

The Central Depository (Pte) Limited.
The Company’s Circular to Shareholders dated 8 March 2006.

The Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore as amended
from time to time.

DBS Group Holdings Ltd.
The directors of the Company for the time being.

The extracrdinary general meeting of the Company, notice of
which is given on pages 24 to 25 of this Circular.

The extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30
March 2006.

Earnings per Ordinary Share.
The Company and its subsidiaries.
The Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 of Singapore.

The latest practicable date prior to the printing of this Circular,
being 21 February 2007.

The listing manual of the SGX-ST, including any amendments
made thereto up to the Latest Practicable Date.

Maju Holdings Pte. Ltd.

A day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities.
The Monetary Authority of Singapore.

Net asset value.

Ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Return on equity.

Securities accounts maintained by Depositors with CDP, but
not including securities sub-accounts maintained with a
Depository Agent.




DEFINITIONS

“SGX-ST” : Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

“Share Options” : Options to subscribe for new Ordinary Shares granted
pursuant to share option schemes implemented by the
Company.

“Share Purchase Mandate” : The mandate to enable the Company to purchase or otherwise

acquire its issued Ordinary Shares.

“Shareholders” : Persons who are registered as holders of Ordinary Shares in
the Register of Members of the Company and Depositors who
have Ordinary Shares entered against their names in the
Depository Register.

“SIC” : The Securities Industry Council.

“Take-over Code” : The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers.
“Temasek” : Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited.

“S3%”, “$” and “cents” : Singapore dollars and cents, respectively.

“%"” or “per cent.” : Per centum or percentage.

The terms “Depositor”, “Depository Agent” and “Depository Register” shall have the meanings
ascribed to them respectively in Section 130A of the Companies Act.

Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa. Words importing
the masculine gender shall, where applicable, include the feminine and neuter genders. References to
persons shall include corporations.

Any reference in this Circular to any enactment is a reference to that enactment as for the time being
amended or re-enacted. Any word defined under the Companies Act or any statutory modification
thereof and not otherwise defined in this Circular shall have the same meaning assigned to it under the
Companies Act or any statutory modification thereof, as the case may be.

The headings in this Circular are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in construing this
Circular.

Any reference to a time of day in this Circular is made by reference to Singapore time unless otherwise
stated.

Any discrepancies in the tables in this Circular between the listed amounts and the totals thereof are
due to rounding.
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DBS GROUP HOLDINGS LTD

{Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration Number: 199901152M

Directors: Registered Office:

Mr Koh Boon Hwee (Chairman) 6 Shenton Way

Mr Jackson Tai DBS Building Tower One
Mr Frank Wong Kwong Shing Singapore 068809

Mr Ang Kong Hua
Mr Andrew Buxton
Mr Goh Geok Ling
Mr Kwa Chong Seng
Mr Leung Chun Ying
Mr Narayana Murthy
Mr Peter Ong Boon Kwee
Mr Jobn Alan Ross
Mr Wong Ngit Liong
19 March 2007

To: The Shareholders of
DBS Group Holdings Ltd

Dear SirfMadam

1.  INTRODUCTION

1.1 EGM. The Directors are convening an EGM to be held on 4 April 2007 to seek Shareholders’
approval for the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate.

1.2 Circular. The purpose of this Circular is to provide Shareholders with information relating to the
proposal to be tabled at the EGM.

2. THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

2.1 Background. Shareholders had approved the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate at the
2006 EGM. The authority and limitations on the Share Purchase Mandate were set out in the 2006
Cireular and Ordinary Resolution 3 set out in the Notice of the 2006 EGM.

The Share Purchase Mandate was expressed to take effect on the date of the passing of Ordinary
Resolution 3 at the 2006 EGM and will expire on the date of the forthcoming Eighth Annual
General Meeting to be held on 4 April 2007. Accordingly, Shareholders’ approval is being sought
for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate at the EGM, immediately following the Eighth
Annual General Meeting of the Company convened to be heid on the same date.

To date, the Company has not undertaken any purchase or acquisition of its Ordinary Shares
pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate approved by Shareholders at the 2006 EGM.
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2.2

2.3

Rationale for the Share Purchase Mandate. The rationale for DBSH to undertake the purchase
or acquisition of its Ordinary Shares, as previously stated in the 2006 Circular, is as follows:

(a) In managing the business of the Company and its subsidiaries, management will strive to
increase Shareholders’ value by improving, inter alia, the ROE of DBSH. In addition to
growth and expansion of the business, share purchases may be considered as one of the
ways through which the ROE of DBSH may be enhanced.

{b) In fine with international practice, the Share Purchase Mandate will provide the Company
with greater flexibility in managing its capital and maximising returns to its Shareholders. To
the extent that DBSH has capital and surplus funds which are in excess of its financial
needs, taking into account its growth and expansion plans, the Share Purchase Mandate will
facilitate the return of excess cash and surplus funds to Shareholders in an expedient,
effective and cost-efficient manner. A share repurchase programme will also allow
management to effectively manage and minimise the dilution impact (if any) associated with
share option schemes and performance share plans.

(¢) The Share Purchase Mandate will provide DBSH the flexibility to undertake share
repurchases at any time, subject to market conditions, during the period when the Share
Purchase Mandate is in force.

The purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares will only be undertaken if it can benefit DBSH and
Shareholders. Shareholders should note that purchases or acquisitions of Ordinary Shares
pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may not be carried out to the full 10% limit as
authorised. No purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares will be made in circumstances which
would have or may have a matenal adverse effect on the liquidity and capital adequacy position
of the Group as a whole.

Authority and Limits of the Share Purchase Mandate. The authority and limitations placed on
purchases or acquisitions of Ordinary Shares by DBSH under the proposed Share Purchase
Mandate, if renewed at the EGM, are the same as were previously approved by Shareholders at
the 2006 EGM and, for the benefit of Shareholders, are summarised below:

2.31 Maximum Number of Shares

Only Qrdinary Shares which are issued and fully paid-up may be purchased or acquired
by DBSH. As previously approved by Shareholders at the 2006 EGM, the total number of
Ordinary Shares which may be purchased or acquired by DBSH is limited to that number
of Ordinary Shares representing not more than 10% of the issued Ordinary Shares of
DBSH as at the date of the EGM at which the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate
is approved. Any Ordinary Shares which are held as treasury shares will be disregarded
for purpeses of computing the 10% limit.

Purely for illustrative purposes, on the basis of 1,512,384,748 Ordinary Shares in issue as
at the Latest Practicable Date, and assuming that no further Ordinary Shares are issued
pursuant to the exercise of exercisable Share Options or the vesting of Awards or the
conversion of non-voting convertible preference shares in the capital of the Company and
no Crdinary Shares are held by the Company as treasury shares on or prior to the EGM,
not more than 151,238,474 Ordinary Shares (representing 10% of the Ordinary Shares in
issue as at that date) may be purchased or acquired by DBSH pursuant to the proposed
Share Purchase Mandate.
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Duration of Authority

Purchases or acquisitions of Ordinary Shares may be made, at any time and from time to
time, on and from the date of the EGM, at which the renewal of the Share Purchase
Mandate is approved, up to:

(a) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held or
required by law to be held; or

(b) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is
revoked or varied,

whichever is the earlier.

Manner of Purchases or Acquisitions of Shares
Purchases or acquisitions of Ordinary Shares may be made by way of:

(@) on-market purchases (“Market Purchases”), transacted through the SGX-ST's
Central Limit Order Book (CLOB) trading system or on any other securities
exchange on which the Ordinary Shares may for the time being be listed and
quoted, through one or more duly licensed dealers appointed by DBSH for the
purpose; and/or

(b) off-market purchases (“Off-Market Purchases”), otherwise than on a securities
exchange, in accordance with an equal access scheme.

The Directors may impose such terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the
Share Purchase Mandate, the Listing Manual and the Companies Act as they consider fit
in the interests of the Company in connection with or in relation to any equal access
scheme or schemes. An equal access scheme must, however, satisfy all the following
conditions:

(i) offers for the purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares shall be made to every
person who holds Ordinary Shares to purchase or acquire the same percentage of
their Ordinary Shares:

(i) all of those persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers
made; and

(i) the terms of all the offers are the same {except that there shall be disregarded (1)
differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to Ordinary
Shares with different accrued dividend entitlements and (2) differences in the offers
introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole number of Ordinary
Shares).

It DBSH wishes to make an Off-Market Purchase in accordance with an equal access
scheme, it will issue an offer document containing at least the foliowing information:
() the terms and conditions of the offer;

(I} the period and procedures for acceptances; and

(ll) the information required under Rules 883(2), (3), (4) and (5) of the Listing Manual.
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2.3.4

Purchase Price

The purchase price (excluding related brokerage, commission, applicable goods and
services tax, stamp duties, clearance fees and other related expenses) 1o be paid for an
Ordinary Share will be determined by the Directors. The purchase price to be paid for the
Ordinary Shares as determined by the Directors, in the case of a Market Purchase and
an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, must not exceed 105% of
the Average Closing Price of the Ordinary Shares, in either case, excluding related
expenses of the purchase or acquisition {the “Maximum Price”).

For the above purposes:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of an Ordinary
Share over the last five market days, on which transacticns in the Ordinary Shares on the
SGX-ST or, as the case may be, such securities exchange on which the Ordinary Shares
are listed or quoted were recorded, preceding the date of the Market Purchase by the
Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the
Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the rules of the
SGX-ST, for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period; and

“date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its
intention to make an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares from holders
of Ordinary Shares, stating therein the purchase price (which shall not be more than the
Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Ordinary Share and the
relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase.

2.4 Status of Purchased Ordinary Shares. Ordinary Shares purchased or acquired by the
Company are deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition (and all rights and
privileges attached to the Ordinary Shares will expire on such cancellation) unless such Ordinary
Shares are held by the Company as treasury shares. The total number of issued Ordinary Shares
will be diminished by the number of Ordinary Shares purchased or acquired by the Company and
which are not held as treasury shares.

25

Treasury Shares. Under the Companies Act, Ordinary Shares purchased or acquired by the
Company may be held or dealt with as treasury shares. Some of the provisions on treasury shares
under the Companies Act are summarised below.

2.5.1

252

Maximum Holdings

The number of Ordinary Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10%
of the total number of issued Ordinary Shares.

Voting and Other Rights

The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares. In particular, the
Company cannot exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for the purposes of
the Companies Act, the Company shall be treated as having no right to vote and the
treasury shares shall be treated as having no voting rights.

In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution of the Company’s assets
may be made, to the Company in respect of treasury shares. However, the allotment of
shares as fully paid bonus shares in respect of treasury shares is allowed. A subdivision
or consolidation of any treasury share into treasury shares of a smaller amount is also
allowed so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision or
consolidation is the same as befora.
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2.6

2.7

2.5.3 Disposal and Cancellation
Where Ordinary Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time:
(@) sell the treasury shares for cash;

(b) transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to an employees’ share
scheme;

{c} transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or
assets of another company or assets of a person;

{d) cancel the treasury shares; or

(e) sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may
be prescribed by the Minister for Finance.

Source of Funds. The Company may purchase or acquire its own Ordinary Shares out of capital,
as well as from its profits.

DBSH intends to use its internal sources of funds to finance its purchase or acquisition of the
Ordinary Shares. DBSH does not intend to obtain or incur any borrowings to finance its purchase
or acquisition of the Ordinary Shares. The Directors do not propose to exercise the Share
Purchase Mandate in a manner and to such extent that the liquidity and capital adequacy position
ot the Group would be materially adversely affected.

Financial Effects. The financial effects on DBSH and the Group arising from purchases or
acquisitions of Ordinary Shares which may be made pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate will
depend on, inter alia, the number of Ordinary Shares purchased or acquired, and the price paid
for such Ordinary Shares. The financial effects on the Group, based on the audited financial
consolidated statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2006, are based
on the assurnptions set out below,

2.7.1  Purchase or Acquisition out of Capital or Profits

Purchases or acquisitions of Ordinary Shares by the Company may be made out of the
Company’s capital or profits.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Ordinary
Shares is made out of profits, such consideration (excluding related brokerage, goods
and services tax, stamp duties and clearance fees) will correspondingly reduce the
amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company. Based on the
consolidated financial statements of DBSH and its subsidiaries for the financial year
ended 31 December 2006, and having regard to:

{a) the amount of distributable reserves attributable to the Group of approximately
5%$7.56 billion as at that date; and

(b) the Maximum Price at the Latest Practicable Date, in the case of both Market
Purchases and Off-Market Purchases, of S$23.84 for one Ordinary Share,
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2.7.2

273

274

DBSH has sufficient distributable reserves to purchase Ordinary Shares representing up
to 10% of its issued Ordinary Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date. The amount of
distributable reserves available in the year 2007 and year 2008 would, however, depend
on the performance of the Group in 2007 and 2008.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Ordinary
Shares is made out of capital, the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends
by the Company will not be reduced.

In any case, no purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares, whether out of capital or
profits, will be made in circumstances which would have or may have a material adverse
effect on the liquidity and capital adequacy position of the Group as a whole.

Number of Ordinary Shares Acquired or Purchased

Based on the number of issued and paid-up Ordinary Shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date and on the assumptions set out in paragraph 2.3.1 above, the purchase by the
Campany of up to the maximum limit of 10% of its issued Ordinary Shares will result in
the purchase or acquisition of 151,238,474 Ordinary Shares.

Maximum Price Paid for Ordinary Shares Acquired or Purchased

Assuming that DBSH purchases or acquires 151,238,474 Ordinary Shares at the
Maximum Price, in the case of both Market Purchases and Off-Market Purchases, of
$$23.84 for one Ordinary Share (being the price equivalent to five per cent. above the
average closing prices of the Ordinary Shares traded on the SGX-ST over the last five
Market Days on which transactions were recorded preceding the Latest Practicable
Date), the maximurm amount of funds required is approximately $$3.61 billion.

Hiustrative Financial Effects

The financial effects on the Group arising from purchases or acquisitions of Ordinary
Shares which may be made pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate will
depend on, inter alia, the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares purchased or acquired
and the consideration paid at the relevant time.

For illustrative purposes only and on the basis of the assumptions set out in paragraphs
2.7.2 and 2.7.3 above, and assuming the following:

(a) DBSH had purchased 151,238,474 Ordinary Shares (representing 10% of the
Ordinary Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date) on 1 January 20086,

(b) the cash applied to pay the purchase consideration would otherwise have earned a
return of 3.26% per annum in the inter-bank market;

(¢) a Singapore corporate income tax rate of 20%; and

(d) DBSH will not pay any dividends with respect to the Ordinary Shares which are
repurchased,
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the financial effects on the consolidated financial statements of DBSH and its subsidiaries
for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 would have been as follows:

Per Consolidated

Financial After Share
Statements Purchase!®

Total Shareholders’ funds ($'millions) 18,675 . 15,058
Number of issued and paid-up Ordinary Shares used in the

computation of the relevant financial ratios set out below

('000) 1,510,835 1,359,597
Weighted average number of issued and paid-up Ordinary

Shares used in the computation of the relevant financial

ratios set out below ("000) 1,503,685 1,352,447
Net profit attributable to Shareholders ($'millions) 2,269 2,175
Financial Ratios
NAV per QOrdinary Share ($) 12.08 10.76
EPS (GAAP Basis) ($)
— Basic 1.50 1.60
— Fully Diluted'" 1.45 1.53
ROE {GAAP Basis) (%)@ 12,83 15.46
CAR (%)
— Tier 3 10.2 7.8
—  Total 14.5 12.1
Notes:

™ Adjusted to take into account the dilutive effect arising from the full conversion of DBSH non-voting
preference shares and the exercise of all outstanding employee share options where the resultant Ordinary
Shares would be issued at a price lower than the average share price during the year.

@ Adjusted to take into account one-time gains of $$94 million which include net gains arising from the sale
of buildings in Singapore and Hong Kong.

3 The disclosed financial effects remain the same irrespective of whether:

(a} the purchase of Ordinary Shares is effected out of capital or profits; or

{b) the purchased Ordinary Shares are held in treasury or are cancelled.

Shareholders should note that the financial effects set out above, based on the
respective aforementioned assumptions, are for iltlustration purposes only. In
particular, it is important to note that the above analysis is based on historical 2006
numbers, and is not necessarily representative of future financial performance.

DBSH will take into account both financial and non-financial factors (for example, share

market conditions and the performance of the Ordinary Shares) in assessing the relative
impact of a share purchase before execution.

10
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2.8 Tax Implications

2.8.1

Repurchase using distributable profits

Under Section 10J of the Income Tax Act, a Singapore company which repurchases its
own ordinary shares using its distributable profits is deemed to have paid a dividend to its
shareholders from whom the shares are purchased. DBSH will, in repurchasing its own
Ordinary Shares out of profits, be deemed to have paid a dividend to its Shareholders
from whom the Ordinary Shares are purchased.

Accordingly, for so long as DBSH is on the imputation system of corporate taxation, DBSH
will have to provide for the franking of its share repurchases at the prevailing corporate tax
rate (18% for financial year 2007) in the same way as if paying a franked dividend, with
the cash amount paid by DBSH for such share repurchase being the net dividend.
However, it DBSH has paid the amount out of exempt income or concessionarily taxed
income so that the deemed dividend would be treated as an exempt dividend, franking of
such share repurchases is not required. Franking is also not required if DBSH has moved
to the one-tier corporate tax system,

The tax treatment of the receipt from a share repurchase in the hands of a selling
Shareholder would depend on whether the sale is by way of a Market Purchase or an
Off-Market Purchase. A sale by a Shareholder of his Ordinary Shares through a normal
ready market counter will be treated like any other sale made on the SGX-ST. Whether
the proceeds from such a sale are taxable in the hands of the selling Shareholder will
depend on whether such proceeds are receipts of an income or a capital nature.

Proceeds received in an Off-Market Purchase effected by way of an equal access scheme
will be treated as a receipt of a dividend {either franked or exempt) in the hands of the
selling Shareholder. Where the selling Shareholder is a trader in shares, no deduction of
the cost of the Ordinary Shares sold will be allowed, but the cost base will be apportioned
amongst the remaining Ordinary Shares.

DBSH is also able to repurchase its own Ordinary Shares through a special trading
counter set up on the SGX-ST Central Limit Order Book (CLOB) trading system, besides
the normal ready market counter. In the hands of a selling Shareholder, the amount
received from the sale of an Ordinary Share through the special trading counter will be
treated as a dividend, but only if certain conditions are satisfied, including the following:

(a) the Ordinary Shares sold through the special trading counter were not acquired by
the selling Shareholder through any securities lending or repurchase arrangement;

(b) the selling Shareholder has beneficially owned the Ordinary Shares sold for a
continuous period of 183 days ending immediately before the day of the sale
through the special trading counter; and

(¢} the selling Shareholder has furnished to DBSH a declaration relating to the
ownership and other particulars of the Ordinary Shares sold in such form and
manner as may be approved by the Comptroller of Income Tax.

In addition, where the proceeds derived from a sale of Ordinary Shares through a special
trading counter constitute a franked dividend, the tax credits thereby obtained are limited
in use in that they can neither be refundable nor carried forward to future years (that is,
any credit in excess of the tax payable by the Shareholder is disregarded). In addition,
where a selling Shareholder is a trader in shares, no deduction of the cost of the Ordinary

1
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2.9

Shares sold through the special trading counter will be allowed and where any provision
for diminution in value of such shares has been previously allowed as deduction, the total
amount of all such deductions not written back will be taxable.

Subject to Shareholders’ approval being obtained at the EGM for the renewal of the Share
Purchase Mandate, the Company wili consider whether to apply to the SGX-ST for a
special trading counter for the purposes of conducting “market purchases” of its Ordinary
Shares. The special trading counter would receive buy orders only from the Company and
not from any other buyers.

2.8.2 Repurchase using contributed capital

Under Section 10J of the Income Tax Act, a Singapore company which repurchases its
own ordinary shares using its contributed capital is not deemed to have paid a dividend
to its shareholders from whom the shares are purchased. Accordingly, DBSH will not be
required to frank such share repurchases.

The tax treatment of the receipt from a share repurchase made out of contributed capital
in the hands of a selling Shareholder will be treated like any other sale made on SGX-ST.
Whether the proceeds from such a sale are taxable will depend on whether such
proceeds are receipts of an income or a capital nature. Where the selling Shareholder is
an investor in shares (that is, proceeds are capital in nature}, the gains from such a sale
will not be taxable. Conversely, where the selling Shareholder is a trader in shares {that
is, proceeds are income in nature), the gains wili be taxable.

Shareholders should note that the foregoing is only a general overview of the Singapore
tax position and is not to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any Shareholder.

Shareholders who are in doubt as to their respective tax positions or the tax implications
of Ordinary Share purchases by DBSH, or who may be subject to tax whether in or outside
Singapore, should consult their own professional advisers.

Listing Rules. The Listing Manual specifies that a listed company shall report all purchases or
acquisitions of its shares to the SGX-ST not iater than 9.00 a.m. (a) in the case of a Market
Purchase, on the market day following the day of purchase or acquisition of any of its shares and
(b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the second market
day after the close of acceptances of the offer. Such announcement must include details of the
total number of shares purchased, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices
paid for such shares, as applicable.

While the Listing Manual does not expressly prohibit any purchase of shares by a listed company
during any particular time or times, because the listed company would be regarded as an “insider”
in relation to any proposed purchase or acquisition of its issued shares, the Company will not
undertake any purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares pursuant to the proposed Share
Purchase Mandate at any time after a price sensitive development has occurred or has been the
subject of a decision until the price sensitive information has been publicly announced.

In particular, in line with the best practices guide on securities dealings issued by the SGX-ST, the
Company would not purchase or acquire any Ordinary Shares through Market Purchases during
the period of one month immediately preceding the announcement of DBSH's full-year and
half-year results and the period of two weeks before the announcement of the first quarter and
third quarter resuits.
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The Listing Manual requires a listed company to ensure that at least 10% of any class of its listed
securities (excluding preference shares and convertible equity securities) must be held by public
shareholders. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Temasek, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, directly holds approximately 12.28% of the issued Ordinary Shares and Temasek’s
whaolly-owned subsidiary, Maju, directly holds approximately 15.51% of the issued Ordinary
Shares. Temasek is wholly-owned by Minister for Finance (Incorporated). Temasek and Maju
have a combined direct holding of approximately 27.79% of the issued Ordinary Shares. As at the
Latest Practicable Date, approximately 71.89% of the issued Ordinary Shares are held by public
shareholders. Accordingly, DBSH is of the view that there is a sufficient number of the Ordinary
Shares in issue held by public shareholders which would permit DBSH to undertake purchases or
acquisitions of its Ordinary Shares through Market Purchases up to the full 10% limit pursuant to
the proposed Share Purchase Mandate without affecting the listing status of the Ordinary Shares
on the SGX-8T, and that the number of Ordinary Shares remaining in the hands of the public will
not fall to such a level as to cause market illiquidity or to affect orderly trading.

2.10 Shareholding Limits. The Articles currently provides that no person may, without first obtaining
the approval of the MAS:

{a} hold a substantial shareholding in DBSH (as defined in Secticn 81(1} of the Companies Act),
or

(b} whether acting alone or together with his associates, hold a controlling interest in DBSH. A
person is regarded to hold a controlling interest in DBSH if that person singly or together with
his associates, holds, or is in a position to control, 20% or more of the voting shares of
DBSH; or

(c) whether acting alone or together with his associates, hold an interest in the voting shares of
DBSH in excess of such other shareholding limits as the MAS may from time to time
prescribe.

“Associate” is defined in Article 40C{A) to mean, in relation to a person:

(i) the person’s spouse or parent or remoter lineal ancestor, son, daughter or remoter issue,
brother or sister of the person;

(i) any partner of the person;

(i} any corporation of which the person is an officer;

(iv) (where the person is a corporation), any officer of the corporation;

(v} any employee or employer of the person;

(vi) any officer of any corporation of which the persan is an officer;

(vii) any employee of a natural person of whom the person is an employee;

(vii) any corporation whose directors are accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or
informal, to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the person or,
where the person is a corporation, of the directors of the person;

{(ix) any corporation in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of which, or of the
directors of which, the person is accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or
informal, to act;

(x} any corporation in which the person who is in a position to control not less than 20% of the
voting power in the corporation; and
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{xi) (where the person is a corporation) a person who is in a position to control not less than 20%
of the voting power in the corporation, and/or such other person as may be prescribed by the
MAS.

The limits described above are hereinafter referred to as the “Prescribed Limits”.

As the Company’s issued Ordinary Shares may be diminished by the number of Ordinary Shares
purchased or acquired by the Company, the shareholding percentage of a holder of Ordinary
Shares {whose Ordinary Shares were not the subject of a share purchase or acquisition by the
Company) in the issued Ordinary Shares immediately following any purchase or acquisition of
Ordinary Shares may increase correspondingly.

DBSH wishes to draw the attention of Shareholders to the following consequences of a purchase
or acquisition of Ordinary Shares by DBSH pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, if the
renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is approved by Shareholders:

A PURCHASE OR ACQUISITION OF ORDINARY SHARES BY THE COMPANY MAY
INADVERTENTLY CAUSE THE INTEREST IN THE ORDINARY SHARES OF ANY PERSON TO
REACH OR EXCEED THE PRESCRIBED LIMITS (IN PARTICULAR, A PERSON WHOSE
INTEREST IN ORDINARY SHARES IS CURRENTLY CLOSE TO ANY PRESCRIBED LIMIT).

Shareholders whose current shareholdings is close to a Prescribed Limit and whose percentage
shareholding may exceed a Prescribed Limit by reason of any purchase or acquisition of Ordinary
Shares by DBSH are advised to seek the prior approval of the MAS to continue to hold, on
such terms as may be imposed by the MAS, the Ordinary Shares representing the number of
Ordinary Shares which they may hold in excess of such limit, as a consequence of a share
purchase or acquisition by DBSH.

Take-over Implications. Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code contains the Share Buy-Back
Guidance Note. The take-over implications arising from any purchase or acquisition by DBSH of
its Ordinary Shares are set out below:

2.11.1 Obligation to make a Take-over Offer

If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition by DBSH of its Ordinary Shares, a
Shareholder's proportionate interest in the voting capital of DBSH increases, such
increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of the Take-over Code. If such
increase results in the change of effective control, or, as a result of such increase, a
Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting in concert obtains or consolidates effective
control of DBSH, such Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting in concert couid
become obliged to make a take-over offer for DBSH under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code.

2.11.2 Persons Acting in Concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies
who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), cooperate,
through the acquisition by any of them of shares in a company, to obtain or consolidate
effective control of that company.
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Unless the contrary is established, the following persons will be presumed to be acting in
concert:

(a) acompany with any of its directors (together with their close relatives, related trusts
as well as companies controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and
related trusts); and

(b} a company, its parent, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, and their associated
companies and companies of which such companies are associated companies, all
with each other. For this purpose, a company is an associated company of another
company if the second company owns or controls at least 20% but not more than
50% of the voting rights of the first-mentioned company.

The circumstances under which Shareholders of DBSH (including Directors of DBSH)
and persons acting in concert with them respectively will incur an obligation to make a
takeover offer under Rule 14 after a purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares by DBSH
are set out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code.

Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2

In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 is that, unless exempted, Directors
of DBSH and persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to make a
takeover offer for DBSH under Rule 14 if, as a result of DBSH purchasing or acquiring its
Ordinary Shares, the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would
increase to 30% or more, or if the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties
fall between 30% and 50% of DBSH's voting rights, the voting rights of such Directers and
their concert parties would increase by more than 1% in any period of six months.

Under Appendix 2, a Shareholder not acting in concert with the Directors of the Company
will not be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company
purchasing or acquiring its Ordinary Shares, the voting rights of such Shareholder in the
Company would increase to 30% or mare, or, if such Shareholder holds between 30% and
50% of the Company’s voting rights, the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase
by more than 1% in any period of six months. Such Shareholder need not abstain from
voting in respect of the Ordinary Resolution authorising the Share Purchase Mandate.

SIC Rulings applicable to DBSH

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Temasek directly holds approximately 12.28% of the
issued Ordinary Shares and Maju directly holds approximately 15.51% of the issued
Ordinary Shares. Temasek and Maju (being Temasek’s wholly-owned subsidiary) would
be considered as parties acting in concert with each other in respect of their combined
direct holdings of approximately 27.79% of the issued Ordinary Shares. In the event that
DBSH should, pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, purchase or acquire up to 10%
of its issued Ordinary Shares, the combined holding of Temasek and Maju in the issued
Ordinary Shares could increase from approximately 27.79% to more than 30%. Under the
Take-over Code, Temasek would incur a mandatory take-over obligation for the issued
Ordinary Shares.

Mr Koh Boon Hwee and Mr Kwa Chong Seng (together, the “Common Directors™) are
also directors of Temasek. Under the Banking (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2005,
neither Mr Koh Boon Hwee nor Mr Kwa Chong Seng is considered an independent
Director of DBSH as each of them is a non-executive director of Temasek, a substantial
Shareholder of DBSH.
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None of the other Directors of DBSH are Directors of Temasek or any parties acting in
concert with it.

Temasek has obtained the following rulings from the SIC:

(a) Common Directors

Under the Take-over Code, the Common Directors would be deemed to be acting in
concert with Temasek.

The SIC has ruled that the Common Directors are not concert parties of Temasek
and that the present and future holdings of Ordinary Shares of the Common
Directors and their respective associates will not be aggregated or consolidated with
the present and future holdings of Ordinary Shares of Temasek and its concert
parties for the purpose of determining whether a takeover obligation would arise
under the Take-over Code, including Appendix 2.

The SIC has also ruled that none of the other Directors who are not nominees or
directors of Temasek are presumed to be acting in concert with Temasek in relation
to their holdings of Ordinary Shares.

(b) Head Company Groups, Foreign Affiliates and Funds of Hedge Funds

The SIC has ruled that the Temasek Companies' are not acting in concert with the
Head Company Groups?, the Foreign Affiliate Groups® and/or the Hedge Funds* (in
which the Funds of Hedge Funds invest) {the “Relevant Hedge Funds™) to obtain
control of DBSH, and that the shareholdings in DBSH of Temasek Companies
should not be aggregated with the present and future holdings of Ordinary Shares
of any or all of the Head Company Groups, the Foreign Affiliate Groups and/or the
Relevant Hedge Funds.

I and notwithstanding that they are aware that the announcement of the proposed
share purchase by DBSH is imminent and that the Share Purchase Mandate is still
in force:

{a) the Head Company Groups and/or the Foreign Affiliate Groups may acquire
Ordinary Shares; and

(b) the Funds of Hedge Funds may acquire interests in the Relevant Hedge Funds
which hold Ordinary Shares,

without causing Temasek and its concert parties, the Head Company Groups, the
Foreign Affiliate Groups and/or the Funds of Hedge Funds to be required to make a
general offer for DBSH.

' “Temasek Companies” means Temasek and its subsidiaries and associated companies {other than the Head Company
Groups, the Foreign Affiliate Groups and the Funds of Hedge Funds).

2 "Head Company Group" means each Head Company as set out in Part 1 of the Appendix to this Circular and its subsidiaries
and associated companies. Head Companies are logether called the “Head Companies” and individually, a “Head
Company”.

3 “Foreign Affiliate Group” means each Foreign Affiliate as set out in Part 2 of the Appendix to this Circular and its subsidiaries
and associated companies. Foreign Affiliates are together called the “Foreign Affiliates™ and individually, a “Foreign Affiliate”.

4 “Funds of Hedge Funds” means the entities set out in Part 3 of the Appendix to this Circular.
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Temasek and its Concert Parties

Temasek and its concert parties (including Maju and the Temasek Companies) are
exempted from the requirement to make a general offer for DBSH following an
increase in the combined shareholding of Temasek and Maju in DBSH to 30% or
more as a result of DBSH buying back its Ordinary Shares under the Share
Purchase Mandate, subject to the following conditions:

(i) the circular on the resolution to authorise the Share Purchase Mandate
contains advice to the effect that by voting for the renewal of the Share
Purchase Mandate, Shareholders are waiving their rights to a general offer at
the required price from Temasek and its concert parties (including Maju and
the Temasek Companies); and the names and voting rights of Temasek and its
concert parties (including Maju and the Temasek Companies) at the time of the
shareholders’ meeting and after the buy-back are disclosed in the same
circular;

(i) the resolution to authorise the Share Purchase Mandate is approved by a
majority of those Shareholders present and voting at the meeting on a poll who
could not become obliged to make an offer as a result of the buy-back;

(i) Temasek and its concert parties (including Maju and the Temasek Companies)
shall abstain from voting for the resolution 1o authorise the renewal of the
Share Purchase Mandate, and the Common Directors do not recommend
Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolution to authorise the renewal of the
Share Purchase Mandate; and

(iv) Temasek and its concert parties (including Maju and the Temasek Companies)
have not acquired and will not acquire any Ordinary Shares between the date
on which they know that the announcement of the buy-back is imminent and
the earlier of:

(1) the date the authority of the Share Purchase Mandate expires; and

(2) the date DBSH announces it has bought back such number of Ordinary
Shares as authorised by the Share Purchase Mandate or it has decided
to cease buying back its Ordinary Shares, as the case may be,

if such acquisitions, taken together with the buy-back, would cause their
aggregate voting rights in DBSH to increase to 30% or more.

Invalidation of SIC Rulings

The SIC's rulings in respect of the Common Directors, the Head Company Groups
and/or the Foreign Affiliate Groups will be invalidated should subsequent evidence
indicate that any of the Common Directors, the Head Company Groups and/or the
Foreign Affiliate Groups are or have been acting in concert with Temasek and/or its
concert parties (including Maju and the Temasek Companies) with respect to DBSH.
In reviewing such evidence, the SIC will consider, amongst others, the pattern,
volume, timing and price of purchase of the Ordinary Shares, and, in the case of the
Foreign Affiliates which are funds, the investment mandate and focus of such funds.
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2.11.5

2.11.6

Advice to Shareholders

Shareholders are advised that by voting in tavour of the Ordinary Resolution
relating to the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, they will be waiving their
rights to a take-over offer at the required price from Temasek and its concert
parties (including Maju and the Temasek Companies) who, as a result of the
purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares by DBSH pursuant to the Share
Purchase Mandate, would increase their collective interest in the Ordinary Shares
to 30% or more.

Voting rights of Temasek and its concert parties (including Maju and the Temasek
Companies)} before and after share purchase

Based on the direct holdings of Ordinary Shares of Temasek and Maju as at the Latest
Practicable Date, and assuming that:

(a) there is no change in their direct holdings of Ordinary Shares between the Latest
Practicable Date and the date of the EGM;

(b) no new Ordinary Shares are issued to Temasek or Maju by DBSH following approval
being received from Shareholders at the EGM for the renewal of the Share
Purchase Mandate; and

{c} Temasek and Maju do not sell or otherwise dispose of their holdings of Ordinary
Shares,

the respective direct holdings of Ordinary Shares of Temasek and Maju as at the date of
the EGM and after the purchase by DBSH of 10% of the issued Ordinary Shares pursuant
to the Share Purchase Mandate are as follows:

Before Share Purchase

{as at date of EGM). After Share Purchase
% of total % of total
No. of Ordinary  issued Ordinary  No. of Ordinary  issued Ordinary
Shares Shares Shares Shares
Temasek 185,673,795 12.28 185,673,795 13.64
Maju 234,497,040 15.51 234,497,040 17.23

Shareholders are advised to consult their professional advisers and/or the Council
at the earliest opportunity as to whether an obligation to make a take-over offer
would arise by reason of any share purchases by the Company.
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3.1

3.2

DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

Directors’ Interests. The interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Shares, as extracted from the
Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out below:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total Interest
No. of No. of No. of
Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary

Directors Shares % Shares % Shares %
Koh Boon Hwee —_ — — — —_ —
Jackson Tai 157,307 0.0104 — — 157,307 0.0104
Frank Wong Kwong Shing 213,357 0.0141 —_ — 213,357 0.0141
Ang Kong Hua — —_— — — —_ —
Andrew Buxtcn 4,000 0.0003 — — 4,000 0.0003
Goh Geok Ling 2,100 0.0001 — — 2,100 0.0001
Kwa Chong Seng 42,129 0.0028 50,000 0.0033 92,129 0.0061
Narayana Murthy 2,000 0.0001 — — 2,000 0.0001
Leung Chun Ying — - — —_ — —
Peter Ong Boon Kwee — - -_ — — —
John Alan Ross 10,000 0.0007 — — 10.000 0.0007

Wong Ngit Liong — —_ —_ — — —

The interests of the Directors in Ordinary Shares comprised in outstanding Share Options and
Awards as at the Latest Practicable Date are as follows:

No. of Ordinary Shares No. of Ordinary Shares
comprised in outstanding Share comprised in outstanding
Directors Options Awards
Jackson Tai 440,175 247,160
Frank Wong Kwong Shing 448,050 197,660

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests. The interests of the substantial Shareholders in the
Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date, are set out below:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total Interest
No. of No. of No. of
Ordinary Ordinary Crdinary
Substantial Shareholders Shares % Shares % Shares %
Temasek 185,673,795 12.28 238,982,790V 15.80 424,656,585 28.08
Maju 234,497,040 15.51 — — 234,497,040 15.51

Note:

M) This includes the 234,497,040 Ordinary Shares held by Maju. Temasek is deemed to have an interest in these
Ordinary Shares as Maju is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Temasek.
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6.1

6.2

DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION

The Directors (other than the Common Directors) are of the opinion that the proposed renewal of
the Share Purchase Mandate is in the best interests of the Company. Accordingly, they
recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of the Qrdinary Resolution relating to the proposed
renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate 1o be proposed at the EGM.

The Common Directors, being Mr Koh Boon Hwee and Mr Kwa Chong Seng, have abstained from
making any recommendation for Shareholders to vote in favour of the Ordinary Resalution and will
abstain from voting in respect of their holdings of Ordinary Shares (if any) on the Ordinary
Resolution. The Common Directors will also not accept any appointment as proxies or otherwise
for voting on the Ordinary Resolution unless specific instructions have been given in the proxy
form(s) on how the votes are to be cast.

Temasek and its concert parties (including Maju and the Temasek Companies) will abstain from
voting in respect of their holdings of Ordinary Shares (if any} on the Ordinary Resolution.

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

The EGM, notice of which is set out on pages 24 to 25 of this Circular, will be held at the
Auditorium, 3rd Storey, DBS Building Tower One, 6 Shenton Way, Singapore 068809 on 4 April
2007 at 2.30 p.m. (or as soon thereafter following the conclusion or adjournment of the Eighth
Annual Generat Meeting of the Company to be held at 2.00 p.m. on the same day and at the same
place} for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing with or without modifications the
Ordinary Resolution set out in the Notice of EGM.

ACTION TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS

Appointment of Proxies. Shareholders who are unable to attend the EGM and wish to appoint
a proxy to attend and vote at the EGM on their behalf will find attached to this Circular a Proxy
Form which they are requested to complete, sign and return in accordance with the instructions
printed thereon as soon as possible and in any event so as to arrive at the registered office of the
Company not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the EGM. The sending of a Proxy Form
by a Shareholder does not preclude him from attending and voting in person at the EGM if he finds
that he is able to do so. In such event, the relevant Proxy Forms will be deemed to be revoked.

When Depositor regarded as Shareholder. A Depositor shall not be regarded as a Shareholder
of the Company entitled to attend the EGM and to speak and vote thereat unless his name
appears on the Depository Register at least 48 hours befare the EGM.

INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS

The following documents are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company at
6 Shenton Way, DBS Building Tower One, #39-02, Singapore 068809 during normal business
hours from the date of this Circular up to the date of the EGM:

(a) the consolidated accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended
31 December 2006;

{b) the 2006 Circular; and

(c) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.
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8. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors collectively and individually accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information
given in this Circular and confirm, having made ail reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, the facts stated and the opinions expressed in this Circutar are fair and
accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which would make any statement in
this Circular misleading.

Yours faithfully
- for and on behalf of
the Board of Directors of
DBS GROUP HOLDINGS LTD

KOH BOON HWEE
CHAIRMAN
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HEAD COMPANIES, FOREIGN AFFILIATES AND FUNDS OF HEDGE FUNDS

Part 1 — The Head Companies

1. Singapore Telecommunications Ltd
MediaCorp Pte Ltd

SembCorp Industries Ltd

Keppel Corporation Limited
Singapore Airlines Limited

PSA International Pte Lid

SMRT Corporation Ltd

Singapore Power Limited

© @ N oo R0

Wildlife Reserves Singapore Pte Ltd

—
©

Temasek Management Services Pte Ltd

—h
—

Urban Management Company (1987) Pte Ltd

—
m

Neptune Orient Lines Limited

—
w

Singapore Technologies Engineering Limited

—
-

Chartered Semiconductor Manufacturing Ltd
CapitaLand Limited

STATS ChipPac Ltd

Singapore Food Industries Limited

Green Dot Capital Pte Ltd

Vertex Venture Holdings Pte Ltd
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©C © ® N o o

Singapore Technologies Telemedia Pte Ltd

3+
-y

Accuron Technologies Limitad

Tuas Pf)wer Limited

n N
w N

Senoko Power Limited

o
-

Power Seraya Limited

Gas Supply Pte Ltd

N N
S o

Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd

n
~

Mount Faber Leisure Group Pte Ltd
EH Group Ltd (in liquidation)

N
© ®

Aetos Security Management Pte Ltd
CISCO Security Pte Ltd
CitySpring Infrastructure Management Pte Ltd

W W W
e

National University Hospital (Singapore) Pte Ltd

)
W

ST Asset Management Ltd

w
b

Surbana Corporation Pte Ltd
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Part 2 — The Foreign Affiliates

1. PT Bank Danamon Indonesia Tbk
PT Bank Internasional Indonesia Tbk

The Rohatyn Group Asia Opportunity Fund, Ltd

2

3

4. Malaysian Plantations Berhad

5.  Shin Corporation Public Company Limited
6

NIB Bank Limited (formerly NDLC-IFIC Bank Limited)

Part 3 — The Funds of Hedge Funds

1. Fullerton Absolute Returns Investment Strategies Fund
2 Fullerton Monex Asia Feeder

3.  Fullerton Capital Pte Ltd

4.  Fullerton Orchard Unit Trust
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NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

DBS GROUP HOLDINGS LTD

{incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration Number: 199901152M

NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE S HEREBY GIVEN that an Extraordinary General Meeting of DBS Group Holdings Ltd
("DBSH” or the “Company”) will be held at the Auditorium, 3rd Storey, DBS Building Tower One, 6
Shenton Way, Singapore 068809 on Wednesday, 4 April 2007 at 2.30 p.m. (or as soon thereafter
following the conclusion or adjournment of the Eighth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be
held at 2.00 p.m. on the same day and at the same place) for the purpose of considering and, if thought
fit, passing with or without modifications, the following Resolution which will be proposed as an
Ordinary Resolution:

Ordinary Resolution
The Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate

THAT:

(a)

(b)

{c)

for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Companies
Act’), the exercise by the Directors of DBSH of all the powers of DBSH to purchase or otherwise
acquire issued ordinary shares in the capital of DBSH (“Ordinary Shares”) not exceeding in
aggregate the Maximum Percentage (as hereafter defined), at such price or prices as may be
determined by the Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined),
whether by way of;

(i)  market purchase(s) on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST")
transacted through the Central Limit Order Book trading system and/or any other securities
exchange on which the Ordinary Shares may for the time being be listed and quoted (“Other
Exchange™); and/or

() off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be,
Other Exchange) in accordance with any equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or
formulated by the Directors as they consider fit, which scheme({s) shall satisfy all the
conditions prescribed by the Companies Act,

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST or, as
the case may be, Other Exchange as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby
authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share Purchase Mandate");

unless varied or revoked by DBSH in general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors of
DBSH pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any time
and from time to time during the period commencing from the date of the passing of this
Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of DBSH is held; and
(iiy  the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of DBSH is required by law to be held;
in this Resotution:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of an Ordinary Share
over the last five market days on which transactions in the Ordinary Shares on the SGX-ST or, as
the case may be, Other Exchange were recorded, preceding the date of the market purchase by
DBSH or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the off-market
purchase, and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the listing rules of the SGX-ST, for any
corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period;

24




NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

“date of the making of the otfer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention
to make an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Ordinary Shares from Shareholders, stating
therein the purchase price (which shall not be more than the Maximum Price calculated on the
basis set out below) for each Ordinary Share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme
for effecting the off-market purchase;

“Maximum Percentage” means that number of issued Ordinary Shares representing 10% of the
issued Ordinary Shares of DBSH as at the date of the passing of this Resolution {excluding any
Ordinary Shares which are held as treasury shares as at that date); and

“‘Maximum Price” in relation to an Ordinary Share to be purchased or acquired, means the
purchase price (excluding related brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax,
stamp duties, clearance fees and other related expenses) which shall not exceed:

(i} inthe case of a market purchase of an Ordinary Share, 105% of the Average Closing Price
ot the Ordinary Shares; and

(iiy in the case of an off-market purchase of an Ordinary Share, 105% of the Average Closing
Price of the Ordinary Shares; and

the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and
do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they
and/or he may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated
and/or authorised by this Resolution.

By Order of the Board

Heng Lee Cheng (Ms)
Group Secretary

Singapore
19 March 2007

Notes:

1.

A member of DBSH entitled to attend and vole at the above Meeting may appaint a proxy to attend and vote on his behalf.
Such proxy need not be a member of DBSH.

The instrument appointing the proxy must be deposited at the Company's registered office not fess than 48 hours before
the time set for holding the Meeting.

DBSH intends to use its internal sources of funds to finance its purchase or acquisition of the Ordinary Shares. The amount
of financing required for DBSH to purchase or acquire its Ordinary Shares, and the impact on DBSH's financial position,
cannot be ascertained as at the date of this Notice as these will depend on whether the Ordinary Shares are purchased or
acquired out of capital or profits, the number of Ordinary Shares purchased or acquired, the price at which such Ordinary
Shares were purchased or acquired and whether the Ordinary Shares purchased or acquired are held in treasury or
cancelled.

Based on the existing issued and paid-up Ordinary Shares of DBSH as at 21 February 2007 (the “Latest Practicable
Date"), the purchase by DBSH of 10% of its issued Ordinary Shares will result in the purchase or acquisition of 151,238,474
Ordinary Shares.

Assuming that DBSH purchases or acquires 151,238,474 Ordinary Shares at the Maximum Price, in the case of both market
and off-market purchases, of $$23.84 for one Ordinary Share (being the price equivalent to 5% above the average closing
price of the Ordinary Shares traded on the SGX-ST over the last five market days on which transactions were recorded
preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount of funds required is approximately 5$3.61 billion.

The financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of such Ordinary Shares by DBSH pursuant to the proposed Share
Purchase Mandate on the financial statements of DBSH and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2006
based on these and other assumptions are set out in paragraph 2.7 of the Company's Circular to Shareholders dated 19
March 2007.
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DBS IMPORTANT
If you have purchased Ordinary Shares using your

CPF funds, or hold non-veting convertible preference
DBS GROUP HOLDINGS LTD shares or hold non-voting redeemable convertible
{Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) pfeieren\::e shares in the capital of thfe COmpe?ny, this
Company Registration No. 199901152M Circular is forwarded _10 you io_r your information only
and this Proxy Form is not valid for use by you.

PROXY FORM

I'We NRIC No.

of

being a member/members of the abovenamed Company, hereby appoint

Proportion of
NRIC/Passport Shareholdings
Name Address Number (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand
a poll, at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company to be held at the Auditorium, 3rd Storey,
DBS Building Tower One, 6 Shenton Way, Singapore 068809 on Wednesday, 4 April 2007 at 2.30 p.m.
(or so soon thereafter following the conclusion or adjournment of the Eighth Annual General Meeting
of the Company to be held at 2.00 p.m. on the same day and at the same place) and at any adjournment
thereot.

(Please indicate with an “X" in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or
against the Ordinary Resolution as set out in the Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting. In the
absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as he/they
will on any other matter arising at the Extraordinary General Meeting.)

For Against

Ordinary Resolution
To approve the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate.

Dated this day of 2007

Total Number of
Ordinary Shares held

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: Please read Notes.
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It you have Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the
Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Ordinary Shares. If you have Ordinary Shares
registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insent that number of Ordinary Shares. If you have Ordinary
Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Ordinary Shares registered in your name in the Register
of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy
or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company held by vou.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two
proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his
shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be lodged at the registered office of the Company at 6 Shenton Way, DBS
Building Tower One, #39-02, Singapore 068809 not less than 48 hours before the time appeinted for the Extraordinary
General Meeting. The sending of a Proxy Form by a member does not preclude him from attending and voting in person
at the Extraordinary General Meeting if he finds that he is able to do so. In such event, the relevant Proxy Forms will be
deerned to be revoked.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under
its seal or under the hand of an ofiicer or attorney duly authorised.

A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks
fit to act as its representative at the Extraordinary General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 of Singapore.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed
or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified
in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Ordinary Shares entered in the Depository
Register. the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor,
is not shown to have Ordinary Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Extraordinary General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the
Company.
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Living, Breathing Asia

This is Asias century, As @ development banlk in the region
nearly four ago, DBS embodlies the spirit of New and
is well-positioned to its growth. We will build on our
as we wealith of opportunities in a rapidly prospening
Asia. All of us at DBS are proud o be part of Asia’ future. ..

as we re-affirm our commitment to our customers, shareholders
and the many communities we operate in.
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Sustainable Growth as an
Asia Banking Specialist

FINANCIAL SUMMARY - DBS GROUP HOLDINGS LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (“DBSH GROUP™)

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Selected Income Items ($ millions)
Income 5,438 4,641 4,976 4,265 4,239
Profit befare allowances and goodwill charges 3,069 2,615 3,020 2473 2,429
Net profit attributable to shareholders

{excluding goodwill charges) 2,269 1,952 2,435 1,457 1,381
Net profit attributable to shareholders 2,269 824 1,995 1,061 1,103
Selected Balance Sheet Items ($ millions)
Total assets 197,372 180,204 175,671 159,479 149,425
Customer loanst? 86,630 79,462 69,659 64,330 60,704
Customer deposits™ 131,373 116,884 113,206 108,041 101,315
Shareholders’ funds 18,675 16,724 16,444 14,818 14,241
Per Ordinary Share (3)
Basic earnings (excluding goodwill charges) 1.50 1.30 1.63 1.00 0.94
Basic earnings 1.50 0.54 1.33 0.7 0.75
Gross dividend 0.76 (.58 0.40 0.30 0.30
Net book value 12.08 10.87 10.72 9.69 9.30
Selected Ratios (%)
Return on shareholders’ funds (excluding goodwill charges) 12.8 11.8 15.6 10.3 9.9
Return on shareholders' funds 12.8 5.0 12.8 7.3 79
Return on assets (excluding goodwill charges) 1.20 1.10 1.45 0.97 0.92
Return on assets 1.20 0.46 1.19 0.69 0.73
Cost-to-income 43.6 437 393 42.0 427
Non-performing loans rate 1.7 2.1 2.5 5.2 6.1
Loss allowance coverage 115 97 89 63 59
Capital adequacy

Tier | 10.2 10.6 11.3 10.5 10.3

Total 14.5 14.8 15.8 15.1 155

(1) includes financial assetsfliabilities at fair value through profit or loss

4 Performance At A Glance
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Scaling New Heights

2006 was a good year for DBS. Efforts to transform ourselves into a competitive Asia
banking specialist are gaining traction, resulting in record Group net profit of $2.18 billion.
Net interest and fee income were also at record highs of $3.59 billion and $1.16 billion
respectively. An economically vibrant Asia gave our business an added lift last year.

sia's resurgence is

real. The region’s

burgeoning middle

class is fuelling huge

growth in domaestic

demand for goods,
services and infrastructure. This group is
the fastest-growing middle class in the
world and this bodes well for continued
economic prosperity.

Against this backdrop, DBS is
uniguely positioned to capture the
regional opportunities that abound.

As a bank that lives and breathes Asia,
we have a rich heritage ideally suited to
serving our largely Asian clientele. But
our competitors are not standing still.
To become a stronger organisation,

we need to embrace change, possess
discipline and focus, and build
sustainable competitive advantage.

In view of this, our three priorities last
year were to build a strong DBS culture,
manage our business in totality and
become truly customer-centric.

Building a strong DBS culture

As we grow across the region,
we need even better access to
financial and intellectual capital.
This is true of all industries but none
more so than banking, where people
are our biggest asset. While modern
technology has helped to transform
the banking sector, we are ultimately
still a people-driven business. As we

8 Chairman’s Message

“As a bank that lives and breathes
Asia, we have a rich heritage ideally
suited to serving our largely Asian
clientele. But our competitors are

not standing still.

To become a stronger organisation,
we need to embrace change, possess
discipline and focus, and build
sustainable competitive advantage.”

expand, our goal is to embed a set
of firm values into the organisation
so that we will, in time, develop a
distinctive DBS performance culture.
We want DBS staff to be known for
their positive ‘can-do’ attitude,
strong sense of empowerment and
custormer mindset.

This would not be possible
without imbuing a stronger sense of
organisational pride and ownership
among our staff. To this end, in 2006,
we placed greater emphasis on internal
communications and engaging our
nearly 13,000 employees group-wide.
Staff were proudly featured as the face
of our inaugural regional brand
campaign. We rallied them together in

staff townhalls held in our key markets
of Singapere, Hong Kong, China, india
and Indonesia. Considerable effort was
also made to revitalise the DBS brand
and foster better teamwaork across
businesses and geographies.

There is still room for
improvement but we are taking
steps in the right direction. We
will significantly increase our
investment in talent management,
training and people development.
To foster a strong performance-
oriented culture, we have also
revamped DBS” appraisal and
compensation systems so that we
can better differentiate and reward
those who perform well.

DBS Group Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2006
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Managing our business in totality
As banking grows in scale and
scope, another priority is to hardwire
DBS to become more process-oriented
and rigorous in the way we manage

our business. 1"

In the last year, we put in place
key performance indicators (KPIs)
across the entire DBS Group and are
now managing the bank to these KPIs.

We are also tracking external and
internal perceptions comprehensively.
Externally, we have implemented a
system to closely manitor our customer
service metrics regionally. In addition,
we now measure the effectiveness
of our key marketing initiatives.
Within the bank, staff feedback is
sought on a quarterly basis to gauge
how we have fared in delivering on
our areas of priority.

These initiatives will instill greater
discipline and focus in managing our
business in totality, and are driven by
our belief that what gets measured,
gets done.

Becoming truly
customer-centric

With products
and services in the
banking industry
becoming increasingly
commoditised, the ability
to delight customers is
a key determinant of
success. Moreover,
providing genuinely good
customer service on a
consistent basis is hard to
achieve and maintain, and
thus the most difficult
factor for competitors to
replicate. Our goal is to
foster a DBS culture
whereby every issue is
looked at from the
customer’s point of view and acted
upon swiftly. While we have made some
progress here, we are aware that there
is much more work to be done.

Our goal is to
foster a DBS
culture whereby
every issue is
looked at from
the customer’s
point of view
and acted upon
swiftly.”

In 2007, we will be investing more
in our people and stepping up efforts to
understand how to improve employee
engagement. We believe that staff who
are given opportunities to learn and

grow at work will be more fulfilled and
also more motivated and committed to
excellence. Underlining the importance
of this, we launched our first bank-wide
employee engagement survey last year,
and will continue to actively keep our
finger on the pulse of the organisation.

The Board is recommending a
final dividend of 20 cents per share,
resulting in a full-year dividend of 71
cents a share. This is a 22% increase
over 2005, In addition, the Board is also
recommending a special dividend of five
cents a share to be paid together with
the fourth-quarter dividend.

The last 12 months as chairman
of DBS have veen challenging and
rewarding. Over this period, | have
benefitted from the unstinting support,
steady guidance and wise counsel of my
fellow board members. | would like to
express my gratitude to them for their
contributions and to thank my
colleagues in the bank, our customers,
partners and shareholders for
supporting us as we centinue on our
journey to transform DBS into one of
the most respected and admired
financial institutions anchored in Asia.

Going forward, we are
determined to harness the collective
strength within the organisation as we
face the ever-changing landscape and
increasingly frenetic competition.
While 2006 was a good year for DBS,
there will certainly be new challenges
ahead. Nevertheless, | believe DBS has
what it takes to scale new heights; our
pecple are talented and | am confident
that we will be able to seize the
opportunities offered by a vibrant,
dynamic and rapidly prospering Asia.

Uibbocuthoen

KOH BOON HWEE
Chairman, DBS Group Holdings

Chairman’s Message 9
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At The Helm

1. KOH BOON HWEE

Chairman

Appointed 15 June 2005, he is Executive
Director of MediaRing Ltd and Chairman
and CEQ of Sunningdale Tech Ltd
(formerly known as Tech Group Asia Ltd).
Mr Koh was fermerly Managing Director
of Hewlett-Packard in Singapore from
1985-1990 and Executive Chairman of
the Wuthelam Group from 1991-2000.
He is also a director of Temasek Holdings
(Pte) Lid and Director of the Harvard
Singapore Foundation. Age 57.

2. JACKSON TAl

Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
Appointed 13 May 2001, he has been
Chief Executive Officer since June 2002.
A United States citizen, he joined DBS in
1999 as Chief Financial Officer and was
made President and Chief Operating
Officer in January 2001. Prior to joining
DBS, Mr Tai served 25 years at J.P. Morgan
& Co as an investment banker. He is also a
director of Capitaland Ltd, and a Council
Member of the Institute of Banking &
Finance. Age 56.

3. FRANK WONG KWONG SHING
Chief Operating Officer

Appointed 16 September 2003, he is Chief
Operating Officer of DBS Group Holdings
and DBS Bank, Vice Chairman of DBS Bank
and Chairman of DBS Bank (Hong Kong).
A British citizen, he brings over 30 years of
experience in financial markets, having
waorked for Citibank, J.P. Morgan and
NatWest Markets, and in Hong Kong,
Frankfurt, London and Singapore.

Mr Wong is also Director of China

Mobile Limited, and a board member of
the Singapore Tourism Board. Age 59.

4. ANG KONG HUA

Director

Appointed 21 March 2005, he is Executive
Director of NatSteel Ltd in charge of
strategic matters. Prior to this, he was
Chief Executive Officer of NatSteel for 28
years. Mr Ang also serves on the boards of
Neptune Orient Lines Ltd, K1 Ventures
Limited and the Government of Singapore
Investment Corporation. Age 63.

5. ANDREW ROBERT FOWELL
BUXTON

Director

Appointed on 17 February 2006, he is a
Non-Executive Director of Capitaland
Limited and its subsidiary, Capitaland
Financial Limited. Mr Buxton retired as
Chairman of Barclays Bark plc in 1999,
He was President of the British Bankers
Association from 1998 to 2002 and a
Member of the Court of the Bank of
England from 1997 to 2001. He is now
Deputy Chairman of Xansa plc, and a
financial consultant. Age 67.

6. GOH GEOK LING

Director

Appointed 3 May 2004. Prior to his
retirement in October 1999, he was in the
electronics industry for 29 years. He spent
28 years with Texas Instruments Singapore
Pte Ltd where he last held the post of
Managing Director. Following the
acquisition of Texas Instruments
Singapore’s assets by Micron Technology
In¢ in 1998, he became the Managing
Director of Micron Semiconductor Asia Pte
Ltd. Mr Goh is also a Council Member of
Nanyang Technalogical University. Age 66.




7. KWA CHONG SENG

Director

Appointed 29 July 2003, he is Chairman
and Managing Director of ExxonMobil Asia
Pacific Pte Ltd and the Lead Country
Manager for the ExxonMobil Companies in
Singapore. He is also Deputy Chairman of
Temasek Haldings (Pte) Ltd. Mr Kwa alsc
serves on the Public Service Commission
and the Legal Service Commission in
Singapore, Age 60.

8. LEUNG CHUN YING

Director

Appointed 22 July 2002, he is Chairman
of DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Asia Pacific,
a property services company. He was
extensively involved in the establishment
of Hong Kong as a Special Administrative
Region, having served as a Vice Chairman
of the Preparatory Committee and the
Provisional Legislative Council. He
continues to be actively involved in public
service in Hong Kong, having been a
member of the Hong Kong Executive
Council since 1997. Age 52.

9. NARAYANA MURTHY

Director

Appoinied 19 August 2003, he is
Chairman of Infosys Technologies Lid.,
a company he founded and in which

he had served as Chief Executive Officer
for 20 years. An Indian citizen, he is also
Chairman of the Indian Institute of
Management, Ahmedabad and sits on
the Board of Trustees of Singapore
Management University. Age 60.

10. PETER ONG BOON KWEE
Director

Appointed 26 March 2003, he is Permanent
Secretary at the Ministry of Trade and
Industry. Prior to that, he was Permanent
Secretary at the Ministry of Transport and
Second Permanent Secretary (Defence) at
the Ministry of Defence. From 1998 to
2000, he was seconded to Temasek
Holdings {Pte) Ltd as an Executive Vice
President. He is the current Chairman of
the Maritime and Port Authority. Age 45.
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11. JOHN ALAN ROSS

Director

Appointed 6 February 2003, he is a retired
banker. Prior to his retirement in February
2002, he was Corporate Chief Operating
Officer for the Deutsche Bank Group.
Before joining Deutsche Bank in 1992,

he spent 21 years at the Bank of New
York, where he was its last Executive Vice
President, Head of Global Asset and
Liability Management. A United States
citizen, Mr Ross is a Trustee of the German
Marshall Fund, the Jewish Museum,

the Metropolitan Opera Guild and Hobart
& William Smith Colleges. Age 62.

12. WONG NGIT LIONG

Director

Appointed 3 May 2004, he has been the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Venture Group since 1986. Prior to that,
he spent more than 12 years with the
Hewlett-Packard Company. Mr Wong also
serves on the board of Royal Philips
Electronics. He is also Chairman of the
NUS board of Trustees, and sits on the
Research Innovation and Enterprise
Council. Age 66.




Highlights of 2006

JA

FE

*

NUARY

Cholamandalam DBS Finance, DBS’
consumer finance joint venture with the
well-regarded Murugappa Group of
Chennai, launched first personal loan
product.

BRUARY

Former chairman of Barclays Bank
Andrew Buxton appointed to the
Boards of DBS Group and DBS Bank.
DBS mandated sole lead arranger for
US5222 million syndicated loan for
Pamapersada, Indonesia’s largest
contract mining company. The upsized
facility was its maiden offshore syndicated
loan since the Asian financial crisis.

MARCH

*

DBS mandated sole lead arranger and
bookrunner for US$265 million equivalent
facility for Spice Communications of
India. The transaction, put in place for
Telekom Malaysia to complete its
acquisition of a 49% stake in Spice,
was DBS India’s first domestic loan
syndication deal and first loan/security
agency mandate,

POSB Everyday Card, a card designed to
meet the everyday spending needs of
Singaporeans, acquired its 100,000th
carcholder within six months of launch.

APRIL

*

1

DBS received approval to open its first
branch in the Middte East, making DBS
one of the first few Asia-based banks,
and the first Singapore-based bank,

to receive a licence in Dubai.

DBS announced successiul completion
of SME ACCESS Loan, the first rated
SME loan securitisation scheme in
Southeast Asia, achieving a financing
portfolio of $100 million.

2 Highlights of 2006

MAY

* DBS opened Shanghai Luwan sub-
branch offering consumer banking and
DBS Treasures Priority Banking services.

* DBS set up a branch in fast-growing
Suzhou, the first Singapore-based bank
to do s0.

* DBS5 mandated coordinating arranger
and sole bookrunner for Air China’s
Us$750 million loan, the largest
syndicated aircraft facility for a PRC
airline.

* DBS launched DBS Treasures Priority
Banking for the high net-worth in India.

* DBS pioneered another new investmeant
asset class - Singapore's first business
trust - when it acted as sole financial

advisor, underwriter and bookrunner far

Pacific Shipping Trust.

* DBS made it possible for DBS and POSB
customers to make donations to the
Singapore Red Cross in aid of victims of
the earthquake in Indonesia that
devastated Java.

JUNE

* DBS Asset Management announced its
intention to acquire a 33% stake in
Changsheng Fund Management, with
the aim of building a leading fund
management company in China.

* DBS introduced the first Middle Fastern
non-bank issuer, Emirates Airlines, to
the Singapore dollar debt capital
markets.

* DBS acquired a further 54% stake in
AXS InfoComm Pte Ltd. The network
of 390 AXS stations expanded DBS'
electronic collection capabilities
island-wide,

* DBS successfully priced a benchmark
international offering of US$900 million
floating-rate subordinated notes due
2021, This subordinated note issue was

the first of its kind with a maturity of at
least 10 years issued by an Asia-based
bank outside Japan.

JuLy

* Following investors' strong reverse
enquiries, DBS successfully priced
anather 53500 million subardinated
notes offering to supplement its earlier
US$300 million international issue.

* DBS appointed joint financial adviser,
global coordinator and bookrunner
for CDL Hospitality Trusts. The first
hotel REIT in Asia ex-Japan featured
an innovative stapled structure linked
to a business trust and gave retail
investors access to a new property
class.

* DBS mandated lead arranger and
bookrunner for PSA International’s
US533.42 billien term facility, one of
the largest US$ syndicated loans in
Asia ex-Japan and Australia.

AUGUST

* Veteran Hong Kong banker Amy Yip
appointed CEQ of DBS Hong Kong
following the retirement of Randy
Sullivan.

* Winner of the DBS American Express
Black Card draw drives away in a black
Lamborghini Gallardo after being
selected from over 130,000 DBS Black
Cardholders in Singapore.

SEPTEMBER

* DBS mandated regional arranger for the
Asian Development Bank’s US$10 billion
Asian Currency Note Programme, Asia’s
first muMti-currency bond platform since
the 1997 financial crisis. DBS was sole
lead manager and bookrunner for the
Singapare dollar issue launched
concurrenily.
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DBS Management Committee members, from left to right: {first row sitting) Rajan Raju, Amy Yip, leanette Wong, fackson Tai and frank Wong,
{seconid row sitting) Brent Smith, Roger Arner, Susan Ho and Karen Ngui; (standing) Edmund Larkin, Edmund Koh, Teresa Lin, Eric Ang,
Sharon Craggs, David Lau, Chng Sok Hui and Theresa Soikkeli.

* DBS Hong Kong was cne of the first to
extend weekday banking hours from
5pmi to 6pm to better serve customers.
Taking into consideration staff's work-
life balance, DBS also implemented a
five-day work week for branch
employees.

* DBS the first in Asia to offer full banking
services within an airport transit area
when it launched DBS Asia Treasures
at Singapore’s Changi Internaticnal
Airport.

* DBS launched its first regional branding
campaign during Singapore 2006 — the
largest international convention held in
Singapore where 20,000 delegates from
180 countries gathered for the IMF and

World Bank meetings. The campaign
reaffirmed DBS' positioning as a bank

that specialises in Asia.

OCTOBER

* DBS Asia Capital lead-managed the
highly successful HK$1.4 billion IPO
of Hong Kong property developer
SPG Land, which was 89 times
subscribed.

* DBS mandated lead arranger and
bookrunner for Reliance Petroleurmn’s
US$2 billion greenfield refinery
financing, India's biggest foreign
currency loan and the largest limited
recourse financing in Asia outside of
China since the 1997 financial crisis.

DECEMBER
* DBS among the first batch of foreign

banks — and the only Singapore-based
bank - to receive approval to prepare
for local incorporation in China. Setting
up a local subsidiary enables DBS to
offer a full suite of RMB banking
services to Chinese nationals.

Rating Agency Malaysia assigned DBS a
long-term general bank rating of 'AAA’
with a stable rating outlook, making
DBS one of only four triple-A rated
foreign banks in Malaysia.

DBS mandated global coordinator for
the US$1.4 billion bridge financing for
Marina Bay Sands, Singapore’s first
Integrated Resort project.

Highlights of 2006 13
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Committed to Stren
our Franchi
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Asia is on the rise. After several years of strong growth, the region’s economies continued

to surge ahead in 2006, propelled b

and increased global trade.

he only speed bump in

an otherwise benign

landscape appeared in

May, when regional

stock markets suffered

large sell-offs on fears of
rising oil prices, slower growth and
higher inflation. Market uncertainty
and sharp volatility dampened capital
market, trading and wealth
management activities. But the
disquiet soon receded. By December,
most regionat stock indices had rallied
to new highs. Against this backdrop,
Singapore’s economy surpassed earlier
forecasts with 7.9% growth, while
Hong Kong, our second-largest
market, is expected to have grown
more than 6.5%.

DBS capitalised on overal
favourable economic conditions and our
competitive advantage as an Asia
banking specialist to post the highest
Group net profit in our 38-year history.

Our dogged pursuit of optimising
our balance sheet, shifting our business
mix toward higher risk-adjusted returns,
and building recurring income has
produced more consistent and
sustainable earnings growth. In the
process, we also extended our product
capabilities in global transaction
services, treasury, capital markets and
wealth management. All these strategic
initiatives contributed to better returns
to our shareholders.

For 2006, Group net profit rose
32% to a record $2.18 billion excluding

14 ceo's Report

y stronger consumer confidence, rising asset prices

one-time gains and
goodwill charges,
bolstered by stronger
performance across
businesses and
geographies. Earnings
growth was broad-based,
with increases in almost
all key income groups.

Net interest income
grew 22% to $3.59
billion, reflecting another
year of loan growth,
better margins and a
stronger focus on our
asset and liability
management capabilities.
Net interest margin, at
2.20%, was at a new
record. Net fee income
rose for the eighth consecutive year, up
17% to a record $1.16 hillion. Non-fee
income increased 46% to $598 million.

For the year, our loan book rose
9% to $86.6 billion, led by corporate
and SME foans, while consumer loans in
Singapore picked up in the second half.
DBS also increased corporate loans
outside our core markets of Singapore
and Hong Kong, such as in China, India
and Indenesia. Overall, our loan book
has grown steadily over the last eight
consecutive semi-annual periods since
December 2002, at a 10.5% compound
annual growth rate.

Our asset quality continues to be
among the best for Asian banks. The
ratio of non-performing loans improved

from 2.1% in 2005 to 1.7% at year-
end. Even though the credit cycle
remained benign, DBS boosted provision
coverage from 97% the year before to a
record 115% - about two and a half
times the 44% iow point in 1998.

DBS has the capacity to support
our customers’ needs as they grow and
expand their operations in Asia. Given
our strong asset quality, we have the
confidence to take on more thoughtful
and demanding risks, and to drive
aggressively for loan growth, without
compromising our credit standards.

We are encouraged that the
market recognises our stronger core
earnings performance. DBS’ share price
rose 37% in 2006, outpacing the 27%

DBS Group Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2006
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gain of the broader Straits Times Index
and the 29% rise of the Singapore
Finance Equities Index.

Strengthening our Asian franchise
We live and breathe Asia. Qur
competitive advantage lies in our
understanding Asia’s cultural nuances,
and in our ability to capitalise on this
insight to help our customers in Asia
deal with their most important needs.
With foresight and determination,
we built expertise over the years in
capital markets, treasury and wealth
management. Today, we are able to
leverage these capabilities in connecting
our clients in Asia with our extensive
distribution to traditional as well as
"New Asian” investers. Few firms can
match our ability to reach highly-liquid
SMEs or first-time high net-worth
customers, or to sell securities through

DBS was the regional arranger for
the Asian Development Bank’s (ADB)
US$10 billien Asian Currency Note
Programme, the first multi-location,
multi-currency finanging since the
1997 regional economic crisis,

and a new milestone for fragmented
Asian currency markets. Instead of
the usual sequential fund-raising
approach, ADB is now able to
simultaneously access several Asian
financial markets under a single,
unified framework. ADB's picneering
issue overcomes Asian market
constraints that spring from differences
in regulatory, tax, documentary and
currency conventions in each
jurisdiction. Going forward, other
Asian issuers may use the same ADB
financing format to bypass the long-
standing practice of looking to the
London or New York markets to raise

DBS capitalised on overall favourable
economic conditions and our
competitive advantage as an Asia
banking specialist to post the highest
Group net profit in our 38-year history.”

our market-leading ATM network
and highly-interactive e-banking
services. DBS, we helieve, is well-
positioned to intermediate rapidly
growing Asia capital flows in new
and uncenventional ways.

In 2006, we continued our
leadership across regional debt and
equity capital markets, syndicated
finance, private equity as well as mergers
and acquisitions. We were also at the
farefrant of a long list of ground-
breaking capital markets transactions,
a reflection of our established know-
how in product structuring and our
track record of linking Asian investors
with issuing clients.

capital that all too often comes from
Asia. In time, Asia should be able to
set the tone and pace for how
liquidity in the region is redistributed
to worthy Asian issuers.

DBS continued to be the leading
intermediary for foreign issuers,
including conglomerates and banks,
in the Singapore dollar bond market.
During the year, we extended our
geographical reach to issuers beyond
Asia, such as in assisting Emirates
Airlines to be the first Middle Eastern
non-bank issuer to raise $400 million
of five and 10-year notes in the
Singapore dellar bond market.

* DBS pioneered the booming REIT

market in Singapore back in 2002. Since
then, we have maintained our market
leadership in the Singapore REIT market
by underwriting 18 transactions with
a total issuance of US31.49 billion.
We successfully brought our REIT
expertise to other markets. In Hong
Kong, we launched the first REIT with
mainiand China assets. In Thailand,
we led the first listed office property
fund and the first listed retail property
fund with an international offering. In
Malaysia, we lead-managed the first
Maiaysian REIT with an international
offering. In Singapore, DBS
maintained our market-leading
position in underwriting this asset
class with 37% market share.

We reinforced our leadership in the
securitisation market by listing
Singapore’s first business trust on the
Singapore Exchange in May, We were
sole financial adviser, underwriter and
bookrunner for the US$100 million
Pacific Shipping Trust, which attracted
public subscription of about 10 times.
DBS aims to replicate this flexible
business trust structure for other
issuers with stable cash flows,
including those in the infrastructure
and utilities sectors.

In February, DBS was joint lead
manager and joint bookrunner for
Videocon's inaugural issue of US$90
million of five-year fereign currency
convertible bonds. DBS stayed the
course for this Indian issuer even
though two of the four joint leads
pulled out at the last hour after failing
to secure the underlying credit support
for the transaction. DBS successfully
priced the financing as the markets
were clasing on the eve of the
Chinese New Year holidays. The issue
was well received by investors and
propelled DBS to the top 10 in the
convertible league tables.

CEO's Report 1 5
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Unleashing the spirit of New Asia: In fine with imbuing staff with

* In equity capital markets, Thai
Beverage, Thailand’s largest brewer
and distiiler, launched its $1.37 billion
initial public offering in May, amid the
rnost volatile equity market conditions
in a year. The IPO was the largest
since DBS’ $4.2 billion flotation in
1993 for SingTel, Singapore's largest
telecommunications company. DBS
acted as the lead manager and
coordinator for the Singapore portion
of Thai Beverage's global offering.
Despite weak market sentiment, the
international and Singapore offerings
were oversubscried.

* In March, we were the sole arranger
for a US$265 million equivalent
facility for Spice Communications of
India - DBS india’s first domestic loan
syndication and loan/security agency
mandate. The financing was put in
place for Telekom Malaysia to
complete its acquisition of a 499%
stake in Spice.

1 6 CEO’s Report

Our capital market leadership
continues to be recognised in numerous
international and regional trade
publications. In particular, The Asset
named DBS the Best Domestic Bank,
Best Domestic Investment Bank, Best
tquity House and Best Debt House in
Singapaore in 2006. FinanceAsia singled
out DBS as “Best Small-cap Equity
House", saying that DBS “carved a
strong niche in bringing small-cap
companies to market in both Singapore
and Hong Kong™.

Standing by our customer

We take pride in being Asia
banking specialists, and it is no surprise
that all our key decision makers are
located here in Asia, With Asia fast
becoming the centre of economic
activity and capital formation, we can
meet most of our clients’ needs right
here in Asia, and increasingly on better
terms than in North America or Europe.
On the flip side, we cannot fold up our

a greater sense of organisational pricle, DBS staff were prominently
featured as the face of the bank's inaugural regional brand campaign.

tents when times are tough in Asia.

In 2006, we continued to reaffirm
our commitment to our clients in
Singapore and across the region,
through chatlenging times.

In May, jitters over inflation and
economic bubbles caused markets
across emerging markets to nosedive.
All high-beta stocks around the world
were sold. Even Asia {ex-Japan and
India), which was more resilient among
emerging stock markets, was not
spared. Stock indices in The
Philippines, Thailand, Singapare and
Hong Kong saw more than double-
digit declines.

In the aftermath, capital market
financings were pulled left and right.
However, DBS stood steadfastly by
our clients to help them through
difficult markets.

* We successfully launched the $369
million IPO for luxury resort operator
Banyan Tree in May. The institutional

DBS Group Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2006



tranche received convincing interest
from investors around the world, and
the retail offering through our ATM
network was fully subscribed.

In July, we successfully took public
Frasers Centrepoint Trust and CDL
Hospitality Trust, despite sagging
equity market conditions, and even
though three new property-related
issuances and four IPO candidates
were withdrawn from the Hong Kong
and Singapore markets. Frasers
Centrepoint Trust's $270 miliion PO
attracted substantial institutional and
retail investor interest.

DBS was joint financial advisor,

joint lead underwriter and joint
bookrunner for the $352.8 million
listing of CDL Hospitality Trust, the
first hotel REIT in Asia ex-Japan with
an innovative stapled structure. We
stood firmly behind our commitment
to CDL in the midst of volatile market
conditions, even while well-known
underwriters wavered. The issue was

well received, with the placement

tranche 1.9 times and retail tranche
6.6 times subscribed. Although we
were supparted by our extensive
distribution capabilities to traditional
and new investors, DBS never felt we
could side-step our commitment to
our Asia-based clients.

Extending our regional presence

Qur focus is Asia, where we
understand the regicn’s business and
cultural idicsyncrasies, with Southeast
Asia, Scuth Asia and Greater China as
our key markets.

* In India, DBS entered into a retail
finance partnership with the well-
regarded Murugappa Group by
taking a 37.5% equai ownership
stake in a joint venture.
Chelamandalam DBS Finance aspires
to become a leading financial
services franchise in mass retail
finance. During the year, the
partnership launched a range of new
product offerings, including persona!
loans for prime and sub-prime
customers, as well as insurance

products through Cholamandatam’s
more than 150 locations across India.

In China, DBS was among the first
foreign banks to seek regulatory
approval to set up a local banking
subsidiary. We have since received
the go-ahead to prepare for local
incorporation, the anly Singapare
bank and one of the few Asia-
based banks in the first baich of
applicants. With the local banking
subsidiary, DBS will be able to offer
local Chinese residents a full suite
of renminbi products. In December,
we also received approval from the
China Banking Regulatory
Commission o accept time
deposits of at least RMB 1 million
from local Chinese residents at our
Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen
branches, strengthening our local
wealth management offerings in
these markets.

To tap the wealth of a rapidly
growing Chinese middle class, we are
acquiring a 33% stake in Changsheng
Fund Management Company. The
partnership combines Changsheng’s
local market knowledge and
distribution with DBS Asset
Management’s expertise in investment
and risk management to build a
leading fund management company
in China. Our parinership, subject to
regulatory approvals, complements
DBS Asset Management's regicnal
growth footprint.

During the year, we also opened
a branch in fast-growing Suzhou,
the first for a Singapore-based bank.
The expansion is part of our overall
strategy to grow DBS' presence and
business in the Yangtze Delta region,
Pearl-River Delta and the Beijing-
Tianjin region. We also established
the Shanghai Luwan sub-branch to
offer consumer banking and DBS

Celebrating the opening of Shanghai Luwan sub-branch: DBS reaffirms its commitrnent
to China with its new sub-branch. This hranch offers conisumer banking and DBS Treasures
Priority Banking services.

Treasures Priority Banking.
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* With two-way trade between the
Middle East and Asia on the rise, DBS
was among the {irst few Asia-based
banks, and the first Singapore-based
bank, to receive a banking licence in
Dubai, through the Dubai
International Financial Centre (DIFC).
Although our DIFC branch operations
are relatively new, we have already
participated in several key financings,
including as lead arranger for the -
US$1 billion three-year ljarah (Islamic-
compliant leasing agreement) facility
for Dubai Department of Civil
Aviation. We also joined in the
financing of Dubai Port World's
acquisition of P&0O, and two
Murahabas {Islamic syndicated loans)
for Kuwait Finance House of Kuwait,
and Al Rajhi Barking and Investment
Corporation of Saudi Arabia. T

* Hwang-DBS Securities Berhad
(HDBSS), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Hwang-DBS (Malaysia) Berhad,

which is now 27.8% owned by DBS, —
received approval from Malaysian -"==T_—:,g S
authorities to convert its operations to !
that of an investment bank. DBS is an {
active partner in HDBSS and this b
development allows HDBSS to expand | ’

its existing corporate finance advisory
business to include a broader and
mare sophisticated range of wholesale
banking services, including treasury
products, to serve Malaysian customers.

We will continue to expand our
banking franchise in the region through
stepped-up arganic growth, as well as
thoughtful, disciplined strategic

acguis.itions and.alliances, with the Eﬁﬂiiﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ m |
e Ot onaing value 0 the DES UnTUKIgenerasIgeneras] pemahamankamLen ErorRe o
ong-erm sharholcer wooe. | D g Yo (et U Gyttt et

645 5068, Sorebey (BEAT) S0 9651, Matkm (8651) 457 7856 e lamjwrgf
Managing Asia’s rising wealth

Asia is now the fastest-growing W[&ﬂﬂk@mﬂkﬁﬁﬂkm T

region in the world based on GDP
growth rates. Its strong economic
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“AYAHKU BEKERJA KERAS UNTUK
MEMASTIKAN IMPIANKU MENJADI
PILOT JADI KENYATAAN.

KINI GILIRANKU MEMBANTU ANAKKU
MEWUJUDKAN IMPIANNYA."

Setiap generasi memiliki impiannya masing-masing.

DBS hadir untuk membantu mewujudkan impian anda menjadi
kenyataan.

DBS. Hidup bernafaskan Asia.

m@drﬁm&ﬁm@ljtﬂpﬂ
standagperbankanfinterasionalikekayaanksentalmasaldepantkeluargafandd
mmﬂ»-@gm(&@@ﬂmm
GDSIGO [Eﬁ]ﬂjﬂ

esaifdifAsiallenggara s
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Sustaining business momentum in Hong Kong: DBS is
No. 2.n trade finance and the third-largest banker

for manufacturers,

fundamentals have significantly
improved the prospects for Asians
across every social stratum. Material
wealth has been enhanced by the rise
in asset prices, supported by large
capital inflows.

Not surprisingly, these better
prospects are swelling the ranks
of Asia’s wealthy, particularly in China
and India. Asian wealth will grow ahead
of the global average, creating new
oppaortunities far DBS to offer financial
advisory and solutions. Qur edge lies in
our end-to-end origination-to-
structuring-to-sales. DBS capitalises on
our extensive distribution channels in
Singapore and Hong Kong to reverse
engineer just-in-time products that suit
our identified customer needs,

We have also continued to
leverage our derivatives prowess and
risk management expertise to structure
products for our retail clientele -
products previously available only to

20 CEO's Report

sophisticated
institutional investors,
During the year,
DBS launched funds
that allow investors to
buy mainland A-shares
indirectly. Changsheng,
our asset management
partner in China, is the
appointed investment
advisor for the newly
established DBS China
Advantage A-share
Fund. This product
is structured to meet
the investment needs
of foreign individual
investors, who are
otherwise not allowed
to tap the A-share
market,

DBS Indonesia
is a market leader in
foreign exchange
structured deposits.

To better serve our
high net-worth customers on the
ground, DBS Indonesia launched three
DBS Treasures Centres in 2006, taking
the total to five. We plan to open nine
more DBS Treasures branches in
Indenesia in 2007.

In India, we launched DBS
Treasures Priority Banking to serve high
net-worth dients through our Mumbai
and New Delhi branches. We are also
awaiting the Reserve Bank of India’s
approval for new branch licences under
CECA, the Singapore - India free trade
agreement.

In Singapore, we have the largest
network of 865 ATMs and 81 branches,
including POSB-branded ATMs and
branches. Our ATM network handles
about 50% of all transactions; and we
have the largest internet banking
customer base in Singapore, capturing
half of the online banking business. We
are also among the top credit card issuers
in Singapore with about 20% share.

We further strengthened our
payments and collections business with
the acquisition of a majority stake in AXS
InfoComm, which develops and operates
an island-wide netwark of 390 web-
enabled transactional terminals known
as “AXS Stations”. The AXS Stations
complement our internet banking
platform and ATM network, serving
both retail and corporate customers.

To better serve our retail customers,
we embarked on a programme to
revitalise POSB and turn it into a full-
service mass market bank. The initiative
involved a physical renovation of the
branches, as well as holistic *service-to-
sales” transformation. A total of 36
branches were transformed last year,
with the remaining 15 to be completed
this year.

D85 is one of the leading providers
of custody services in Singapore, We are
the only institution to be appointed the
Common Depository in Singapore by
the warld's two leading International
Central Securities Depositories, EuraClear
Bank and Clearstream Banking. Over the
past few years, we expanded our

The first home loan
pegged to CPF rates,

Like my family, my home toan
shouid give me a sense of
security and peace of mind.

Raising transparency levels: POSB, part of
the DBS Group, launched a home loan
pegged to CPF rates.
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Replicating our success in other markets. DBS remained the leader in the Singapore REIT market, having underwritten 18 deals worth
US$1.5 billion since 2002. In Hong Kong, we launched the first REIT with mainland China assets.

footprint to Hong Kong and Thailand.
Last year, we also secured the necessary
licences to expand our custody offering
into China, India and Indonesia.

Helping SMEs prosper

Smail and medium-sized enterprises
are the lifeblood of most economies.

In Singapore, they account for 99% of
enterprises, about 43% of gross domestic
product, and employ more than half the
workforce. In Hong Kong, SMEs make up
ahout 98% of all business enterprises.

Through an integrated business
model, DBS’ Enterprise Banking business
now extends from Singapore and Hong
Kong to mainland China, Macau, India
and Indonesia. During the year, we
strengthened our ability to serve SME
and mid-cap customers with canfidence.
We used our balance sheet capacity to
support continued loan expansion and
emphasised fee-based activities and
services, such as DBS' leading capital
markets, treasury, cash management
and credit risk management expertise.

In Hong Kong, DBS is Na. 2 in
trade finance and the third-largest
banker for manufacturers. We aim t0
continue to differentiate ourselves by
focussing on China and distinctive
product offerings such as trade finance,
equipment finance and factoring. DBS'
Trade Regicnal Processing Centre in

Hong Kong, with a 170-strong team,
supports seven other regional locations
on top of Singapore and Hong Kong,
and handles an estimated 500,000
import and export transactions a year.
In April, DBS completed the first
rated SME loan securitisation scheme in
Southeast Asia. Known as the SME
Access Loan scheme, this pioneering
effort was initiated by the Singapore
government to help SMEs with little
collateral or no track record to obtain

has a 22% market share in the Local
Enterprise Financing Scheme and is also
the top factoring house in Singapore,
with about 30% market share.

Capital position and credit ratings
In June, DBS successfully raised
US$900 million in a subordinated
notes issue of Tier 2 capital. This
transaction was the first floating-rate
subordinated note issue by an Asian
ex-Japan bank with a maturity of at

“Qur 2006 results reflect several

years of unwavering dedication and
hard work by my DBS colleagues to
extend and deepen our customer
franchise in Singapore, Hong Kong
and throughout Asia.”

financing, with DBS appointed as
programme manager. The scheme
securitised a portfolio of $100 million
of financing to more than 400 SMEs.
The SME Access Loan scheme
is an extension of our deep-seated
commitment to the SME market, where
we are a market leader in another
Singapore government-led scheme. DBS

least 10 years. Following investors’
strong reverse enquiries on this
transaction, DBS successfully priced
another 5$500 milfion offering of
subordinated notes in July. Both
financings supplement maturing
subordinated notes, and position us
to pursue business and strategic
initiatives as they arise.

CEO’s Report 21
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Setting a milestone: DBS structured the first reg.
the Asian Development Bank's US$ 10 biflion n

Our balance sheet remains
strong, with our total capital
adequacy ratio of 14.5% and Tier 1
ratio of 10.2% comfortably above
the regulatory minimum. Our credit
ratings are among the highest for
banks competing in Asia: “Ag2”
by Moody's, “AA-" by Standard &
Poor’s, and “AA-" by Fitch Ratings.
In December, we were also assigned
an "AAA” rating by Rating Agency
Malaysia (RAMY), only the fourth
fareign bank in Malaysia to receive
such a ringing endorsement. RAM
pointed to our solid domestic
franchise, superior asset quality,
healthy performance indicators,

sound funding and liquidity positions,

and robust capitalisation, as the
basis for awarding DBS the highest
possible rating,

Our current risk management
framework closely tracks Basel Il

22 CEO's Report

principles. We are on schedule to meet
Basel Il qualification timelines of home
and host regulators.

Commitment to Asia

The IMF / World Bank meetings
held in Singapore in September drew
an unprecedented 20,000 participants
from around the world, and
reinforced Singapore’s standing as a
key financial centre. We timed our
first pan-Asian brand campaign to
coincide with the annual meetings,
and reaffirmed our commitment as a
bank that specialises in Asia.

We are gratified by DBS' progress
in 2006. We broke records and posted
the highest Group net profit in DBS® 38-
year history. | offer my heartfelt thanks
to the Chairman and members of the
Board for their guidance and counsel,
and to our shareholders, customers and
business partners for their invaluable

ional platform for Asian currency bond issues since the financial crisis with the launch of
ofe programme.

support throughout the year.

Our 2006 results reflect several
years of unwavering dedication and
hard work by my DBS colleagues
to extend and deepen our customer
franchise in Singapore, Hong Kong and
throughout Asia. To my DBS colleagues
and their families, | offer my sincere
thanks for their commitment and
sacrifices. There is more to do, but
the broad-based and disciplined results
delivered better returns to our
shareholders, and point to sustainable
growth for DBS as an Asia banking
specialist.

Qe 72
4
JACKSON TAI

Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer,
D8S Group Holdings
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One Bank, One Team,

One Heartbeat

Emails from management, quarterly staff briefings on the bank’s performance, business
unit off-sites to build team-work and department gatherings? The year 2006 featured all

these and more — much more.
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"The humility to serve,

the confidence to lead -

we respect tradition but do
not conform for conformity’s
sake. New Asia pushes the
envelope!”

and personal protective equipment for
staff were stockpiled.

Close to a hundred social and
recreational activities were organised
across Asia last year by the DBS
Recreation Club in Singapore, DBS
Staff Ciub in Hong Kong, DBS
Indonesia and DBS India. Visits to
homes for the elderly, fitness classes,
blood and bone marrow danation
drives, walkathons and family days
kept the volunteers busy while
promoting camaraderie, friendship
and a strong community spirit.

Learning and developing at DBS

D85S takes people leadership and
development seriously as no organisation
can successfully deepen its bench-strength
unless it focuses on talent management,
training and career development.

In 2006, the DBS Learning Centre
was revamped to provide staff with
better equipped learning systems and
facilities, and access to a wider range of
resources.

The DBS Management Associate
Program {MAP) was established in
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2003 to serve as the leadership
pipefine for the bank. It was re-
launched last year as an 18-month
regional leadership training program,
The latest cohort comprises high
potential associates hailing from
China, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia
and Singapore. The MAP provides a
dynamic environment for growth and
continuous learning through an
intensive and structured training
programime focussing on three broad
areas — on-the-job experience,
education-based on-campus learning
and relationship-based development
including a mentering scheme and
senior management networking.
Crisis management workshops
were developed in 2006 to better equip

iMarialPriad@ol]

DBS managers with skills to help their
colleagues deal with work stress and the
challenge of facing today's competitive
environment.

Going to the heart of the matter
There is a serious intent behind
all the glossy posters, townhalls and
talent management programmes.
An extensive multi-market discovery
and forward positioning research
programme that took place in the
second half of 2005 pointed the way
forward for DBS - to embody the
medern, vibrant and confident spirit
of New Asia and at the same time

embrace the region’s rich heritage
and values.

The research showed there is a
groundswell of pride and confidence in
the future of Asia that speaks of a new
dynamism and passion, coupled with a
deep appreciation of Asia’s heritage.

And for a regional bank focussed

[DavidlEhic

“New Asia means we dare to
be different; to take risks and
take on a can-do attitude.”

on Asia, our success depends on DBS
living and breathing this New Asia
spirit. This could never come close to
reality if each and every one of DBS’
13,000 employees did not epitomise
this dynamic can-do spirit with a deep
sense of belonging, purpose and pride
when they come to work each day.

We made encouraging progress
last year in communicating to our
colleagues DBS' New Asia mindset and
going by their own definitions of what
“New Asia” means - as seen in a
sample of their quotes on these pages
- they have begun to identify with and
imbue that aspiration with real
meaning. In 2007, as we continue to
transform DBS into one of the most
respected and admired financial
institutions in Asia, we shall further
embed this spirit into all that we say,
think and do.
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Hearing it Trom
the Marketplace

DBS continued to garner many prestigious awards and accolades in 2006 — a few
of which are listed here. They reflect our expertise in investment banking, global
financial markets, consumer banking and our focus on corporate governance.
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“ DBS has carved a strong
niche in bringing small-cap
companies to market in both
Singapore and Hong Kong...
DBS has now positioned
itself as a leader in the
small-cap equity space.”
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* DBS Bank remains a clear

winner of Best Retail Bank in
Singapore...for its enduring
franchise success and its

sound retail cost efficiency.”
THE ASIAN BANKER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW

2006 2005 % chg
Selected income items ($m)
Net interest income 3,591 2,843 22
Net fee and commission income 1,155 986 17
Net trading income!™ 330 207 59
Net income from financial investments 171 102 63
Other income 97 100 (3}
Total income 5344 4,338 23
Less: Expenses 2,369 2,026 17
Profit before allowances 2,975 2,312 29
Less: Allowances for credit and other losses 135 203 (33)
Share of profits of associates 70 54 30
Profit before tax 2,910 2,163 35
Net profit 2,175 1,649 32
Add: One-time gains 924 303 (69)
Less: Goodwill charges 0 1,128 (100}
Net profit including one-time gains and goodwill charges 2,269 824 >100
Selected balance sheet items ($m)
Customer loans? 86,630 79,462 9
Interbank assets? 26,515 23,816 T
Total assets 197,372 180,204 10
Customer deposits® 131,373 116,884 12
Total liabilities 176,326 161,014 10
Shareholders' funds 18,675 16,724 12
Key financial ratios {excluding one-time gains and goodwill charges) (%)
Net interest margin 2.20 1.91 -
Non-interest/total income 328 32.2 -
Cost/income ratio 44.3 46.7 -
Return on assets 1.15 0.23 -
Return on equity 12.33 .71 -
Loan/deposit ratic 65.9 68.0 -
NPL ratio 1.7 2.1 -
Specific allowances {loans) / average loans {bp}) 19 26 -
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 10.2 10.6 -
Total capital adequacy ratic 14.5 14.8 -
Per share data (%)
Per basic share
- earnings excluding one-time gains and goodwill charges 1.44 1.10 -
- earnings 1.50 0.54 -
- net book value 12.08 10.87 -
Per diluted share
— earnings excluding one-time gains and goodwill charges 1.39 1.06 -
- earnings 1.45 0.53 -
— net book value 11.84 10.69 -

(1) includes net income from financial instruments designated at fair value
(2} includes financial assets at fair value through profit or foss
{3) includes financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
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The Group's net profit excluding one-time items rose 32% to
$2,175 million in 20G6 from $1,643 million in 2005.

A one-time net gain of $94 million was recorded in 2006,
compared 10 $303 million in 2005. In both years, the gains
were due to the sale of buildings. In 2005, there had also been
a $1,128 million accounting charge to impair a portion of
unamortised goodwill arising from the purchase of DBS Heng
Kong. Including these items, the Group's reported net profit
amounted to $2,269 million in 2006 and $824 millien in 2005.
The commentary that follows excludes the effects of these non-
operating items.

The better operating performance in 2006 was driven by a
broad-based, 23% increase in total income to $5,344 million as
DBS' expanding customer franchise captured the benefits of the
region’s strong economic fundamentals. Higher loan volumes and
interest margins propelled interest income to a record $3,59
million, up 22% from 2005, Fee income increased 17% to $1,155
million for an eighth consecutive year of growth as both business
and consumer activities rose. Trading income recovered from the

NET INTEREST INCOME

subdued performance in 2005, rising 59% to $330 million.

Cost pressures were felt during the year. Expenses rose 17% to
$2,369 million, led by staff costs as labour markets tightened
and computerisation expenses to support business expansion.
But as costs rose less quickly than revenues, the cost-income ratio
improved to 44% from 47% in 2005.

Asset quality remained healthy. The non-performing loan ratio
fell to 1.7% from 2.1% in 2005. Total allowances amounted

to $135 millien from $203 million in 2005 as a decline in
specific allowances was partially offset by an increase in general
allowances.

The Group's return on assets improved to 1.15% compared to
0.93% in 2005, while return on equity rose to 12.3% from 9.7%.

There were no significant accounting changes for the year.
Goodwill was tested for impairment using the same methodology

and key assumptions as the previous year. Goodwill for all entities
tested was found to be intact,

2006 2005
Average Average Average Average
balance Interest rate balance Interest rate
Average balance sheet {$m) ($m) (%) ($m) {$m) (%)
Interest-bearing assets
Custormer loans 82,561 4,559 5.52 75,479 3,152 418
Interbank assets 30,718 1.001 3.26 29,072 656 2.26
Securities 49,908 2,249 451 49,307 1,734 3.52
Total 163,187 7,809 4.79 153,858 5,542 3.60
interest-bearing liabilities
Customer deposits 123,779 2,746 2.22 115,814 1,494 1.29
Other borrowings 31,713 1,472 4.64 31,748 1,105 3.48
Total 155,492 4,218 271 147,562 2,599 1.76
Net interest income/margin 3,591 2.20 2,943 1.91

Net interest income rose 22% to $3,591 million from higher asset
volumes and interest spreads.

Average interest-earning assets grew 6% to $163,187 million.
With most of the increase coming from customer loans, the asset
mix also improved during the year.

Interest spreads were significantly higher as asset yields rose faster
than funding costs.

In Singapore, corporate and SME customer loan yields increased in
line with interbank rates, while board rates for housing loans were

raised. Funding costs also rose with a larger proportion of fixed
deposits in the funding mix, but by less than asset yields. In Hong
Kong, interest margins benefitted from the full impact of a series

of prime lending rate increases that had started in 2005.

The improved asset mix and higher interest spreads resulted in the
Group's interest margins rising to 2.20% from 1.91% in 2005.

The following tabie indicates that higher interest margins had a
greater impact on net interest income growth in 2006 than asset

volumes.
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Volume and rate analysis ($m)

Increase/(decrease) due to change in Voluma Rate Net change
Interest income

Customer loans 296 1,111 1,407
Interbank assets 37 308 345
Securities 21 494 515
Total 354 1,913 2,267
Interest expense

Customer deposits 103 1,149 1,252
Other borrowings (3) 370 367
Total 100 1.519 1,619
Net interest income 254 394 648
NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

($m) 2006 2005 % chg
Stockbroking 141 106 33
Investment banking 150 134 12
Trade and remitiances 190 172 10
Loan related 166 157 &
Guarantees 30 28 7
Deposit related 79 77 3
Credit card 115 90 28
Fund management 62 53 17
Wealth management 170 129 32
Others 52 40 30
Total 1,155 986 17

Net fee and commission incame rose 17% to $1,155 million as
contributions from a wide range of activities grew.

Buoyant equity markets boosted investor activity. Stockbroking
commissions climbed 33%, while a 34% increase in unit trust
sales contributed to a 32% rise in wealth management fees.

Increased consumer confidence contributed to a 28% rise in credit
card fees, with much of the growth coming from Singapore,
where the number of credit cards issued by DBS rose by 18% to
1,067 million.
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Investment banking fees were 12% higher as capital market
activities increased across the region. DBS continued to

top various domestic league tables during the year, such as
bookrunning Singapore dollar bonds, arranging syndicated loans
and underwriting real estate investment trusts.

Fee income accounted for 22% of total operating income, slightly
below the 23% in 2005 due to the strong interest income growth
in 2006.

DBS Group Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2006




OTHER NON-INTEREST INCOME

(sm) 2006 2005 % chg
Net trading incomea 330 207 59

From trading businesses 340 187 82

From other businesses (10) 20 NM
Net income from financial investments 171 102 68
Net gain from fixed assets 10 11 (9
Others (including dividend and rental income} 87 89 (2)
Tota! 583 409 46

Other nen-interest income rase 46% to $598 million as net
trading income increased from $207 million to $330 million.
Included in net trading income was a $10 million loss in the fair
value of market positions to manage the Group’s structural risks.

Net trading income from trading businesses rose from $187
millicn to $340 million. The better performance was spread across

foreign exchange, equity, credit and interest rate instruments, from
both custemer flows as well as trading activity.

Net income from investment securities rose 68% from the sale of
several equity and debt investments during the year. Non-interest
income from other sources (including dividends and rental income)
was little changed at $87 million.

EXPENSES

($m) 2006 2005 % ¢hg
Staff 1,244 1.052 18
Occupancy 193 186 4
Computerisation 404 308 31
Revenue-related 105 99 6
Others 423 383 11
Total 2,369 2,026 17

Expenses increased 17% to $2,369 million.

Staff costs rose 18%. With headcount growing 1% to 12,907,
a large part of the staff cost increase was attributable to salary
revisions due to competitive pressures for finance sector staff in
Singapore and Hong Kong, and to higher bonus accruals in line

ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT AND OTHER LOSSES

with the Group's better performance.

Computerisation expenses were 31% higher due to depreciation
for equipment and expenses for major ongoing projects such as
Basel Il implementation.

(sm} 2006 2005 % chg
General allowances ("GP} 88 0 NM
Specific allowances (“5P”} for loans 159 196 (19}
Singapore 79 114 (31}
Hong Kong 78 56 39
Other countries 2 26 92}
Specific allowances (“SP”) for securities, properties and other assets {112} 7 NM
Total 135 203 (33)
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Total altowances amounted to $135 million from $203 millian
in 2005.

General allowances of $88 million were made for toan growth
during the year. No charges had been taken in 2005.

Specific allowances for Ioans fell to $158 million from $196
million in 2005 as economic conditions further strengthened
during the year. The decline in charges was across corporate,

PERFORMANCE BY BUSINESS UNIT

SME and consumer loans. Specific allowances for loans amounted
to 19 basis points of average loans, compared to 26 basis points
in 2005.

A net write-back of $112 million in specific allowances for
securities, properties and other assets was for the recovery of
corporate debt securities and included a write-back of $69 million
for buildings in Singapore as market valuations improved,

{$m) CBG EB CIB GFM cTuU Central Ops

2006

Net interest incame 1,765 736 592 595 280 (377)
Non-interest income 514 330 585 274 {64) 114

Total income 2,279 1,066 1177 869 216 (263)
Less: Expenses 985 338 376 41 31 228

Profit before allowances 1,294 728 801 458 185 (491)
Less: Allowances 52 119 77 (3) (5) (105)
Share of profits of associates 0 0 0 5 0 65

Profit before tax 1,242 609 724 466 190 (321)
Net profit 1,001 500 603 383 166 (478)
2005

Net interest income 1,308 578 475 484 380 (282)
Non-interest income 483 227 462 11 {167) 279

Tetal income 1,791 805 937 595 213 (3)
Less: Expenses 926 291 319 364 31 55

Profit before allowances 865 514 618 231 182 (98}
Less: Allowances 77 145 144 0 6 (169)
Share of profits of associates 0 0 0 5 0 49

Profit bafore tax 788 369 474 236 176 120

Net profit 636 305 391 187 150 {20)

The financial data and commentary on the performance by
business unit and geography are based on Singapare GAAP and
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. They include
internal allocations of income and cost items and intra-Group
eliminations.

A description of DBS' reported business unit segments can be
found in Note 49.1 of the financial accounts on page 99.

Consumer Banking (CBG)

CBG's interest income rose 35% from wider deposit spreads
in Singapore and loan spreads in Hong Kong, as well as higher
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deposit volumes in Singapore and Hong Kong. Non-interest
income increased 6%, led by higher wealth management product
sales revenue in Hong Kong.

Expenses grew 6% from higher staff and support costs in
Singapere and Hong Kong.

Specific allowances were lower in Singapore as economic
conditions improved. In Hong Kong, specific allowances rose due
to lower write-backs for housing loans. General allowances were
little changed.
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Enterprise Banking (EB)

EB’s net interest income increased 27% as loan and deposit
volumes in Singapore and Hong Kong rose. Loan and deposit
spreads were also higher in Hong Kong. Non-interest incorme
climbed 45% led by higher sales of treasury products, such as
foreign currency hedging instruments, in Hong Kong,

Expenses rose 16% due to higher bonus accruals and other costs.

Specific allowances declined 18% as a reduction in Singapcre was
partially offset by a rise in Hong Kong, which partly resulted from
lower write-backs. General allowances were little changed.

Corporate and Investment Banking (CIB)

CIB’ net interest income grew 25% from higher loan and deposit
volumes. Non-interest income benefitted from higher investment
banking and capital market activities acrass the region, as well as
investment gains and higher dividend income.

PERFORMANCE BY GEOGRAPHY

Expensas rose 18% from higher bonus accruals and other costs.

Total aliowances fell 47% as there was a net write-back of specific
allowances. The effect of the write-back was partially offset by
higher general aliowances for foan growth,

Global Financial Markets (GFM)

GFM's otal income rose 46%. Interest income benefitted from
higher interest rates while non-interest income grew from higher
trading gains and customer revenues across a wide range of
products. Stockbroking commissions were also higher.

Expenses increased 13% from higher bonus accruals in line with
the better performance.

Central Treasury (CTU) and Central Operations

CTU manages the Group’s asset and liability interest rate positions
as well as investments arising from the Group's excess liquidity.
Central Operations encompasses a wide range of activities

from corperate decisions as well as income and expenses not
attributable to other business segments. Asset management and
private banking activities are also included in this segment.

Hang Rest of South, Rest of
($m} S'pore Kong  Greater China S-east Asia the world
2006
Net interest income 2,255 1,145 47 a0 54
Non-interest incecme 1,129 377 100 91 56
Total income 3,384 1,522 147 181 110
Less: Expenses 1,474 668 82 89 56
Prafit before allowances 1,910 854 65 92 54
Less: Allowances 26 100 0 (6} 15
Share of profits of associates 10 0 0 60 0
Profit before tax 1,894 754 65 158 39
Net profit 1,345 626 55 127 22
2005
Net interest income 1,808 947 ER 94 63
Nan-interest income 926 319 a1 47 42
Total income 2,734 1,266 92 141 105
Less: Expenses 1,199 653 54 68 52
Profit before allowances 1,535 613 38 73 53
Less: Allowances 83 44 30 4 42
Share of profits of associates 4 0 0 50 0
Profit before tax 1,456 569 8 119 1
Net profit 1,071 481 4 100 (7}
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A description of DBS' reported geographic segments can be found
in Note 49.2 of the financial accounts on page 101.

Singapore

Net interest income rose 25% from higher interest margins and
loan growth. Corporate, SME and consumer loan yields were
repriced upwards in line with interbank rates while funding costs
rose less as a result of DBS' teading domestic savings deposits
base. Loans rose 8% led by corporates and SMEs, with housing
loans picking up towards the second half of the year. Surplus
funds benefitted from higher interbank rates during the year.

Non-interest income rose 22% from a wide range of fee income
activities as well as trading income, which recovered from a
subdued performance in 2005.

Expenses increased 23% from higher wage costs and
cemputerisation expenses. As part of ongeing efforts to improve
productivity, headcount in Singapore fell 2% as more stringent
hiring processes were put in place,

Specific allowances for loans declined, while general allowances
increased.

Hong Kong
The results for Hong Kong incorporate the effects of an
apprediation of the Singapere dollar against the Hong Keng dollar

GROSS CUSTOMER LOANS!

by 5% in the profit and loss account and 8% in the balance sheet.

Net interest income rose 21% primarily from higher interest
margins and deposit volumes. Prime lending rates were on
average higher than the previous year. Deposit volumes grew as
higher balances were received from priority consumer banking
customers.

Non-interest income increased 18%, led by fee income. Higher
contributions were recorded in all activities and were Jed by
stockbroking, investment banking and unit trust sales. Trading
income was also higher, although some of the gains were offset
by lower marked-to-market values of structured products.

Expenses increased 2% with higher wage, computerisation and
occupancy expenses being partially offset by lower advertising
costs.

specific allowances were higher as write-backs fell and charges
for SME loans rose. General allowances were also higher.

Other regions

DBS” operations outside Singapore and Hong Kong are in their
build-up phase. The largest earnings contribution is currently from
Indonesia (through a 99%-owned subsidiary).

($m} 2006 2005 % chg
By business unit

Consumer Banking 29,538 29,686 (0)
Enterprise Banking 20,10 19,234 5
Corporate and Investment Banking 33,764 26,473 28
Others 4,677 5,551 (16)
By geography

Singapore 48,789 45,280 8
Hong Kong 27,216 26,669 2

Rest of Greater China 4,443 2,953 50

South and Southeast Asia 2,993 2,287 31

Rest of the world 4,639 3,760 23

(1) Includes financial assets at fair vaiue through profit or loss
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Gross loans increased 9% to $88,080 million.

Loans booked in Singapore, comprising both Singapore dollar and
foreign currency loans, rose 8% to $48,789 million. Singapore
dollar loans increased 6% to $35,708 million, giving DBS an 18%
market share of Singapore dollar loans.

The growth in Singapore-booked loans was led by corporates and
SMEs. Housing loans, which had declined in the first haif of the
year before recovering in the second half, rose 4% for the year.

NON-PERFORMING LOANS AND LOS5 ALLOWANCE COVERAGE

In Hang Kong, loans grew 11% in local currency terms but only
2% in Singapore dollar terms to $27,216 million. All of the
growth in Hong Kong was due to corporate and SME borrowing.
Consumer loans, by contrast, were weak. Housing loans fell 5% in
local currency terms, while credit card loans were flat. DBS' overall
share of Hong Kong loans was 6%.

With a smaller base, loans in other regions grew faster than in
Singapore and Hong Kong as DBS expanded its banking franchise
to other parts of Asia.

2006 2005
NPA NPL {GP+SP)/ NPA NPL (GP+SP)/
{$m) {% of loans} NPA(%) ($m} {% of loans) MNPA{%}

By geography

Singapore 811 1.8 99 833 2.1 94
Hong Kong 363 1.3 118 395 1.5 109
Rest of Greater China 68 13 112 91 3.2 65
South and Southeast Asia 112 2.5 19 131 3.7 98
Rest of the world 106 1.6 109 191 37 65
Total non-performing loans 1.460 1.7 106 1,691 2.1 93
Debt securities 36 - 223 130 - 99
Contingent liabilities 37 - 327 44 - 227
Total non-performing assets 1,533 - 15 1,865 - 97
By business unit

Consumer Banking 307 1.0 127 344 1.2 118
Enterprise Banking 691 34 76 691 36 68
Corporate and Investment Banking 396 1.2 131 573 2.2 92
Others 66 1.4 185 83 1.5 196
Total non-performing loans 1,460 17 106 1,691 2.1 93
Debt securities 36 - 223 130 - 99
Contingent liabilities 37 - 327 44 - 227
Jotal non-performing assets 1,533 - 115 1,865 - 97
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Non-performing loans (NPLs) fell to $1,46C million from $1.691
million even as loan volumes expanded. As a percentage of
foans, the NPL rate declined from 2.1% to 1.7%. NPL rates for all
geographical and busiress segments improved.

Including debt securities and contingent liabilities, the amount of
non-performing assets fell from $1,865 million to $1,533 mitlien,
27% of which were still current and were classified for prudential
reasons.

Overall loss allowance coverage increased from 97% to 115% of
total non-performing assets. As a percentage of non-performing
loans only, allowance coverage rose from 93% to 106%. Slighthy
more than half of all non-performing assets were secured against
collateral.

($m) 2006 2005
Unsecured non-performing assets 740 911

Secured non-performing assets by collateral type

Properties 556 675
Shares and debentures 46 68
Fixed deposits 38 36
Others 153 175
Total non-performing assets 1.533 1,865
FUNDING SQURCES

($m} 2006 2005 % chg
Customer deposits" 131,373 116,884 12

Interbank liabilities 8,537 8,959 (5)
Other borrowings and liabilities 38,787 37,637 3
Shareholders' funds 18,675 16,724 12

Total 197,372 180,204 10

(1) Includes financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Total funding rose 10% to $197,372 million. The increase was
largely due to customer deposits, which grew 12%.

Singapore dallar depaosits increased 11% to $71,242 million.
DBS' market share for total Singapore dollar deposits was 26%
compared to 29% in 2005. DBS retained its leadership in savings
deposits. In line with industry trends, the proportion of fixed

38 Management Discussion & Analysis

deposits increased and savings deposits declined as customers
sought higher yields in a rising interest rate environment.

In Hong Kong, DBS’ market share of total depaosits was stable
at 4%. The proportion of savings and fixed deposits was litile
changed.
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CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS

(sm) 2006 2005
Tier 1

Share capital 4,042 3,861
Disclosed reserves and others 16,556 15,080
Less: Goodwill (5,840) (5,823}
Total 14,758 13,118
Tier 2

Cumulative general allowances 1,033 963
Subordinated debts 5,038 4,222
Others 103 13
Total 6,174 5,198
Total capital 20,932 18,316
Risk-weighted assets 144,086 123,847

Based on regulatory guidelines, the total capital adequacy ratio
was little changed at 14.5%. The Tier 1 ratio declined from
10.6% t0 10.2%.

VALUATION SURPLUS

During the year, the Group issued US$900 million and S$500
million of Tier 2 subordinated debt, which was partially offset by
the amortisation of U3$420 million of existing Tier 2 subordinated

debt. The Tier 2 ratio rose slightly to 4.3%.

{$m} 2006 2005
Properties 3N 416
Financial investments 1 25
Total 382 441

The amount of unrealised valuation surpluses, which amounted
to $382 million, fell as part of the valuation surplus for properties

was written back to the balance sheet as market valuations
improved.
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Corporate Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

DBS considers good corparate governance to be the cornerstone
of a well-managed organisation. Good corporate governance
goes beyond the cutpul of transparent, timely and full financial
disclosures to a gamut of decisions and structures manifested by
board composition, decision-making powers, internal governance
to instilling the right corporate culture across the organisation.
DBS aspires to the highest standards of corporate governance,
starting with the Board of Direclors and continuing throughout
the organisation. The promotion of <orporate transparency,
fairness and accountability is led by a highly qualified independent
Board accountable to shareholders, aided by & seasoned and
experienced management team.

DBS s guided in its corporate governance practices by the Code
of Corporate Governance {“the Code") issued by the Singapore
Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance and the Banking
(Corporate Governance) Reguiations issued by the Monetary
Authority of Singapore ("the MAS regulations®).

BOARD GOVERNANCE

Board composition

The present hoard size of 12 members is appropriate for the
current size of DBS Group and the scope of its operations.

The current size allows for efficiency and encourages active
dialogue among its members; however there is room to increase
by one or two to accommadate the availability of an outstanding
candidate or the Board's changing needs and circumstances,

Board appointment and independence

D8S has reviewed its policy of appainting directors for a maximum
of three two-year terms and considers that the Group's interests
would be better served by moving to a maximum of three three-
year terms, The longer period will ensure that the Group can
continue to draw on the knowledge, experience and expertise of
some of our longer-standing directors.

The existing procedure of directors retiring by rotation and re-
election of directors by shareholders at the annual general
meeting remains. At the same time, direciors may serve on the
Board uniil the age of 70 and once attained, will require
shareholders’ approval to serve every year thereafter.

Selection and qualification of Board members

The Board's Neminating Committee {NC) reviews and recommends
all director appointments. The candidates’ qualifications and
experience are benchmarked against the criteria set out in
statutory regulations and in DBS’ Articles of Association to help the
NC make an assessment of the candidates’ suitability and potential
contribution to the Group. Any candidate considered by the NC
must have extensive experience and hold senior positions, whether
in the public or private sector, and must have built a reputation
that demonstrates the ability to contribute to discussions and to
make decisions at board level. At the same time, the candidate
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must have demonstrated that he or she is committed to the
highest ethical standards. The NC ensures that the compaosition of
the Board comprises a diverse range of industry expertise and
experience that management can benefit from.

The current Board includes industry captains drawn from a wide
range of sectars within and outside banking, as well as the pubiic
sector. Of the 12-member board, seven are Singapore citizens or
permanent residents, and five are non-Singaporeans.

The NC assesses the independence of the directors based on criteria
set out in the MAS regulations and the Code. The NC considers a
director independent if he is not related to a substantial shareholder
or to senior management, and if he does not have significant
business relationships with companies in the DBS Group.

Seven directors — Mr Ang Kong Hua, Mr Andrew Buxton, Mr Goh
Geok Ling, Mr Leurg Chun Ying, Mr Narayana Murthy, Mr John
Ross and Mr Wong Ngit Liong (Mr NL Wang) - are considered
independent by the NC.

Mr Ang, Mr Buxton, Mr Goh, Mr Leung, Mr Murthy and Mr NL
Wong are directors of companies that engage in business
dealings with the Group. However, the NC has determined

that the nature and scope of the business relationships do

not undermine the independence of these directors. Mr Ang,

Mr Buxton, Mr Goh and Mr Leung are also directors of
companies linked to Temasek Holdings, DBS’ substantial
shareholder. Their appointments are non-executive in nature

and they are not involved in the day-to-day conduct of these
companies’ businesses. The NC has therefore determined that
their independence is not compromised by their directorships in
these Temasek-linked companies. Mr Ross is not a director of any
company having business dealings with the DBS Group. Neither is
he a director of any Temasek-linked companies,

The other five directors (Mr Jackson Tai, Mr Frank Wong, Mr Koh
Boon Hwee, Mr Kwa Chong Seng and Mr Peter Ong) are considered
by the NC to be non-independent under the MAS regulations.

Mr Tai and Mr Frank Wong are executive directors. Mr Koh and

Mr Kwa are non-executive directors of Temasek Holdings. Mr Ong is
a senior civil servant in the Singapore government which is Temasek’s
ultimate owner,

Separation of the role of the Chairman and the

Chief Executive Officer

In DBS, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (CEOY)
positions are held by separate individuals. The responsibilities of
the Chairman and the CEO have been formalised by the Board.

The Chairman manages and leads the Board in its oversight over
management. He ensures that there are active and comprehensive
discussions an matters brought up to the Board, and steers the
Board in making sound decisions. Members of the Board have free
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access to management and vice versa. Members of the Group
Management Committee, the highest management decision-
making body in the Group, are also invited to attend all Board
meetings except those sessions involving only the non-executive
Board members. At annual general meetings and other forums,
the Chairman plays a pivotal rofe in fostering constructive
dialogue between shareholders, the Board and management.
Shareholders' questions and concerns are adequately attended to
and addressed at the annual general meetings.

The CEO heads the Group Management Committee. He oversees
the execution of the Group's corporate and business strategy, and
is ultimately responsible for managing its day-to-day operations.

Board respansibilities and accountability
The Board is responsible for setting the strategic vision, direction,
and leng-term goals of the Group.

It is responsible for the selection, appointment and annual
appraisal of the CEQ and other key senior executives and ensuring
that & succession and development plan for all key positions s in
place to prepare for contingencies, as well as to facilitate a
smooth management transition.

Matters that require Board approval include the Group's annual

budget and strategic three-year plan, strategic acquisitions and

divestments, fund-raising exercises, the Group's risk governance
framewark and limits and any major decisions that may have an
impact on the Group's reputation.

The Board emphasises professicnalism, integrity and honesty as
being key to the Group's image and reputation. These core values
and principles which all DBS staff must adhere to are set out in

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

the DBS Staff Code of Conduct and govern all dealings by DBS
staff with internal and external counterparts.

Board meetings and attendance

Five scheduled Board meetings are conducted a year. At these
meetings, the Board reviews the Group's financial performance,
corporate strategy, business plans, potential strategic acquisitions
or alliances, strategic or significant operaticonal issues and
significant matters attended to by Board committees. The Board
also reviews the Group's fong term corporate strategy and
business plans, including principal issues and challenges that the
Group may face in the future in at least one of the Board
meetings during the year. In addition to the scheduled meetings,
ad hoc meetings are also held when necessary.

When exigencies prevent a Board member from attending
meetings in person, he can participate by tele- or video-
conference. Board approval for less critical matters may be
obtained through written resolutions approved by circulation.

In 2006, the Board held one meeting in Hong Kong, underscoring
the growing significance of the Group’s Hong Kong franchise, and
the Group's commitment to Greater China, as a key priority
market for growth.

Board directors attend the annual general meeting, Board
meetings and meetings of the sub-committees on which they
serve, and they spend the time needed to properly discharge their
responsibilities. Materials and information imporiant to the
understanding of the matters to be reviewed during the meetings
are distributed to the directors in advance of the said meetings to
provide sufficient time for the directors to prepare.

Board Risk Board Board Strateqgy Compensation
Audit Management  Credit and Planning  Nominating and Management
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Development
Name of Director Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Committee
(Board) {AQ) {BRMC) (BCC) {BSPC} {NQ) Meetings (CMDC)

Na. of Meetings
held@ Attendance

No. of Meetings
held@ Attendance

No. of Meetings
held@ Attendance

No. of Meetings
held@ Attendance

No. of Meetings
held@ Attendance

No. of Meetings
held*@ Attendance

No. of Meetings
held@ Attendance

Koh Boon Hwee 6 6 - - 4 4
lack‘svor; Tair o - -6 - g - - -
F_rani( W(-)ng-; i - _ N 7

Kwong Shing 6 6 - - - -
;\:g-kong |-Iu; 7 .——--6 o 4 - 5 - 5" 7 4 4
Andrew Buitén - 6 4 - - 3 1

{Appoirted on 17 Feb 06
{Board), 3 Apr 06 (BRMC))

Goh Geok Ling 6 6 5 5 - -

9 4 4 a 0 0 3 3
9 9 4 A - - - -
9 6 4 a4 - - - -
- — - - 0 0 - -
9 8 4 3 - - 3 3

@ the number of meetings held during the period the director was a member of the Board andfor relevant Committee
*  There were 7 matters deliberated and approved via circular resolutions.
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS (CONT'D)

Board Risk Board Board Strategy Compensation
Audit Management  Credit and Planning  Nominating and Management
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Development
Name of Director Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Committee
{Board) (AC) {BRMC) (BCQ) (BSPC) (NC) Meetings (CMDC)

No. of Meetings Nao. of Meetings

No. of Meetings
held@ Attendance held@ Attendance held@ Attendance held@ Attendance

No. of Meetings No_of Meetings No. of Meetings
held@ Attendance held*@ Attendance held® Atterdance

No. of Meetings

Kwa Chong Seng 6 5 - - 4 4
Leung Chun Ying 6 5 - - T _
Nar_ayana—Murthy 6 7 4— . T -
PeterOngBoonkwee 6 5 5 5 4 4
John Alan'Ross" o 6 47ﬁ I 4 - 2
Wong Ngit Lior;g 6 S- - - .

@ the number of meetings held during the period the director was a

*

Board training and information access

Directors undergo comprehensive orientation and training
programmes. A new director, on appointiment, is briefed and
provided with written quidance on a director’s role and
responsibilities. The new director is also briefed by the CEQ and
business and support unit heads on the Group's operations,

Management ensures that the Board receives regular reports
on the Group’s financial performance and operations, and that
the Board is provided with relevant information and
comprehensive analysis to facilitate discussions on specific
matters and issues. The Board is also regularly briefed on
accounting and regulatory changes, as well as major industry
and market developments. Training courses were conducted
for the Audit Committee on mare complex issues pertaining
10 Business Combinations, Intangible Assets and Impairment.
The Audit Committee was also updated on the changes to

the Financial Instruments measurement standard as well as the
new FRS 107 on Financial Instrument disclosures. Training
courses for the Board Risk Management Committee were
conducted on Basel I| Credit Risk, the Itegrated Risk
Framework, as wel as the Economic Capital Framework.

Each business and support unit head certifies to the CEQ and the
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) every quarter that, as far as he is
aware, there are no circumstances that would render the Group’s
financial statements misleading. The CEQ and CFO in turn provide
an official undertaking to the Audit Committee and to the
external auditors, Ernst & Young, confirming that the financial
statements have been properly drawn up.
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9 5 4 4 - - 3 3

- - - - 0 0 3 2

- - - - 0 0 3 2

- T Tl T o 0o 3 2
member of the Board and/or refevant Comemi ttee

There were 7 matters deliberated and approved wa circular resolutions.

Directors have unrestricted access to alf DBS employees. The Board
has the power to engage outside expert advice from sources
independent of management at the expense of the Group.

The Company Secretary attends Board meetings and ensures that
all relevant regulations and established procedures regarding the
cenduct of the Board are complied with,

Board performance
A process is in place to assess the performance and effectiveness
of the Board as a whole and of each individual director.

For the collective appraisal, each director assesses the Board's
performance and provides feedback to the Chairman of the Board
and the Chairman of the Nominating Committee. Both chairmen
consclidate the feedback and present the results to the Board
annually. The Board has found the collective assessment useful in
evaluating its own effectiveness, as directors have provided
constructive suggestions for improvermnent.

Currently, the Board's performance is judged on the basis of
accountability for the Group's operations as a whole, rather
than solely on financial criteria such as return on equity or
return on assets.

For individual assessments, each director is evaluated on the basis
of his attendance at meetings and contribution to Board
discussions. Each director completes a self and peer evaluation
form, which is seen only by the Chairman of the Board. The results
of a director's appraisal are communicated to him when feedback
indicates that his contribution to the Board could be enhanced.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established six committees to enhance its
effectiveness. Each committee has its terms of reference which set
forth the responsibilities of that committee and the qualifications
for committee membership, in line with the Code and the MAS
regulations. The Board and each committee have the power to
hire any independent legal, financial or other advisors as they
deem necessary.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises Mr Ang (Chairman), Mr Goh and
Mr Ong, all non-executive Directors.

The Committee reviews the Group’s financial statements before
submission to the Board. The Committee is briefed on significant
changes to accounting standards and policies and its impact on
the Group's reported results. The Committee also assesses the
effactiveness of the Group's internal controls and procedures.

The Group's external auditors are accountable to the Committee.
The external auditors present their audit plan of the Group, their
evaluation of the Group's internal accounting controls and their
long form audit report to the Committee for approval. The terms
of the external auditors” appointment, their effectiveness,
independence and objectivity, and the amount of nen-audit
services provided during the year, are reviewed by the Committee.

The heads of Group Audit and Group Legal, Compliance and
Secretariat as well as the Group's external auditors attend all
commitiee meetings. The Committee alse holds a separate session
with the external auditors without the presence of management
at each committee meeting.

The Committee has reviewed the financial statements with
management and the external auditors and is of the view that the
Group’s financial statements for 2006 are presented in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles in all materiat aspects.

The Committee has considered the business relationship between
the Group and the external auditors for 2006, taking into account
the amount of non-audit services provided. The Committee is
satisfied that the nature and extent of such services have not
prejudiced the external auditors’ objectivity and that they can be
considered independent.

The Committee also performs an annual assessment of the
effectiveness of the Group’s Internal Audit function and ensures
that Internal Audit has adequate resources to fulfill its mandate.

Board Credit Committee

The Board Credit Committee comprises Mr Koh (Chairman),

Mr Tai, Mr Frank Wong, Mr Goh and Mr Kwa. All credit exposures
exceeding the limit delegated by the Board to management are
approved by this Committee,

Board Strategy and Planning Cornmittee

The composition of the Board Strategy and Planning Committee is
the same as the Board Credit Committee. This Committee serves
as a forum where members deliberate on strategic matters,
including potential mergers and acquisitions, alliances and fund-
raising exercises, before these matters are raised to the Board for
discussion or approval.

Board Risk Management Committee
The Board Risk Management Committee comprises Mr Kwa
(Chairman), Mr Ang, Mr Buxton, Mr Koh, Mr Ong and Mr Ross.

The Committee is responsible for oversight of risk governance, risk
framewaork and limits for the Group. It approves the overall risk
governance framework as well as the framework for credit,
market and operational risks, including the applicable limits.

The Committee also monitors the Group’s risk profile, including
risk trends and concentrations. The Committee is responsible for
carrying out specific responsibilities, including approving certain
policies, in accordance with regulatory requirements. During the
year, the Committee approved the material aspects of the Internal
Ratings Based Approach under Basel I, and reviewed the results of
independent reviews of the Bank’s internal rating systems.

Compensation and Management Development Committee
The Compensation Committee comprises Mr Kwa (Chairman),
Mr Goh, Mr Koh, Mr Leung, Mr Murthy and Mr NL Wong.

The Committee reviews and approves the remuneration of each
executive director, and the annual aggregate, performance-
related cash bonuses and share grants for DBS employees. It also
provides oversight on the remuneration of senior executives and
oversees the management development and succession planning
for key positions.

In 20086, the Committee finalised the Group compensation
philosophy and the overall framework. With the compensation
philosophy and framework broadly in place, the Committee
intends to balance its focus between compensation and people
development with the aim of building a talent pipeline for the
future. To better reflect the role of the Committee, the Committee
has been re-named as the Compensation and Management
Development Committee.

Nominating Committee
The Nominating Committee comprises Mr Leung {Chairman),
Mr Ang, Mr Koh, Mr Murthy and Mr NL Wong.

Details of the terms of reference of the Committee are discussed in
the section under “Selection and qualification of Board members”
above, In addition to reviewing board appointments, the Committee
also approves the appointments of business and support unit heads
and senior positions in major subsidiaries. The Committee also reviews
appeintments to the Group Management Committee.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS

Remuneration policy

The Group's remuneration policy is built on a transparent appraisal
system and formulated to drive performance of its employees,
who are its most important asset. The remuneration policy is
therefore fundamental to achieving the Group’s corporate goals.

Employees’ remuneration

Employees’ remuneration is based on total compensation. An
employee’s total compensation is benchmarked to the market and
consists of three components: fixed pay, cash bonuses and long-
term incentives. Each companent plays a distinct role in the
makeup of the total compensation package. The long-term
incentives are share grants and share options.

The Group’s approach to rewarding employees not only helps to
attract, retain and motivate talented employees but also fosters a
performance-oriented culture across the organisation that will
help attain the Group’s financial objectives,

Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration for executive directors and fees for non-
executive directors reflect the scope and extent of a director's
responsibilities and obligations. They are measured against
industry benchmarks and are competitive.

Remuneration of Non-executive Directors
Directors receive basic directors’ fees. Additional fees are given to
members of certain Board committees.

Directors are encouraged to invest half of their fees in DBSH
shares and to hold not less than 50% of these shares for the
duration of their terms. Directors’ fees are approved by
shareholders at the annual general meeting.

The current fee structure is set out below. An increase in the
basic retainer paid to Directors is being proposed to bring it more
in line with market norms, The Audit Committee Chairman and
Audit Committee member fees are also being increased to reflect
the increasingly onerous obligations being imposed on the Audit
Committee. All increases are subject to shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Annual fees for the Board

Current New
Board Chairman: $85,000 $105,000
Director: $50,000 $70,000
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Additional fees for membership in board commitiees
Committee Committee

Chairman Chairman  Member Member
Committee {Current) {New} (Current) {New)
Audit Committee $35,000 $50,000 $20,000 $35,000
Board Risk
Management
Committee $35,000 Nochange $20,000 No change

Board Credit
Committee/Board
Strategy and
Planning
Committee

Compensation and
Management
Development
Committee

Nominating
Committee

$35,000 Mo change $20,000 No change

$35,000 Nochange $20,000 No change

$17,500 Nochange $10,000 Mo change

Remuneration of Executive Directors

Certain principles are adopted by the Compensation and
Management Development Committee in determining the
remuneration for executive directors. Principally, the remuneration
should motivate the executive directors to achieve the Group's
annual and long-term goals to ensure that they are aligned with
shareholders’ interests. Performance-related elements therefore
form a significant part of executive directors’ total remuneration.
The Board endorses the Compensation and Management
Development Committee’s recommendation for each executive
director’s remuneration.

Executive directors are appointed under standard employment
terms which include provisions for basic salary and performance
bonus, There is no special provision for early termination of services.

Breakdown of Directors’ remuneration

The following table shows the composition of directors’
remuneration for 2006, Directors who were appointed or who
resigned or retired during the year are included in the table.
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BREAKDOWN OF DBSH DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION FOR PERFORMANCE YEAR 2006 (1 JAN 2006 - 31 DEC 2006}

Cash Sharet® Directors’ Total
Remuneration Bands Salary Bonus? Plan Fees Others Remuneration
% % % % % %
$7,500,000 - $7,749,999
Jackson Tai 24 32 39 1@ 4 100
Frank Wong Kwong Shing 13 37 44 @ 5 100
Below $250,000
Kah Boon Hwee - - - 84 16 100
Ang Kong Hua - - - 100 - 100
Andrew Buxton® - - - 100 - 100
Goh Geok Ling - - - 100 - 100
Kwa Chong Seng - - - 100 - 100
Leung Chun Ying - - - 100 - 100
Narayana Murthy - - - 100 - 100
Peter Ong Boon Kwee - - - 100 - 100
John Alan Ross - - - 100 - 100
Wong Ngit Liong - - - 100 - 100

(1} Refers to remuneration payable for performance in 2006 — includes fixed pay in 2006, cash bonus received in February 2007 as well as shares

granted in 2007

(2) Based on amount accrued in 2006 financial statements. Amount finalised, approved and paid in 2007. As reference,
Mr Jacksan Tai's remuneration for performance year 2005 was in the range of 35,750,000 - §5,998,9399 which comprised the following:
Salary = 33%, Cash Bonus = 31%, Share Plan = 31%, Directors’ Fees = 1%, Others = 4%
Mr Frank Wong's remuneration for performance year 2005 was in the range of $5,500,000 — $5,748,99% which cornprised the following:
Salary = 18%, Cash Bonus = 38%, Share Plan = 38%, Directors” Fees = 1%, Others = 5%

(3) Refers to the estimated value of DBSH shares issued in 2007. This forms part of the variable performance bonus

{4) Fees are not retained by directors
(5} Appointed on 17 February 2006

Key executives’ remuneration

Although the Code recommends that at least the top five key
executives’ remuneration be disclosed within bands of $250,000,
the Board believes such disclosure would be disadvantageous

to the Group’s business interests, given the highly competitive
conditions in the banking industry where poaching of executives
is commonplace.

Long-term share incentives — DBSH Share Plan, Share Option
Plan and Share Ownership Scheme

As the Group seeks to foster a culture that aligns the interests of
employees with those of shareholders, it has put in place share-
based pians for employees. These plans allow employees to share
in the Group's growth and success. There are three plans — the
DBSH Share Plan {“Share Plan”, previously known as the DBSH
Performance Share Plan}, the DBSH Share Option Plan {“SOP")
and the DBSH Share Ownership Scheme (“SOS™).

Employees holding the corporate rank of Managing Director,
Senior Vice President and Vice President are eligible to participate
in the Share Plan and SOP.

Rewards made under the Share Plan and SOP form part of an
employee’s annual performance remuneration, which also includes
cash bonuses. The portion of the performance remuneration paid
in shares increases with the amount of the performance
remuneration.

There are vesting periods for the Share Plan and SOP. The number
of shares eventually awarded upon vesting under the Share Plan is
based on DBS Group's performance for a three-year performance
period as measured by the Group’s return on eqguity. The
aggregate total number of new DBSH ordinary shares that may be
issued under the Share Plan and S0P at any time may not exceed
7.5% of the issued ordinary shares of DBSH.

Shareholders approved granting time-based awards under the
Share Plan at the annual general meeting held in 2006. Such
awards operate like restricted share awards and will vest only
after an employee completes a satisfactory period of service to
the Group. These awards will be granted in 2007 as part of
employees’ deterred bonuses, as based on the Group's overall
performance and the individual’s past performance. The allocation
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of such awards will be linked to performance metrics designed
to deliver shareholder value. Details of the Share Plan and SOP
appear in pages 111 10113 of the Directors’ Report.

Employees who are not eligible for the Share Plan or SOP are
eligible to participate in the SOS. The SOS is a market purchase

Share Options Issued

plan administered by DBS Trustee Lid, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of DBS Bank. Under the SOS, all confirmed employees with at
least one year of service can subscribe up to 10% of their monthly
base pay to buy units of DBSH ordinary shares, with DBS
contributing an additional 50% of the amount the employee
contributes.

In compliance with listing requirements, the following participants in the SOP received the following number of options;

Options granted
during financial year

Name of participant* under review

Aggregate options Aggregate options

granted since exercised since Aggregate
commencement commencement options outstanding
of Plan to end of Plan to end as at end of

financial year
under review

of financial year
under review

of financial year
under review

Jackson Tai (Director) Nil
Frank Wong Kwang Shing (Director) Nil

440,175 0
448,050 0

440,175
448,050

" DBSH has no controlling sharehalders and no disclosure is made in this respect

No further share options were issued by the Group in 2006.

The aggregate number of options granted to the directors and
the employees of the DBS Group since the commencement of
the SOP till the end of 2006 is 62,796,690.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has procedures to comply with existing regulations
governing related party transactions for banks and listed
companies. These regulations include the Banking Act, MAS
directives and the guidelines on interested person transactions in

Credit facilities

the SGX Listing Manual. New directors are briefed on the relevant
provisions that they need to comply with. If necessary, existing
credit facilities to related parties are adjusted prior to a director’s
appointment, and all credit facilities to related parties are
monitored on an on-going basis.

The Group has granted credit facilities to the following related
parties in the ordinary course of business on normal terms and
conditions. The outstanding amounts of these credit facilities
and the estimated values of collaterals as at 31 December 2006
are as follows:

Estimated value

Contingent credit Deposits received

(In § millions) granted to facilities granted to of collaterals by DB5H Group
Granted to/received from:;
DBSH Directors and their related entities 27 # 121 -
Companies with DBSH Directors

represented on their boards 62 70 - -
Bank-related companiest
- engaged in financial activities 1,463 3 1,696 1,820
- engaged in non-financial activities 276 65 414 3

Notes:

(1) Excludes transactions between subsidiary companies and their own subsidiary companies.

#  Amount under $500,000
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As required under the SGX Listing Manual, the following are
details of interested person transactions in 2006:

Aggregate value of all Interested
Person Transactions during 2006

Name of Interested Person  {excluding transactions less than $100,000)

CISCO Security Pte Ltd

Branch cash delivery, collection and

processing services, self-service banking

cash services, static armed guard services, renovation
projects and maintaining of security equipment

$21,761,619

National Computer Systems Pte Ltd $1,993171
System suppert/maintenance and other

IT related services

NETS
Credit card and ATM card personalisation

$360,000

Singapore Airlines Ltd $4,736,452

Air tickets

Singapore Computer Systems Ltd $4,014,936
Procurement operations, document
management, imaging and sterage

and other services

Singapore Telecommunications Ltd $13,000,000

Subscription for usage-based telecom services

SNP Sprint Pte Ltd $1,669,736
Personalisation/despatch of cheque books

and security documents printing

CapitaLand Limited $665,111
New and renewal of leases for branch

premises/ATMs

HSBC Institutional Trust Service
(Singapore) Limited as Trustee of
CapitaMall Trust

New and renewal of leases for branch premises

$6,177,827

HarbourFront Centre Pte Ltd

{a subsidiary of Mapletree

Investments Pte Ltd)

New and renewal of leases for branch premises

$3,120,630

SMRT Trains Ltd
Renewal of leases for branch premises/ATMs

$616,150

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

DBS has adopted more stringent “black-out” policies than
prescribed under the Best Practices Guide issued by the SGX.

DBS employees are prohibited from trading in DBS shares and
securities one month before the release of the half-year and full-
year results and three weeks before the release of the first quarter
and third quarter results. In addition, directors and employees are
prohibited at all times from trading if they are in possession of
material non-public information. Employees with access to price-
sensitive information in the course of their duties must obtain
prior approval to trade in any securities listed in Singapore and
Hong Kong. Such employees are also instructed to trade through
the Group’s stockbroking subsidiaries. In addition, business units
and subsidiaries engaging in proprietary trading and discretionary
trading of securities on behalf of customers are restricted from
trading in DBS securities during the black-cut period.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Dissemination of information

The Group maintains an active dialogue with shareholders.

It holds in-person briefing sessions or telephone conference calls
with the media and analysts when quarterly results are released.
All press statements and quarterly financial statements are
published on the DBS and SGX websites. A dedicated investor
relations team supports the CEO and CFO in maintaining a close
dialogue with institutional investors.

During the year, management met more than 200 local and
foreign investors in more than 200 meetings. Management also
participated in five non-deal investor conferences and road shows
comprising two to the US and one each in Europe, Hong Kong
and Singapore.

The Group embraces and commits to fair, transparent and timely
disclosure policy and practices. All price-sensitive information or
data are publicly released, prior t individual sessions held with
investors or analysts.

Shareholder meetings

The Group views the annual general meeting as an opportune
forum for retail investors to meet the Board and senior
management. The CFO presents the Group’s preceding year's
financial performance to all shareholders present ahead of formal
proceedings of the meeting. The Group's external auditors are also
available to answer shareholders’ queries.

In accordance with the recommendations of the Code of
Corporate Governance, resolutions requiring shareholder approval
are tabled separately for adoption at the AGM unless the matters
for consideration are closely related and would more appropriately
be considered together.
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INTERNAL AUDIT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Internal Audit

Group Audit is an independent function that reports directly to
the Audit Committee and the CEQ. Group Audit meets or exceeds
the Standards for Professional Practice of the Institute of Internal
Auditors in all key aspects, The professional competence of the
Group’s internal auditors is maintained or upgraded through
training prograrmmes, conferences and seminars that provide
updates on auditing techniques, requlations and banking preducts
and services.

An annual audit plan is developed under a structured risk
assessment approach that examines all of the Group's activities and
entities, their inherent risks and internal controls, Audit assignments
are identified based on this approach and audit resources are
focused on the activities deemed to carry higher risks.

The progress of corrective actions on outstanding audit issues is
monitored monthly through a centralised Group-wide tracking
system. Information on outstanding issues is categorised
according to severity and monthly reports are sent to the Audit
Committee Chairman, the Chairman of the Board, senior
management and all Group heads.

All audit reports which are rated as requiring attention are copied
to the Audit Committee, the external auditors and senior
management. The regulators are also apprised of all relevant audit
matters and may request for further information on audit matters
at any time.

The head of Group Audit is Edmund ! Larkin, who has more than
20 years of experience in internal audit, risk management and
operations with global financial institutions and public accounting
firms. Mr Larkin has full access to the Audit Committee and senior
management, and his appointment is approved by the Committee.

Group Audit works closely with the external auditors and meets
them regularly to discuss matters of mutual interest, to strengthen
working relationships and to co-ordinate audit efforts. The
external auditors review the effectiveness of the Groups internal
controls and risk management during an annual statutory audit,
Material non-compliance with established practices and
procedures and regulations, as well as internal control weaknesses
noted during the audit, tegether with recommendations, are
reported to the Audit Committee, which ensures that high-risk
outstanding issues are dealt with in a timely manner,
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Internal controls

A sound system of internal controls requires a defined
organisational and policy framework. The Group has a
management framework that clearly defines the roles,
responsibilities and reporting lines of business and support units.
The delegation of authority, control processes and operaticnal
procedures are documented and disseminated to staff. The Group
Audit, Group Risk and Group Legal, Compliance and Secretartat
functions provide independent oversight over controls and risks
within the Group.

The Audit Committee and the Board Risk Management
Committee have reviewed the adequacy of DBS’ control
environment. The Board believes that the system of internal
controls in place up to the date of this report, is adequate for the
current business scope and operations of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT APPROACH AND RISK PROFILE

The Group sees strong risk management capabilities as vital to the
success of a well-managed bank. The Group Risk Management
function is the central resource for driving such capabilities in DBS,
and it complements the risk and control activities of other
functions including Group Audit and Group Legal, Compliance
and Secretariat. More on risk management can be found in the
folfowing section.
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Risk Management Approach and Risk Prctile

APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT

Strong risk management capabilities are critical to the financial
soundness of DBS. The key components of DBS’ risk management
approach are: strong risk governance; robust and comprehensive
processes to identify, measure, control, monitor and report risks;
sound assessments of capital adeguacy relative to risks; and a
rigorous system of internal control reviews, involving internal and
external auditors, as well as reviews and inspections by prudential
supervision authorities.

RISK GOVERNANCE

The Group has implemented a framework to give greater
clarity, focus and consistency across different risk areas in the
governance of risks. Under the DBS Integrated Risk Framework,
the Board of Directors, through the Board Risk Management
Committee, oversees ihe establishment of a robust enterprise-
wide risk management system and will progressively set

risk appetite limits to guide risk-taking within the Group.
Management is accountable to the Board for ensuring effective
risk management activities and adherence to the risk appetite
limits. In this regard, various seniar management risk committees
provide oversight and forums for discussions on specific risk
areas, including Credit Risk, Market Risk, Liquidity Risk and
Operational Risk. The committees are the Business Support and
Controls Commitiee, the Group Market Risk Committee, the
Group Credit Risk Committee, the Group Asset and Liability
Committee, the Group Operational Risk Commiitee and the
Group Commitments and Conflicts Committee.

Business units have primary responsibility for managing specific
risk exposures. Group Risk Management is the central resource
for quantifying and managing the portfolio of risks taken by
the Group as a whole. Group Risk Management performs the
following roles:

+ Develops and implements effective risk and economic capital
adequacy assessment frameworks, policies and methedologies

+ Develops and implements an infrastructure that will support
DBS' risk management activities

«  Recormmends risk appetite and control limits, in line with the
risk governance framework

e  Provides senior management and Board with independent
and timely assessment of the aggregate risk profile concerning
significant risk concentrations, portfolic composition and quality

* Identifies opportunities to optimise risk-based return on capital

DBS Group has implemented policies and procedures ko identify,
measure, analyse and control risk across the firm. A governance
framework has been established to provide a disciplined,
cansistent and tiered approach in the approval of the various

risk frameworks/ policies/ procedures throughout the DBS
organisation. The framework comprises four levels: Level 1 policies
are Board-level approved firm-wide risk frameworks; Level 2
policies are minimum corporate-level and subject-specific risk

principles and standards; Level 3 policies are business or location-
specific in nature; and Level 4 procedures underlie and support
the policy implementation. These policies and procedures rely on
constant communication, judgment, knowledge of products and
markets, and controls by business and support units.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the potential earnings volatility caused by obligors’
inability and/or unwillingness to fulfill their contractual debt
obligations. Exposure 1o credit risks arises primarily frorm lending
activities and also from sales and trading activities, derivatives
activities and from participation in payment transactions and
securities settlements. Credit exposure includes current as

well as potential credit exposure. Current credit exposure is
represented by the notional value or principal amount of on-
balance sheet financial instruments and off-balance sheet direct
credit substitutes, and by the positive market value of derivative
instruments. DBS Group also estimates the potential credit
exposure over the remaining term of transactions. At DBS Group,
a disciplined credit risk management process integrates risk
management into the business management processes, while
preserving the independence and integrity of risk assessment.

An enterprise-wide Core Credit Risk Policy sets forth the principles
by which the Bank and its subsidiaries conduct their credit

risk management activities. It ensures credit fisk underwriting
consistency across the Group, and provides guidance o various
credit management units in the formulation of supplementary
credit policies specific to their businesses.

The Group Credit Risk Commitiee serves as an executive forum
for discussion and decisions on all aspects of credit risk and its
management including the assessment of credit risk taking and
adherence to limits, policies, exceptions and other processes;
the assessment of the risk-return tradeoffs across the Group;
the identification, measurement and monitoring of DBS' credit
risk portfolio, including special loan and asset review situations,
specific credit concentrations and credit trends affecting the
portfolio; as well as recommendation of credit limits and credit
policy at the sector, business and country levels. It will also oversee
the ongoing monitoring of various aspects of credit risks within
the Basel Il framework,

Individual corporate credit risks are analysed and approved by
experienced credit officers who consider a number of factors in
the identification and assessment of credit risk. Each borrower is
assigned a rating under the Countesparty Risk Rating process.

For large corporate borrowers, the rating is based on the
assessment of all relevant factors including the borrower’s financial
condition and outlook, industry and economic conditions, market
position, access to capital, and management strength. The
Counterparty Risk Rating assigned to smaller business borrowers is
primarily based on the borrower's financial position and strength,
which are assessed via the use of a validated quantitative tool.
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All ratings are reviewed at least annually and more frequently
when conditions warrant. The Counterparty Risk Rating process

is further enhanced by the Facility Risk Rating System which

takes into consideration facitity specific considerations such as
credit structuring, collateral, third party guarantees and transfer
risks. These credit risk-rating tools are used to assess the credit
quality of the portfolio, so that deteriorating exposures are quickly
identified and appropriate remedial action can be taken.

Consumer credit risk is managed on a portfolio basis, Business-
specific credit risk policies and procedures including undenwriting
criteria, scoring models, approving authorities, regular asset
quality review and business strategy review as well as systems,
processes and techniques to monitor portfolio performance
against benchmarks are in place. Risk models are being used for
secured loans to update risk level of each loan on a monthly basis,
putting Basel l management principles 1o daily usage and for
regular portfolio quality reviews.

The credit control functions ensure that credit risks are being
taken and maintained in compliance with group-wide credit
policies and guidelines. These functions ensure proper activation
of approved limits, appropriate endorsement of excesses and
policy exceptions, and also monitor compliance with credit
standards and/or credit covenants established by management
and/or regulators.

An independent Credit Risk Review team conducts regular reviews
of credit exposures and judgmental credit risk management
processes. It also conducts independent validation of internal
credit risk rating processes on an annual basis. These reviews
provide senior management with objective and timely assessments
of the effectiveness of credit risk management practices and
ensure group-wide policies, internal rating models and guidelines
are being adopted consistently across different business units
including relevant subsidiaries.

Stress testing of credit risk has assumed increasing importance

in the discipline of credit risk management. DBS uses credit

risk stress testing approaches to assess the vulnerability of the
portfolio to "exceptional but plausible” adverse credit risk events,

DBS uses various metrics, including Economic Capital-at-Risk,

o measure and manage credit concentration risk to individual
borrowers, borrower groups and industry sectors. Information on
credit exposures by geographical area, business fine and industrial
classification, and the breakdown of investment and dealing
securities are disclosed in Notes 18, 19, 20, 22, 23 and 49 to the
Financial Statements and the Management Discussion and
Analysis chapter.

50 Risk Management Approach & Risk Profile

COUNTRY RiSK

The principles and approach in the management of cross-border
risk are spelt out in a Board-approved Country Risk Management
Framework. The Framework includes an internai country (and
sovereign) risk rating system where the assessments are made
independent of business decisions. Benchmark country limits

are set to alert the bank when exposures rise to levels that may
imply concentration risk. Day-to-day operational country limits,
called working limits, are also imposed to manage the shape and
growth of the cross-border exposures as they build up. A rigorous
scanning process is established, with the objective of adjusting
country exposures according to risks perceived at the global,
regional and country level, There are close consultations with the
businesses and credit management in right sizing cross-border
exposures to take into account not only of risks and opportunities,
but also the strategic intent of DBS.

TRADING MARKET RISK

Trading market risk arises from changes in pricing parameters,
including market rates such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates,
equity prices and credit spreads, as well as their correlations and
implied volatilities. DBS Group takes trading market risk in the course
of market making, structuring and packaging products for investors
and issuers, as well as to benefit from market opportunities.

The Trading Market Risk Framework comprises the following
elements:

* Types of market risk 1o be covered, and the risk metrics and
methodologies to be used to capture such risks

* Policies and processes for managing market risks, as well as
the roles and responsibilities of relevant functions for the
processes

*  Limits to ensure that risk-takers do not exceed aggregate risk
and concentration parameters set by senior management and
the Board

* Independent validation of valuation and risk models and
methodologies

* Independent mark-to-market valuation, reconciliation of
positions and tracking of stop-loss for trading positions on a
timely basis

* New product/service process whereby risk issues are identified
before new products and services are launched

D85 adopts a Value-at-Risk (VaR) methodology (at a 99%
confidence level and a one day holding period) to measure the
Group's trading market risk. In September 2006, the trading
book VaR methodology was changed to the historical simulation
approach, which is in line with market practice. It takes into
account pertinent risk factors and covers all financial instruments
which expose the Group to market risk acrass all geographies.
On a daily basis, DBS computes VaR for each trading business
unit and location, and at the Group level. The VaR forecasts are
backtested against the profit and loss of the trading book it line
with the risk model validation policy.
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VALUE-AT-RISK AND TRADING INCOME

The following table shows the period-end, average, high and
low VaR for the trading risk exposure of the DBSH Group for the
pericd from 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006.

1 January 2006 to

As at 31 December 2006
In$ millions 31 December 2006  Average High Low
Total 10 16 28 8

The charts below provide the range of VaR and the daily
distribution of trading income in the trading portfolio for the
year ended 31 December 2006.

GROUP VaR FOR TRADING BOOK
DBS changed its trading book VaR methodology from Parametric

VaR (PVaR) to Historical Simulation VaR (HSVaR} in September 2006.

The histogram below is based on PVaR for the period from January
to August 2006 and HSVaR from September to December 2006,
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Although VaR provides valuzble insights, no single measure can
capture all aspects of trading market risk. To complement the VaR
framework, regular stress testing is carried out using historical
and hypothetical scenarios to menitor the Group’s vulnerability
to simultaneous shocks on all market rates. Stress fimits are also
established accordingly.

The Group Market Risk Committee oversees DBS' market risk
management infrastructure, including framework, policies,
processes, information, methodologies and systems. The
Committee also sets market risk control limits and provides
comprehensive and enterprise-wide aversight of all market risks
and their management. In this regard, the Committee meets
regularly to review and give direction on the level of market risk
taken within DBS Group; its breakdown by desk, geography risk
type; trading profit and loss; stress testing results; and risk model
backtesting performance.

Information on the Group's financial assets and liabilities in relation
10 exposures to interest rate and foreign exchange risks can be
found in Notes 46.2({b} and 46.2(c) to the Financial Statements.

STRUCTURAL MARKET RISK

The Group Asset and Liability Committee (" Group ALCO")
overseas the structural interest rate risk, structural foreign
exchange risk and funding liquidity risk in the Group. It allocates
core limits to regional/local ALCOs in the different countries and
ensures that the consolidated exposures of the Group are within
prudent levels. Regional/local ALCOs are responsible for managing
the risks in their areas including the setting of operational limits
and guidelines to fine tune risk management, consistent with the
Group's Asset and Liability Management Policy.

Structural interest rate risk arises from mismatches in the interest
rate profile of customer loans and deposits. This interest rate risk
has several aspects: basis risk arising from different interest rate
benchmarks, interest rate re-pricing risk, yield curve risks and
ermbedded optionality.

To monitor the structural interest rate risk, the tools used by DBS
include re-pricing gap reports, sensitivity analysis and income
simulations under various scenarios.

In structural foreign exchange exposures, the Group manages

the effect of exchange rate movements on its earnings, capital
accounts and foreign currency investments. Foreign currency
loansflending and investments in fundable currencies are generally
funded with the same foreign currencies. Far currencies with high
hedging costs or have an illiquid/controlled market, the position
will be reviewed by the Structural Foreign Exchange Committee
and alternative strategies may be used or left unhedged. Non-
fundable or illiquid currencies may be hedged with instruments
such as non-deliverable forwards.
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An Investment Framework governs the Group’s investment of
funds. These investments are separately subject to Board and
senior managerment limits on the portfolio size, credit quality,
product and sector concentrations and market risk sensitivities
under the Framework. Investment market risk is monitored by risk
type using sensitivities and by valuation action triggers. Valuation
as well as validation of models used in valuation and

risk management is carried out by independent support units.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the potential earnings volatility arising from

being unable to fund portfolio assets at reasonable rates over
required maturities. Liquidity obligations arise from withdrawals of
deposits, repayments of purchased funds at maturity, extensions
of credit and working capital needs. DBS seeks to manage its
liquidity to meet its obligations under normal as well as adverse
circumstances, and to take advantage of rising lending and
investment opportunities.

The primary tool for monitoring liquidity is the maturity mismatch
analysis, which is monitored over successive time bands and across
major functional currencies. This analysis includes behavioural
assumptions on, inter-alia, customer loans, customer deposits and
reserve assets. This is tested under normal and adverse market
scenario conditions. Limits are established by the Board and

senior management for the maximum cumulative cash outflows
over successive time bands. Various liquidity ratios, deposit
concentration ratios and stress limits are additional tools employed
by DBS to manage funding liquidity risk.

As part of its liquidity risk managernent, DBS Group focuses an a
number of components, including tapping available sources of
liquidity, preserving necessary funding capacity and contingency
planning.

Information on the Group’s financial assets and fiabilities in
relatior to exposures 1o interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk
and liquidity risk can be found in Notes 46.2{h), 46.2(c) and 48 to
the Financial Statements.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadeguate or
failed internal processes, people or systems, or from external
events. An Operational Risk Management Framework has been
developed to ensure that operational risks within the DBS Group
are properly identified, monitored, managed and reported in a
structured, systematic and consistent manner, A key component of
the Framework is a set of Core Operational Risk Standards which
provides guidance on the baseline controls to ensure a controlled
and sound operating environment. To manage and control
operaticnal risk, the Framework is supplemented with various tools
including, control self-assessment (CSA), risk event management,
key risk indicator mienitoring and process risk mapping. Major
operational risk mitigation programmes include Business Continuity
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Manzagement and the Global Insurance Programme.

A firm-wide Qperational Risk Management systern was
implemented in 2006. tt is an integrated web-based system,
incorporating the individual components of the Framewark and
facilitates an enhanced analysis and reporting of operational

risk data. In addition, a process risk mapping framework was
developed to identify the key risks and controls in an end-to-end
transaction cycle. Process risk mapping for the major business
lines has commenced.

The Group Operational Risk Committee oversees DBS' operational
risk management infrastructure, including the Framework,
pelicies, processes, information, methodologies and systems. The
Committee also performs regular review of the operationat risk
profiles of the Group, and endorses and recommends corporate
operational risk policies to be approved by the Business Support &
Controls Committee.

The Group Operational Risk function is responsible for
implementing the Framework in partnership with the business and
support units. The day-to-day operational risk management lies
with the business and support units. To reinforce accountability
and ownership of risk and control, Unit Operational Risk
Managers are appointed to assist the unit heads in driving the
overall risk and control agenda and programmes.

As part of Group Audit's review process, the quality of the
operational risk management programmes of the business/
support units are taken inte account in assigning a "Management
Control Awareness” rating.

BASEL Il PREPARATION

DBS views Basel Il as a firm-wide programme that will ensure that
our credit, market and operational risk management practices
continue to meet international best practices. It is an initiative

for us to further embed sound risk management practices and
Culture within our businesses, and ensure that DBS continues

to expand our businesses across segments and markets with

the right risk management discipline, practices and processes in
place. To underscore the importance of this initiative and ensure a
concerted effort towards the successful implementation of various
aspects of the programme, an integrated Basel Il Governance and
Programme Management structure is put in place.

A Group Basel Il Steering Committee ("Steering Committee "),
chaired by the Group CFO, has been set up to oversee the
implementation of all programme work streams to ensure that
DBS is on track for Basel Il qualification. The Steering Committee
is supported by sub-committees for each major work stream.
Reporting to the Steering Committee, the Basel || Programme
Management Office works with the respective wark stream
sponsors and dedicated project managers to drive the overall
Basel Il programme.
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries

Consolidated Income Statement o heyer e 31 B 200

In $ millions Note 2006 2005
Income
Interest income 7,809 5,542
Interest expense 4,218 2,599
Net interest income 5 3,591 2,943
Net fee and commission income 6 1,155 986
Net trading income 7 522 320
Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value 8 (192) (113)
Net income from financial investments 9 1m 102
Other income 10 191 403
Total income 5,438 4,641
Expenses
Employee benefits 1 1,244 1,052
Depreciation of properties and other fixed assets 28 130 148
Other expenses 12 995 826
Goodwill charges 27 - 1,128
Allowances for credit and other losses 13 135 203
Total expenses 2,504 3,357
Share of profits of associates 70 54
Profit before tax 3,004 1,338
Income tax expense 14 575 353
Net profit for the year 2,429 985
Attributable to:
Shareholders 2,269 824
Minority interests 160 161
2,429 985
Basic earnings per ordinary share ($) 15 1.50 0.54
Diluted earnings per ordinary share ($) 15 1.45 0.53
Basic earnings per ordinary share ($) - exclude goodwill charges 15 1.50 1.30
Diluted earnings per ordinary share ($) - exclude goodwill charges 15 1.45 1.25

{see notes cn pages 58 to 104, which form part of these financial statements)
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DBS Group Heldings Ltd and its subsidiaries

Balance Sheets . oo

Group Company

In $ millions Note 2006 2005 2006 2005

Assets

Cash and balances with central hanks 17 11,846 4,986

Singapore Government securities and treasury bills 18 12,843 9,846

Due from banks 25,273 22,129

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 16,496 18,502

Pasitive replacement values 41 8,215 8,792

Loans and advances to customers 20 85,149 77.636

Financial investments 22 22,261 23,102

Securities pledged 23 2,866 2,380

Subsidiaries 24 - - 6,927 6,790

Investments in associates 26 603 585

Goodwill on consolidation 27 5,840 5,803

Properties and other fixed assets 28 1,481 1,662

Deferred tax assets 29 20 51

Qther assets 30 4,479 4,730

Total assets 197,372 180,204 6,927 6,790
Liabilities

Due to banks 7.863 8,950

Due to non-bank customers 31 122,092 106,431

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 32 19,708 22,823

Negative replacement values 41 7,873 8,537

Bills payable 511 378

Current tax liabilities 766 557

Deferred tax liabilities 29 137 58

Other liabilities 33 6,677 5,475 8 6
Other debt securities in issue 34 3,950 2,440

Subordinated term debts 35 6,749 5,365

Total liabilities 176,326 161,014 8 6
Net assets 21,046 19,190 6,919 6,784
Equity

Share capital 36 4,042 1,564 4,042 1,564
Share premium 36 - 2,269 - 2,269
Treasury shares 36 (111) {117

Other reserves 37 7,182 6,841 53 77
Revenue reserves 37 7.562 6,167 2,824 2,874
Shareholders’ funds 18,675 16,724 6,919 6,784
Minority interests 38 2.3 2,466

Total equity 21,046 19,190 6,919 6,784
Gff balance sheet items
Contingent liabilities 39 12,187 8,769
Commitments 40 86,065 75,804
Financial derivatives 41 1,378,916 1,359,935

{see notes on pages 58 to 104, which form part of these financial statements}
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2006
Convertible
Ordinary preference Share Treasury Other Revenue Minority Total

In § millions shares shares (CPS) premium shares reserves reserves interests equity
2006
Balance at 1 lanuary 2006 1,498 66 2,269 (117) 6,841 6,167 2,466 19,190
Exercise of share options 165 7 172
Effects of Companies (Amendment) Act 2005 2,302 (2.276) {28) -
Net exchange translation adjustments (6) (103) (109)
Share of associates’ reserves 21 18 39
Cost of share-based payments 28 28
Draw-down of reserves upon vesting

of performance shares 6 (6) -
Reclassification of reserves upon

exercise of share options 9 (9) -
Available-for-sale investments/Cash flow hedge:
— Net valuation taken to equity 425 425
~ Transferred to income statement on sale (101) (101)
= Tax on items taken directly to or

transferred from equity (44) (44)
Net profit for the year 2,269 160 2,429
Appropriation from income statement 61 {61) -
Finai dividends paid for previous year (203) (203)
Interim dividends paid for current year (628) (628)
Dividends paid to minarity interests (147) {147)
Change in minority interests (5) {5)
Balance at 31 December 2006 3,976 66 - (M) 7,182 7,562 2,31 21,046
2005
Balance at 1 January 2005 1,493 66 2,208 - 6,585 6,150 1,128 17.630
Effects on adoption of new or revised FRS (126) 42 26 1,303 1,245
Balance at 1 January 2005 {restated) 1,493 66 2,208 {126) 6,627 6,176 2,431 18,875
On adoption of FRS 39 at 1 January 2005 292 (25) 267
Exercise of share options 5 59 64
Net exchange translation adjustments 7 21 28
Share of associates’ reserves 8 8
Cost of share-based payments a1 41
Draw-down of reserves upon vesting

of performance shares 9 (9) -
Reclassification of reserves upon

exercise of share options 2 (2) -
Available-for-sale investments/Cash flow hedge:
- Net valuation taken to equity {59) (59)
- Transferred to income statement on sale (88) (88}
— Tax on items taken directly to or

transferred from equity {11) {11)
Net profit for the year 824 161 985
Appropriation from income statement 35 (35} -
Final dividends paid for previous year (269) (269)
Interim dividends paid for current year (504) (504)
Dividends paid to minarity interests {151) (151)
Change in minority interests 4 4
Balance at 31 December 2005 1,498 66 2,269 {117) 6,841 6,167 2,466 19,190

(see notes on pages 58 to 104, which form part of these financial statements)

56 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

DB5 Group Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2006



DBS Group Holdings Ltd and 1ts subsidiaries

Consolidated Cash Flow STatemMENT aeyes ews: oxenser 200

in $ millions 2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 3,004 1,338
Adjustments for non-cash items:

Allowances for credit and other losses 135 203
Depreciation of properties and other fixed assets 130 148
Goodwill charges - 1,128
Share of profits of associates {70) (54)
Net gain on disposal of properties and other fixed assets (104) 314
Net gain on disposa! of financial investments {(171) (121)
Profit before changes in aperating assets & liabilities 2,924 2,328
{Decrease)/Increase in:

Due to banks (1.087) (1,989)
Due to non-bank ¢usiomers 15,661 6,775
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss {3,115) 22,823
Other liabilities including bills payable 163 (5,427}
Debt securities and borrowings 1,471 {4,503)
{Increase)/Decrease in:

Change in restricted balances with central banks {95) (938)
Singapore Government securities and treasury bills (3,936) 1,337
Due from banks (3.134) 3,028
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,890 (15,877)
Other financial securities at fair value through profit or loss - 7.942
Loans and advances to customers {7.741) (8,212}
Financial investments 1,392 {1,346)
Other assets 297 2,894
Tax paid {300) (440)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities (1) 4,390 (5,155

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends from associates 37 40
purchase of properties and other fixed assets (239) (225)
Proceeds from disposal of associates a4 -
Proceeds from disposal of properties and other fixed assets 387 733
Acquisition of interest in associates (6) (42}
Net cash generated from investing activities {2) 183 506

Cash fiows from financing activities

Increase in share capital and share premium 172 66
Praceeds from issuance of subordinated term debts 1,928 -
Dividends paid to sharehclders of the Company (831) (773)
Dividends paid to minority interests {147) (151}
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities (3} 1,122 (858)
Exchange translation adjustments (4) 15 15
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (N+{2)+(3)+4) 5710 (5,492)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 9,408 14,900
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December {Note 42) 15,118 9,408

(see notes on pages 58 to 104, which form part of these financial statements)

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 57

Annual Report 2006 DBS Group Holdings Ltd

e Y S S S




DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsigiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements o th e ncec'31 December 2005

These Notes are integral to the financial statements,

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2006 were authorised for issue by the directars on
15 February 2007.

1 DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

The Company, DBS Group Holdings Ltd, is incorporated and

domiciled in the Republic of Singapore and has its registered
office at 6 Shenton Way, DBS Building Tower One, Singapore
068809,

The Company is listed on the Singapore Exchange.

The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment
holding company and the principal activities of its main subsidiary,
DBS Bank Lid, are the provision of retail, small and medium-sized
enterprise, corporate and investment banking services.

The financial statements relate to the Company and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”} and the Group’s interests in associates
and joint ventures,

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared
in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
{"FRS"} including related Interpretations promulgated by the
Counci! on Corporate Disclosure and Governance ("CCDG").
In accordance with Section 201(19) of the Companies Act, the
requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning are modified
by the requirements of Natice to Banks Na. 612 “Credit Files,
Grading and Provisioning” issued by the Monetary Authority of
Singapore.

The financial statements of the Company are prepared in
accordance with FRS including related Interpretations promulgated
by the CCDG. As permitted by Section 201(4B) of the Act, the
Company’s income statement has not bean included in these
financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars and
rounded to the nearest million, unless otherwise stated. They are
prepared on the historical cost convention, except for derivative
financial instruments, available-for-sale financial assets, and
financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or
loss, which have been measured at fair value. In addition, the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are designated as
hedged items in a fair value hedge are adjusted for fair value
changes attributable to the hedged risks.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS
requires management 1o exercise judgement, use estimates and
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make assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Although these estimates are based on managerment’s best
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may
differ from these estimates. Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions used that are significant to the financial statements,
and areas involving a higher degree of judgement and complexity,
are disclosed in Note 4.

On 1 January 2006, the Group adopted the new or revised FRS
and Interpretations to FRS ("INT FRS") that are applicable in the
current financial year. The 2006 financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions in
the respective FRS and INT FRS. The following are the FRS and INT
FRS that are relevant to the Group:

FRS 1 {revised)
FRS 19 (revised)
FRS 21 {revised)

Presentation of Financial Statements
Employee Benefits

The Effects of Changes in

Foreign Exchange Rates

Related Party Disclosures

Financial Instruments; Disclosure
and Presentation

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities,
and Contingent Assets

Intangible Assets

FRS 24 (revised)
FRS 32 (revised)

FRS 37 (revised)

FRS 38 {revised)

FRS 39 (revised}  Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement
INT FRS 104 Determining whether an

Arrangement contains a Lease

The adoption of the above FRS and INT FRS did not result in
substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies, which are
consistent with those used in the previous financial year.

2.2 Group accounting

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities that the Group has power to govern the
financial and operating policies of in order to obtain benefits
from their activities. It is generally accompanied by a shareholding
of more than 50% of voting rights. Potential voting rights that
are exercisable or convertible are considered when determining
whether an entity is considered a subsidiary.

The purchase method is used to account for the acquisition of
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control

is transferred to the Group to the date control ceases. The cost

of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange, plus cost directly attributable to the acqguisition.
Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair value on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent

of any minerity interest. Refer to Note 2.10 for the Group’s
accounting policy on “Goodwill" .
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Special purpose entities

Entities in which the Group holds little or ne equity are
consolidated as subsidiaries if the Group is assessed to have
conirol over them. Such control can be demonstrated through
predetermination of the entities’ activities, exposure to and
retention of majority of their residual or ownership risks,

and decision-making powers to obtain a majority of benefits
of the entities.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are entities that are jointly controlled by the
Group together with one or more parties through contractual
arrangements. The Group recognises its interest in joint ventures
using the proportionate consolidation method.

Proportionate consclidation involves combining the Group's share
of the joint venture’s income, expenses, assets and liabilities on

a line-by-line basis with similar iterns in the Group's financial
statements.

Associates

Associates are entities in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control, and generally holds a shareholding

of between and including 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
The Group recognises its investrnent in associates using the
equity method of accounting. Investment in associates in the
consotidated balance sheet includes goodwill (net of accurmnulated
impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

Under the equity method of accounting, the Group’s investment
in associates is initially carried at cost. The initial cost of an
acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued or liabilities assumed at the date of exchange,
plus costs directly attributable to the acguisition. The carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group's share
of net assets of the associate, less any impairment in value after
the date of acquisition. Where the Group’s share of losses in an
associale equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The results of the associates are taken from the latest audited
accounts or unaudited management accounts of the associates,
prepared at dates not more than three months prior to the end of
the financial year of the Group.

Investment cost at Company level

Investmnents in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s balance sheet,
On disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associates, the
difference between the net proceeds and the carrying amounts of
the investments is taken to the income statement.

intra-group transactions

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation. Profits resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests in these
companies, L.osses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of an asset transferred.

Alignment of accounting policies

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures to bring
the accounting policies used in line with those used by the Group.

2.3 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems in the financial statements of the Company and each of the
Group's subsidiaries are translated using their functional currency,
being the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates. The financial statements are presented
in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency and
presentation currency of the Company and the Group.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured at the exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
Singapore dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet
date. Foreign exchange differences arising from this translation
are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities measured at cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value in foreign
currencies are translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the date the fair value was determined.

Foreign operations

The resu'ts and financial position of the Group's operations whose
functional currency is not Singapore dollars are translated into
Singapore dollars in the following manner:

i. Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate ruling
at the balance sheet date;

il. Income and expenses in the income statement are translated
at an average exchange rate approximating the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions; and

jii. Al resulting exchange differences are taken to the capital
reserves.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition

of a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate. For acquisitions prior to 1 January 2005, the foreign
exchange rates at the dates of acquisition were used.
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Consolidation adjustments

On consolidation, foreign exchange differences arising from

the translation of net investments in foreign entities, as well as
any borrowings and instruments designated as foreign currency
hedges of such investments, are taken to the capital reserves.
When a foreign operation is disposed of, such currency translation
differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

24 Segment reporting

The Group's financial businesses are organised into the Consumer
Banking and Wholesale Banking Business Groups and Central
Operations. Wholesale Banking Business Group is segregated into
Enterprise Banking, Corporate and Investment Banking, Globat
Financial Markets and Centra Treasury Unit. In total, the Group
reports six business segments.

A business segment provides products or services whose risks
and returns are different from those of other business segments.
A geographical segment provides products or services within
a particular economic environment whose risks and returns are
different from those of other economic environments. Business
segments are the primary reporting segments,

2.5 Revenue recognition

Net interest income

Net interest income, being interest income less interest expense,
is recognised on a time-proportionate basis using the effective
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments thraugh the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate,

a shorter period to its carrying amount. The calculation includes
significant fees and transaction costs that are integral to the
effective interest rate, as well as premiums or discounts. No
interest expense is accrued on the Group’s structured investment
deposits which are carried at fair value through profit or loss.

When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amaount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cashilow discounted at the original effective interest rate of
the instrument. interest earned an the recaverable amount is
recognised as interest income in the income statement.

Fee and commission income

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse
range of products and services provided to its customers. Fee
and commission income is recognised on the completion of a
transaction. For a service that is provided over a pericd of time,
fee and commission income is recognised aver the period which
the related service is provided or credit risk is undertaken,

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment
is established.
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Rental income
Rental income from operating leases on properties is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.6 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand, non-restricted balances with
central banks, and trading government securities and treasury bills
which are readily convertible into cash.

2.7 Financial assets

fFinancial assets are classified according to the purpase for

which the assets were acquired. Management determines the
classification at initial recognition and re-evaluates the designation
at every reporting date, with the exception of the reclassification
in and out of the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss category.

The classification of financial assets is as follows:

{a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
either acquired for the purpose of short-term selling (held for
trading) or designated by management on initial recognition
(designated under the fair value option).

Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedging instruments. The specific Group
accounting policy on derivatives is detailed in Note 2.15.

Financiaf assets designated under the fair value option meet at

least one of the following criteria upen designation:

i. iteliminates or significantly reduces measurement or
recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise arise
from measuring financial assets, or recognising gains or
losses on them, using different bases; or

it the financial asset contains an embedded derivative that
would need to be separately recorded.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market,

s

{c) Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated in this category or not dassified in any
other categories,

Recognition and derecognition

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments
are de-recognised when the Group has transferred substantively
all risks and rewards of ownership.

Initial measurernent
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
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for which transaction costs are expensed off immediately.
The fair value of a financial asset on initial recognition is usually
the transaction price.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-
for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value.
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Unguoted equity investments classified
as available-for-sale for which fair values cannot be reliably
determined are carried at cost, less impairment.

Realised or unrealised gains or losses of financial assets held

for trading and financial assets designated under the fair value
option are taken to “Net trading income” and “Net income from
financial instruments designated at fair value” respectively in the
income statement in the period they arise. Unrealised gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of investments classified
as available-for-sale are recognised in the available-for-sale
revajuation reserves. When investments classified as available-for-
sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments
in the available-far-saie revaluation reserves are taken to the
income statement.

Determination of fair value

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets
{such as exchange-traded and over-the-counter securities and
derivatives) are based on qucted market prices at the balance
sheet date. The quoted market prices used for financial assets
held by the Group are the current bid prices. If the market for

a financial asset is not active, the Group establishes fair value

by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent
arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances.

2.8 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
The Group carries out regular and systematic reviews of all credit
facilities extended to customers,

Specific allowances for credit losses

A specific allowance for credit losses is established if there is
objective evidence that the Group will be unable to collect all
amounts due under a claim according to the original contractual
terms or the equivalent value. A "claim” means a loan, debt
security or a commitment such as a letter of guarantee and letter
of credit.

A specific aliowance for credit losses is reported as a reduction
in the carrying value of a claim on the balance sheet. For an off-

balance sheet item such as a commitment, a specific allowance
for credit loss is reported as an increase in other liabilities.
Spedific allowances for credit losses are evaluated either as being
counterparty-specific or collective according to the following
principles:

Counterparty-specific: Individua! credit exposures are evaluated
using the discounted cash flow method and an allowance is
made when existing facts, conditions or valuations indicate that
the Group is not likely to collect part or all of the principal and
interest due contractually on the claim. An allowance is reversed
only when there has been an identifiable event that fed to an
improvement in the collectibility of the claim.

Collective: Homogenous consumer loans such as housing loans

and credit card receivables, are pooled according to their risk
characieristics, and assessed and provided for collectively as a group,
taking into account the historical loss experience of such loans.

General allowances for credit losses

Apart from specific allowances, the Group also carries general
allowances for credit losses, The Group maintains a level of
allowances that is deemed sufficient to absorb all credit losses
inherent in its loan portfolic (including off-balance sheet credit
exposures). In determining the level of general allowances, the
Group considers country and portfolio risks, as well as industry
practices. The Group maintains general allowances of at least 1%
of credit exposures on and off the balance sheet net of collaterals
and after deducting specific allowances that have been made.

Available-for-sale financial assets

When there is objective evidence of an impairment of an
available-for-sale financial asset, the cumulative loss — measured
as the difference between the acguisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the income statement — is removed
from the revaluation reserve within equity and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income
statement on equity investments are not reversed through the
income statement, unti! the equity investments are disposed

of. A subsequent recovery in the value of an available-for-sale
debt instrument whose value is impaired is reversed through the
income statement if there has been an identifiable event that led
to the recovery.

2.9 Repurchase agreements

Repurchase agreements (“Repos”) are treated as collateralised
borrowing. The amount borrowed is reflected as a liability either
as “Due to non-bank customers”, "Due to banks” or “Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. The securities sold
under repos are treated as pledged assets and remain on the
balance sheet at amortised cost or fair value depending on their
classification.
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Reverse repurchase agreements {(“Reverse repos”) are treated
as collateralised lending. The amount lent is reflected as an asset
either as “Loans and advances to customers”, “Due from banks”
or "Financial assets at {air value through profit or foss”.

Amounts paid and received on the repos and reverse repos are
amortised as interest expense and interest income respectively on
an effective interest basis.

2.10 Goodwill on consolidation

Goodwill in & business combination represents the excess of
acquisition cost over the fair values of the identifiable assets
acquired, liapilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date
of exchange. Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses and
it is tested at least annually for impairment.

Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of
the identifiable net assets acquired (i.e. a discount on acquisition)
is recognised directly in the income staterment in the period of
acquisition.

At the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units ("CGU*") expected to benefit
from the combination's synergies for the purpose of impairment
testing.

2.11 Properties and other fixed assets

Properties and other fixed assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an
item of properties and other fixed assets includes its purchase
price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.

The basis of depreciation is as follows:

Properties

Leasehold land, where the balance of the leasehold period is 100
years or tess, is depreciated over the remaining period of the lease,
Leasehold land where the unexpired lease period is more than 100
years is not depreciated.

Buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their usefuyl
lives estimated at 50 years or over the remaining lease period,
whichever is shorter.

Cther fixed assets

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write
down the cost of other fixed assets to their residual values over
their estimated useful life as follows:

Computer software 3 -5years
Office equipment 5 - Byears
Furniture and fittings 5 -8 years
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Subsequent expenditure relating to properties and other fixed
assets that has already been recognised is added to the carrying
amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefit associated with the item can be measured reliably. Other
subsequent expenditure is recognised as hire and maintenance
expense in the income statement during the financial year in
which it is incurred.

On disposal of an item of properties and other fixed assets, the
difference beiween the net disposal proceeds and its carrying
amount is taken to the incame statement.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of
a CGU, including the goodwili, exceeds the recoverable amount
of the CGU. Recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of the
CGU's fair value less cost to sell and their value-in-use.

An impairment foss on goodwill recognised in the income
statementi cannot be reversed in subseguent periods.

Properties and other fixed assets, and investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

Properties and other fixed assets, and investment in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures are reviewed for impairment at
€ach balance sheet date to determine if events or changes

in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. if such an indication exists, the carrying value of the
asset is written down 1o its recoverable amount (being the higher
of the fair value less cost 1o sell and the value-in-use).

The impairment loss is charged to the income statement,

2.13 Financial liabilities

The Group dlassifies its financial liabilities in the following
categories: (a) financial fiabilities at fair value through profit or
loss; and (b} financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss if they are incurred for the purpose
of short-term repurchasing (held for trading} or designated by
management on initiel recognition {designated under the fair
value option).

Derivatives are dlassified as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedging instruments. The specific Group accounting
policy on derivatives is detailed in Note 2.15.

Financial liabilities designated under the fair value option meet at

least one of the following criteria upon designation:

I it eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or
recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise arise from
measuring financial liabilities, or recognising gains or tosses on
them, using different bases; or
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i. the financia! liability contains an embedded derivative that
would need to be separately recorded.

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Financial liabilities classified at fair
value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Realised or unrealised gains or losses of financial liabilities held
for trading and financial liabilities designated under the fair value
option are taken to “Net trading income” and “Net income from
financial instruments designated at fair value” respectively in

the income statement in the period they arise. All ather financial
fiabilities are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the
future coniraciuat cash flows at the current market interest rate
that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

A financial liability is removed or derecognised from the balance
sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired.

2.14 Provisions and ather liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the expenditure required 1o settle the present obligation at the
balance sheet date.

2.15 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date on
which a derivative contract is entered into and are subseguently
remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are dlassified as assets
when the fair value is positive (" Positive replacement values”)

and as liabilities when the fair value is negative ("Negative
replacement values").

Changes in the fair value of derivatives other than those
designated as cash flow hedges or net investments in foreign
operations hedges are included in “Net trading income™.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are
treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics
and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and
the host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or

loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in “Net trading income”.

For financial instruments designated as hedging instruments,
each entity within the Group documents at the inception the
relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item,

including the risk management objective for undertaking various
hedge transactions and methods used to assess the effectiveness
of the hedge. Each entity within the Group also docurments its
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of
whether the derivative is highly effective in offsetting changes in
the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.

Fair value hedge

For a qualifying fair value hedge, the changes in the fair value

of the derivative are recorded in thie income statement, together
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item attnbutable
to the hedged risk. Gain or loss arising from hedge ineffectiveness
is recognised in the income statement under "Net trading
income”.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for
which the eifective interest method is used, is amortised to the
income statement over the remaining period to maturity of the
hedged item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective partion of changes in the fair value of a derivative
designated and qualified as a hedge of future cash flows is
recognised directly in the cash Hlow hedge reserve, and taken
to the income statement in the periods when the hedged item
affects profit or loss. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss
is recognised immediately in the income statement under "Net
trading income”.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative
gain or loss existing in the cash flow hedge reserve remains until
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income
statement. When a forecast iransaction is no longer expected to
oceur, the cumulative gain or loss in the cash flow hedge reserve is
recognised immediately in the income statement.

Hedge of net investment in a foreign operation

Hedges of net investments in the Group’s foreign operations are
accounted for in a manner similar to cash flow hedges. The gain
or loss from the derivative relating to the effective portion of the
hedge is recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve. The gain or
loss relating to the ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised
immediately in the income statement. On disposal of the foreign
operations, the cumulative gain or loss in the cash flow hedge
reserve is taken to the income statement under “Net trading
income”.

2.16 Employee benefits

Employee benefits, which include base pay, cash bonuses,
share-based compensation, contribution to defined contribution
plans such as the Central Provident Fund and other staff-related
allowances, are recognised in the income statement when
incurred. For defined contribution plans, contributions are made
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to publicly or privately administered funds on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. Once the contributions have been
paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.

Employee entitlement to annual leave is recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annuaf leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

2.17 Share-based compensation

Employee benefits also include share-based compensation,
namely, the DBSH Share Ownership Scheme, the DBSH Share
Optron Plan, the DBSH Performance Share Plan and the DBSH
Employee Share Plan. The details of the Scheme and Plans are
described in Note 43,

Equity instruments granted and ultimately vested under the
Plans are recognised in the income statement based on the fair
value of the equity instrument at the date of grant. The expense
is amortised over the vesting period of each award, with a
corresponding adjustment te the Share option/plan reserves.
Monthly cantributions to the Scheme are expensed off when
incurred,

For the DBSH Performance Share Plan and the DBSH Employee
Share Plan, a trust has been set up for each share plan. The
employee trust funds are consolidated and the DBSH shares held
by the trust funds are accounted for as “Treasury shares”, which
are included as a deduction within equity.

2.18 Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Temporary differences are not recognised for
goodwifl that is not deductible for tax purpeses and for the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that neither affects accounting
nor taxable profit. The amount of deferred tax provided is based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can
be controlled and it is probabie that the temporary difference will
not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

2.1% Financial guarantees

A financial guarantee is initially recognised at its fair value.
Subsequently, the amount initially recognised is amortised to the
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income statement over the period of the financial guarantee.
Examples include letter of credit, shipping guarantee, airway
guarantee, letter of guarantee etc.

The exposure to potential losses associated with a financial
guarantee is monitored periodically. When there is objective
evidence indicating probability of losses occurring, a provision is
recognised for the financial guarantee.

2.20 Dividend payment

Interim dividends are recorded during the financial year in which
they are declared payabfe. Final dividends are recorded during
the financial year in which the dividends are approved by the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

2.21 Offsetting financial instruments

Certain financial assets and liabilities offset each other and the net
amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

2.22 QOperating leases

Operating leases are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When an operating
lease is terminated before the fease period has expired, any
payment that has to be made to the lessor is recognised as an
expense in the period the termination takes place.

2.23 Fiduciary activities

Assets and income belonging to a customer for whom the Group
acts in a fiduciary capacity as nominee, trustee or agent, are
excluded from the financial statements.

2.24 Comparatives
Where applicable, comparative figures have been reciassed in
order o adopt the current year's presentation.

3 NEW FRS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The Group has not applied the following FRS and INT FRS that
have been issued but not yet effective.

FRS 40: investment Property

FRS 40 becomes effective for financial years beginning on or
after 1 January 2007. There is no expected material impact on
the Group’s financial statements arising from the Standard.

The Group's current policy is to carry its investment praperties
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

FRS 107: Financial Instruments: Disclosures

FRS 107 becomes effective for financial years beginning on
or after 1 January 2007 and it introduces new disclosure
requirements regarding financial instruments. It requires the
disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about
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exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including
minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk. It replaces the disclosure requirements currently in FRS 32:
Financial Instrumenits: Disclosure and Presentation.

The adoption of FRS 107 will create additional disclosure
requirements for the Group’s financial statements.

Amendment to FRS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements -
Capital Disclosures

The amendment to FRS 1 becomes effective for financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2007. It introduces disclosures
about the level of an entity’s capital and how the capital is managed.

The amendment to FRS 1 will create additional disclosure
requirements for the Group's financial statements.

INT FRS 108 Scope of FRS 102 - Share-based Payment

INT FRS 108 becomes effective for financial years beginning on
or after 1 May 2006. It clarifies the scope of FRS 102 to include
transactions in which the entity cannot identify specifically some
or all of the goeds and services received.

There is no expected material impact on the Group’s financial
statements arising from this new INT FRS.

INT FRS 109: Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

INT FRS 109 becomes effective for financial years beginning on

or after 1 June 2006. It establishes that the date to assess the
existence of an embedded derivative is the date an entity first
becomes a party to the contract, with reassessment only if there is
a change to the contract that significantly medifies the cash flows.

There is no expected material impact on the Group’s financial
statements arising from this new INT FRS.

INT FRS 110: interim Financial Reporting and impairment
INT FRS 110 becomes effective for financial years beginning on

or after 27 October 2006. 1t prohibits the impairment losses
recognised in an interim period on goodwill, investments in equity
instruments and investments in financial assets carried at cost to
be reversed at a subsequent bafance sheet date.

There is no expected material impact on the Group's financial
statements arising from this new INT FRS.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The Group's accounting policies and use of estimates are

integral to the reported results. Certain accounting estimates
require exercise of management’s judgement in determining the
appropriate methodology for valuation of assets and liabilities. In
addition, procedures are in place to ensure that methodologies
are reviewed and revised as appropriate. The Group believes its
estimates for determining the valuation of its assets and liabilities
are appropriate.

The following is a brief description of the Group’s critical accounting
estimates involving management’s valuation judgement.

4.1 Impairment allowances on claims

It is the Group's policy to establish, through charges against
profit, specific and general allowances in respect of estimated and
inherent credit losses in its portfolio.

In determining specific allowances, management considers
objective evidence of impairment. When a loan is impaired,

a specific allowance is assessed by using the discounted cash flow
method, measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of
specific allowance also takes into account the collateral vaiue,
which may be discounted to reflect the impact of a forced sale

or timely liquidation.

In determining general allowance, the Group has applied the
transitional arrangements under Notice to Banks No. 612, “Credit
Files, Grading and Provisioning” issued by the Monetary Authority
of Singapore. These arrangements will be in place until the Group
believes that the incurred loss concept under FRS 39 can be
robustly determined.

4.2  Fair value of finantial instruments

Fair value is defined as the value at which positions can be

closed or sold in a transaction with a willing and knowledgeable
counterparty over a time period that is consistent with the
Group's trading or investment strategy. The majority of the
Group’s finandal instruments reported at fair value are based on
quoted and observable market prices or on internally developed
models that are based on independently sourced market
parameters, including interest rate yield curves, option volatilities
and currency rates.

Management exercises judgement in determining the risk
characteristics of various finandal instruments, discount rates,
estimates of future cash flows, future expected loss experience
and other factors used in the valuation process. Judgement may
also be applied in estimating prices for less readily observable
external parameters. Other factors such as model assumptions,
market dislocations and unexpected correlations can alsa materially
affect these estimates and the resulting fair value estimates.

43 Impairment review of goodwill on consolidation

The Group performs an impairment review to ensure that the
carrying value of the goodwill does not exceed its recoverable
amount from the CGU to which the goodwill is allocated. The
recoverable amount represents the present value of the estimated
future cash flows expected to arise from continuing operations.
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Therefore, in arriving at the recoverable amount, management

6 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

exercises judgement in estimating the future cash flows, growth rate The Group
and discount rate. tn $ millions 2006 2005
Fee and commission income 1,400 1,177
4.4 Income taxes L.
. . Fee and commission expense 245 191
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions, Significant judgement is invalved in determining Net fee and commission income 1,155 986
the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain —
] . . ) Comprising:
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax .
N . . . . Trade and remittances 190 172
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
e . Wezlth management 170 129
The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on
. ", A Loan-related 166 157
reasonable estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. .
. - Investment banking 150 134
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different fram .
L . . . Stock broking 141 106
the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will Credit card 115 90
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in .
which such determination is made Deposit-related 79 7
' Fund management 62 53
Guarantees 30 28
5 NET INTEREST INCOME Others 52 40
The Group
In $ millions 2006 2005  Net fee and commission income 1,155 986
Cash and balances with centra!
banks and Due from banks 1,001 656 7 NET TRADING INCOME
Loans and advances to customers 4,559 3,152 The Group
Debt securities 2,249 1,734 In $ millions 2006 2005
Total interest income 7,809 5,542 From trading businesses
Due to banks 538 a5 Foreign exchange _ N 379 94
- Interest rates, credit and equities 153 206
Due to non-bank customers 2,746 1,494 Other businesses (10) 20
QOthers 934 690
- 20
Total interest expense 4,218 2.599 Totaf 522 3
Net interest income 3591 2943 5 NETINCOME FROM FINANGIAL INSTRUMENTS
DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE
The Group The Group
tn $ millions 2006 2005 In $ millions 2006 2005
Interest income for financial assets at fair Financial assets designated at fair value (2) 4
value through profit or loss 1.005 732 Financial liabilities designated at fair value (190) {(117)
Interest income for financial assets not at
. ) Te 1 113
fair value through profit or loss 6,804 4,810 otal (192) (13
Interest expense for financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss {492) (206)  Gains or losses from changes in fair value of financial liabilities
Interest expense for financial liabilities not designated at fair value, not attributable to changes in market
at fair value through profit or loss (3.726)  (2,393) conditions, are not material, Refer to Note 32.
Tota! 3,59 2,943
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9 NET INCOME FROM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

12 OTHER EXPENSES

The Group The Group
In % millions 2006 2005 In § millions 2006 2005
Debt securities 38 10 Computerisation expenses 349 261
Equity securities™ 133 92  Occupancy expenses 161 134
Revenue-related expenses 105 99
Total 171 102 Others 380 332
Comprising gains transferred from:
Total
Available-for-sale revaluation reserves 101 88 ota 995 826
(a} 20?6 included $16 million prof;ts on g!e of unquoted equity securities Included in the above table were:
which were stated at cost. Their carrying amounts were The Gr
$1 million at the time of sale - e roup
In $ miltions 2006 2005
10 OTHER INCOME Hire and maintenance of fixed assets,
The Group including building-related expenses a8 a5
In § millions 2006 2005  Audit fees payable to Ernst & Young Singapore 3 3
Dividend income 58 49 Audit f.ees payab%e to Ernst & Young firms
. outside Singapore 2 2
Rental income 14 30 ) .
) . . Non audit fees payable to Ernst & Young Singapore 1 #
Net gain on properties and other fixed assets® 104 314 . !
Non audit fees payable to Ernst & Young firms
Others 15 10 . :
outside Singapore # #
Total 191 403

(@) Included in 2006 were one-time gains of $50 million and $54 million
from the sale of DBS Tampines Centre and Hong Kong Queen’s Road
Office respectively. included in 2005 was a ane-time gain of $303
milfion from the sale of office budldings in Singapore, DBS Tower One
and Tower Two. Refer to Note 28

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group
In § millions 2006 2005
Salary and bonus 1,067 883
Contrthutions to defined contribution plans 55 57
Share-based expenses 28 40
Others 24 72
Total 1,244 1,052

#  Amount under $500,000

13  ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT AND OTHER LOSSES

The Group
In § millions 2006 2005
Loans and advances to customers (Note 20) 228 237
Finandcial investrments (Note 22) (32) 3
Properties and other fixed assets (Note 28) (71) {46)

Off-balance sheet credit exposures {Note 33) 31 (31)
Others (bank loans and sundry debtors) (21) 40

Total 135 203
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14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Income tax expense in respect of profit for the financial year is
analysed as follows:

The Group

in $ millions 2006 2005
Current tax expense
— Current year 459 366
— Prior years’ provision 50 -
Deferred tax expense
- Reversal/{Qrigination) of

temporary differences 61 (13}
— Prior years’ provision 5 -
Total 575 353

The deferred chargef(credit) in the income statement comprises the
following temporary differences:

The Group
In § millions 2006 2005
Accelerated tax depreciation (6) -
Allowances for loan losses 75 {7)
Other temporary differences (3) (6
Deferred tax expense charged/
(credited) to income statement 66 {13)

The tax on the Group’s profit {before share of profits of associates)
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
Singapore basic tax rate as follows:

The Group
tn $ millions 2006 2005
Profit 2,934 1,284
Prima facie tax calculated at a
tax rate of 20% (2005 : 20%) 587 257

Effect of different tax rates in other countries (1 (11)

Income not subject to tax (14) (63)
Income taxed at concessionary rate (68) (89}
Non-tax deductible provisions (14) 5
Reversal of temporary differences 61 -
Goodwill charges - 226
Others 24 28
Income tax expense charged to

incormne statement 575 353

Refer to Note 29 for further information on deferred tax assets/
liabilities.
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15  EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The Group

In $ millions 2006 2005
Weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue (a} 1,504 1,490
Dilutive effect of share options 4 2
Full conversion of non-voting

redeemable CPS 66 66
Weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue (diluted) {aa) 1,574 1,558

The Group

In $ millions 20086 2005
Net profit attributable to

shareholders (“Net Profit”) (b 2,269 824
Net profit (less preference dividends) (c} 2,253 808
Net profit {exclude goodwill charges)  (d) 2,269 1,952
Net profit (exclude goodwill charges

and less preference dividends) (&) 2,253 1,936
Earnings per ordinary share (%)
Basic {c¥a)y  1.50 0.54
Basic (exclude goodwill charges) (di{a} 1.50 1.30
Diluted {b}(aa) 1.45 0.53

Diluted {exclude goodwill charges) {e){aa) 1.45 1.25

For the purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per ordinary
share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

is adjusted to take into account the effect of a full conversion of
non-voting convertible preference shares {"CPS”} and non-voting
redeemable CPS. In addition, the calculation takes into account
the exercise of all outstanding share options granted to employees
when such shares would be issued at a price lower than the
average share price during the financial year.
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16 MEASUREMENT BASIS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group
2006
Designated
at fair value Loans and
through  receivables/ Fair value Cash flow
Held for profit amortised Available- hedging hedging

In $ millions trading or loss cost for-sale  instruments  instruments Total
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks - - 11,846 - - - 11,846
Singapore Government securities

and treasury bills 3,31¢% - - 9,524 - - 12,842
Due from banks - - 25,202 71 - - 25,273
Financial assets at fair value through

profit ¢r loss 14,300 2,196 - - - - 16,496
Positive replacement values 8,080 - - - 135 - 8,215
Loans and advances to customers - - 85,149 - - - 85,149
Financial investments - - 1,930 20,331 - - 22,261
Securities pledged 1,483 - - 1,383 - - 2,866
QOther assets - - 4,479 - - - 4,479
Total financial assets 27,182 2,196 128,606 31,309 135 - 189,428
Cther asset items ouiside the

scope of FRS 39 7,944

Total assets 197,372
Liabilities
Due to banks - - 7.863 - - - 7,863
Due to non-bank customers - - 122,092 - - - 122,092
Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss 13,895 5.813 - - - - 19,708
Negative replacement values 7,789 - - - 84 - 7.873
Bills payable - - 511 - - - 511
Other liabilities - - 6,677 - - - 6,677
Qther debt securities in issue - - 3,950 - - - 3,950
Subordinated term debts - - 6,749 - - - 6,749
Total financial liabilities 21,684 5813 147,842 - 84 - 175,423
Other liability items outside the

scope of FRS 39 903

Total liabilities 176,326
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The Group
2005
Designated
at fair value Loans and
through receivables/ Fair vatue  Cash flow
Held for profit amortised Available- hedging hedging

In § millions trading or loss cost for-sale instruments instruments Total
Assets

Cash and balances with central banks - - 4,986 - - - 4,986
Singapore Government securities and treasury bills 4,223 35 - 5,588 - - 9,846
Due from banks® ~ - 22,015 114 - - 22,129
Financial assets at fair value through profit or joss@ 16,475 2,027 - - - - 18,502
Positive replacement values 8,492 - - - 272 28 8,792
Loans and advances to customers® - - 77,636 - - - 77,636
Financial investments - - 1,864 21,238 - - 23,102
Securities pledged 1,397 - - 983 - - 2,380
Other assets - - 4,730 - - - 4,730
Total financial assets 30,587 2,062 111,231 27,923 272 28 172,103
Other asset items outside the scope of FRS 39 8,101
Total assets 180,204
Liabilities

Due to banks@ - - 8,950 - - - 8,950
Due to non-bank customers® - - 106,431 - - - 106,431
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss® 16,746 6,077 - - - - 22,823
Negative replacement values 8,372 - - - 165 - 8,537
Bills payable - - 378 - - - 378
Other liahilities™ - - 5,475 - - - 5,475
Other debt securities in issug® - - 2,440 - - - 2,440
Subordinated term debts - - 5,365 - - - 5,365
Total financial liabilities 25,118 6,077 129,039 - 165 ~ 160,399
Cther liability items outside the scope of FRS 39 615
Total lisbilities 161,014

{a) Assets and Liabilities in the 2005 Balance Sheet have been re-grouped by investment intention to enhance readability and to provide more refevant
and useful information to investors. This presentation does not have any impact on the income statement and retained earnings of the Group

17 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

The Group
In $ millions 2005 2005
Cash on hand 988 802
Balances with central banks
- Restricted balances 2,556 2,461
— Nen-restricted balances 8,302 1,723
Total 11,846 4,986
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18 SINGAPORE GOVERNMENT SECURITIES AND
TREASURY BILLS

The Group

In $ millions 2006 2005
Fair value through profit or loss

- Trading 3,319 4,223
~ Fair value designated - 35
Available-for-sale 9,524 5,588
Total 12,843 9,846
Market value 12,843 9,846
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19  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

The movement in changes in fair value attributable to credit risk is

PROFIT OR LOSS as follows:
The Group Fair value designated loans and advances
In $ millions 2006 2005 In $ millions 2006 2005
Trading Balance at 1 January 104 148
Cther government securities and New deals 238 56
treasury bills 2,509 2,625  Amount recognised in income statement 1 (20)
Corporate debt securities 8,606 9,725  Matured deals (25) (80)
Equity securities 790 719
Loans and advances to customers 1,153 1,719 Balance at 31 December 318 104
Other financial assets {due to banks) 1,242 1,687  Credit derivatives/enhancements
Sub-total 14,300 16,475 In § millions 2006 2005
Fair value designated Balance at 1 January {104) (148)
Corporate debt securities 1,868 1,920 New deals . (238) (56)
Loans and advances 10 customers 128 107 Amount recognised in income statement n 20
Matured deals 25 80
Sub-total 2196 2,027 Balance at 31 December (318) (104)
Totai 16,496 18,502
Analysed by industry 20 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
Manufacturing 918 786 The Group
Buitding and construction 129 180  In $ millions 2006 2005
General commerce o 111 223 Gross 86.599 79123
Transportation, storage and communications 641 882 ) .
. L . Less: Specific allowances 564 636
Financial institutions, investment and General allowances 886 851
holding companies 8,849 11,139
Government 2,509 2,625  Nettotal 85,149 77,636
Others 3,339 2,567  Comprising:
Bills receivable 2,926 2,606
Total 16,496 18,502 Loans 82223 75030
Fair value designated loans & advances and
related credit t?erivativeslenhancements Net total 85,149 77.636
Maximum credit exposure 343 119 Analysed by industry
Credit derivatives/enhancements Manufacturing 10,854 8,523
- protection bought (343) (119)  Building and construction 10,883 8,956
Cumulative change in fair value arising Housing loans 25,043 25,005
from changes in credit risk 318 104  General commerce 8,930 8,639
Cumulative change in fair value of related Transportation, storage and communications 7,709 6,878
credit derivatives/enhancements (318) {104) financial institutions, investment and
holding companies 8,521 8,001
o - . o Professionals and private individuals
Changes in fair value arising from changes in credit risks are :

. . g . (except housing loans) 7,948 7183
determined as the amount of change in their fair value that is Others 6.711 5 938
not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise ! ’
to market risk. Changes in market conditions that give rise to Gross total 86,599 79,123

market risk include changes in a benchmark interest rate, foreign

exchange rate or index of prices or rates.
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The Group
In $ millions 2006 2005
Analysed by products
Long-term ioans 36,188 28,693
Short-term facilities 19,117 19,254
Overdrafts 3,262 3,482
Housing loans 25,043 25,005
Trade financing 2,989 2,689
Gross total 86,599 79,123
Analysed by currency and fixed/variable rates
Fixed rate™
Singapore dollar 7,941 717
Hong Kong dellar 633 409
US dollar 229 208
Others 820 428
Sub-total 9,623 8,216
Variable rate®
Singapore dollar 27,671 26,322
Hong Kong dollar 24,309 24,312
US dollar 15,068 14,912
Others 9,928 5.361
Sub-total 76,976 70,907
Gross total 86,599 79,123

(a} Fixed rate loans refer to long-term loans where the interest rates are
fixed for the initial 1 to 3 years for certain mortgage loans, and over
the entire loan period for other loans

{b) Veriable rate loans refer to Joans that are pegged to prime, short-term
cost of funds or inter-bank rates

Movements in specific and general allowances during the year
were as follows:

The Group

In $ millions 2006 2005
Specific allowances

Balance at 1 January 636 557
Charge to income statement 159 196
Write-off during the year {216) (112)
Exchange and other movements (15) (5)
Balance at 31 December 564 636
General allowances

Balance at 1 January 851 805

Charge to income statement 69 a1
Exchange and other movements (34) 5

886 851

Balance at 31 December
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21 NON-PERFORMING ASSETS

The Group classifies its credit facilities in accordance with MAS
Notice to Banks No. 612, "Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning”
issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore ("MAS"). These
guidelines require the Group to categorise its credit portfolios
according to its assessment of a borrower's ability to repay a loan
from his narmal sources of income. There are five categories of
foans as follows:

Performing

= Pass grades indicate that the timely repayment of the
outstanding credit facilities is not in doubt.

= Special mention grades indicate that the credit facilities exhibit
potential weaknesses that, if not corrected in a timely manner,
may adversely affect future repayments and warrant close
attention by the bank.

Classified or non-performing loans

- Substandard grades indicate that the credit facilities exhibit
definable weaknesses either in respect of business, cash flow
or financial position of the borrower that may jeopardise
repayment on existing terms.

- Doubtful grades indicate that the credit facilities exhibit severe
weaknesses such that the prospect of full recovery of the
outstanding credit facilities is questionable and the prospect of
a loss is high, but the exact amount remains undeterminable.

~ Loss grades indicate the amount of loan recovery is assessed to
be insignificant.

The Group may also apply a split classification to any credit facility
where appropriate. For instance, when a non-performing loan is
partially secured, the portion covered by the amount realisable
from a collateral may be dassified as substandard while the
unsecyred portion of the loan will be classified as doubtful or loss,
as appropriate,

Non-performing assets (“NPAs”) by loan grading

The Group

Specific
In § millions NPAs allowances
2006
Substandard 939 82
Doubtful 243 216
Loss 351 351
Total 1,533 649
2005
Substandard 1,220 156
Doubtful 276 244
Loss 369 369
Total 1,865 769
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Non-performing assets by industry

Non-performing assets by region

The Group The Group
Specific Specific
In $ millions NPAs allowances In $ millions NPAs allowances
2006 2006
Customer loans Singapore 840 366
Manufacturing 314 170 Hong Kong 363 151
Building and construction 107 50 Rest of Greater China 68 20
Housing loans 224 56  South and Southeast Asia 156 77
General commerce 336 136  Rest of the World 106 35
Transpf)rtfathn. gtorag.e and communications 25 12 Total 1,533 649
Financial institutions, investment and
holding companies 173 47 2005
Professional and private individuals singapore 999 441
{except housing loans) 142 65 Hong Kong 402 140
Others 139 79  Rest of Greater China 91 36
o e Uit A
Debt securities 36 15
Contingent items 37 9 Total 1,865 769
Total 1,533 649
Non-performing assets by overdue period
The Group
The Group -
. In $ millions 2006 2005
specific
In $ millions NPAs allowances  Not overdue 413 697
2005 < 90 days overdue 332 353
Customer loans 91-180 days overdue 128 157
Manufacturing 434 295 > 180 days overdue 660 658
Building and construction 103 37 Total 1.533 1,865
Housing loans 256 66
General commerce . 367 130 Restructured non-performing assets
Transportation, storage and communications 30 13 "
. e . Loans are classified as restructured loans when the Group grants
Financial institutions, investment and . o . .
) . concessions to a borrower because of deterioration In the financial
helding companies 164 47 ” N
} . o position of the borrower or the inability of the borrower to meet
Professional and private individuals - . .
. the original repayment schedule. A restructured credit facility is
(except housing Joans) 204 84 g . . .
Others 133 71 classified into the appropriate non-performing grade depending
on the assessment of the financial condition of the borrower and
Sub-total® 1,691 693 the ability of the borrower to repay based on the restructured
Debt securities 130 57  terms. Such loans are not returned to the performing status until
Contingent items 44 19 there are reasonable grounds 1o conclude that the borrower will
Total 1 865 769 be able to service all future principal and interest payments on the

(a) MPAs and specific alfowances for customer loans each included

$53 mitlion {2005: $57 million) in interest receivables

credit facility in accordance with the restructured terms.
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The Group

Specific
In % millions NPAs allowances
2006
Substandard 218 29
Doubtful 66 a8
Loss 42 42
Total 326 119
2005
Substandard 429 85
Doubtful 26 27
Loss a1 41
Total 496 153

22 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Mavements in impairment allowances during the year were as
follows:

The Group
In $ millions 2006 2005
Balance at t January 222 341
On adoption of FRS 39 at 1 January 2005 - (110
{(Write-back)/charge to income statement (32) 3
Write-off during the year (10) (10}
Exchange and other movernents 1" (2)
Balance at 31 December 191 222
23 SECURITIES PLEDGED

The Group
In $ millions 2006 2005

Securities pledged
Singapore Government securities

In $ miliions ZmllGThe Grou;ODS and treasury bills 317 20
Other government securities and treasury bills 2,549 2,360
Available-for-sale o fa
Quoted other government securities Total securities pledged 2,866 2,380
and treasury bills 2,858 4,133 Related liabilities 2,451 2,178
Quoted corporate dgt?t securities 15.343 15,643 fa) Included financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of §1,483
Quoted equity securities 1,996 1,262 ifon (2005 §1,397 milfion)
Unguoted equity securities 298 358 o U °
. H {a)
Less: Impairment allowances 164 158 24 SUBSIDIARIES
Available-for-sale financial investments 20,331 21,238 The Company
A In § millions 2006 2005
Loans and receivables
Corporate debt securities 1,957 1,928 Unguoted equity shares, at cost 6,726 6,731
Less: Impairment allowances 27 64 Due from subsidiaries 201 59
Loans and receivables financial investments 1,930 1,864 Total 6,927 6,790
Total 22,261 23,102 Refer to Note 50 for details of significant subsidiaries.
Market value of quoted securities 22,137 22,927

{a} Comprised impairment allowances on unguoted equities and general
allowances for credit refated exposures

Analysed by industry

Manufacturing 545 932
Building and construction 1,019 1,670
General commerce 121 255
Transport, storage and communications 830 1,184
Financial institutions, investment and

holding companies 13,521 12,938
Government 2,858 4,133
Others 3,367 2,590
Total carrying value 22,261 23,102
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25  JOINT VENTURES
The Group's share of income and expenses, and assets and
fiabiiities of joint ventures at 31 December were as follows:

The Group

In'$ millions 2006 2005

Income statement
Share of income 43 29

Share of expenses (37 (22)
Balance sheet

Share of total assets 540 142
Share of to1al liabilities 463 108

Refer to Note 50 for details of significant joint ventures.
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On 4 January 2006, DBS Bank purchased 17.5% shareholdings

of Cholamandalam DBS Finance Limited {formerly known as
Cholamandalam Invesiments and Finance Company Limited) from
Tube Investments of India Ltd (“T1") for a consideration of $37
million, bringing DBS’s total shareholdings to 37.5%, with DBS
Bank and Ti being equal shareholders sharing joint control.

26 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Group

In % millions 2006 2005
Unquoted

Cost 57 84
Impairment allowances (28) {28)
Share of post acquisition reserves 52 34
Sub-total 81 90
Quoted

Cost 1,275 1,312
Goodwill written off (837) {837
Net exchange translation adjustments {46) (45)
Share of post acquisition reserves 130 65
Sub-total 522 495
Total 603 585
Market value - quoted associates 1,160 864

The Group’s share of income and expenses, and assets and
liabilities of associates at 31 December were as follows:

The Group

In § millions 2006 2005
Income statement

Share of income 368 327
Share of expenses (301) (273)
Balance sheet

Share of total assets 4,133 3,912
Share of total liahilities 3,563 3,327

Refer to Note 50 for details of significant associates.

27 GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION

Set out below is the carrying value of the Group’s goodwill
arising from acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures as at 31
December, after an assessment for impairment was performed:

The Group
In § millions 2006 2005
Balance at 1 January 5,803 6,931
Impairment charge - (1,128)
Acquisition of a subsidiary and a joint venture 39 -
Exchange difference {2) -
Balance at 31 December 5,840 5,803

Goodwill arising from acquisition of subsidiaries is allocated to the
Group's cash-generating units as follows:
As at 31 December

In $ millions 2006 2005
DBS Bank {Hong Kong) Limited 5.649 5,649
DBS Vickers Securities Holdings Pte Ltd 154 154
Cholamandalam DBS Finance Limited
(formerly known as Cholamandalam
Investments and Finance Company Limited) Eq -
Primefield Company Pte Ltd 6 -
Total 5,840 5,803
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:
DBS Vickers
DBS Bank  Securities
{Hong Kong)  Holdings
Lirmnited Pte Ltd
Growth rate 4.5% 4.0%
Discouni rate 9.5% 9.0%

The recoverable amounts are determined based on a value-in-use
calculation. These calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets and forecasts approved by senior management
covering a five-year period, taking inte account projected
regulatory capital requirements. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated
above. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the market in which the businesses operate.

For the year ended 31 December 2006, no impairment charge
was required for goodwill arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries and joint ventures. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change to the key assumptions applied is
not likely to cause the recoverable amounts to be lower than the
carrying amounts.

For the year ended 31 December 2005, an impairment charge of
41,128 million was recorded in "Goodwill charges’ in the income
statement. This was attributed to goodwill arising from acquisition
of DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited.
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28 PROPERTIES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS

Movements in allowances for impairment of properties during the

The Group year were as follows:
Total Other The Group
In § millions properties assets™ Total In § millions 2006 2005
2006 Balance at 1 January 312 355
Cost Write-back to income statement (71) (46)
Balance at 1 January 1.790 628 2,418  Disposals (39) -
Additions 29 210 23%  Exchange and other movements (8} 3
Disposals (337) {121) {458)
Exchange differences (78) (17) (95) Balance at 31 December 194 312
Balance at 31 December 1404 700 2104 28.1 The ret book value of PWC Building, being a property held
Less: Accumulated depreciation for the purpose of generating rental income, was $390 million
Balance at 1 January 164 280 444 as at 31 December 2006 {2005 $347 million}. 1ts fair value was
Depreciation charge 32 98 130 independently appraised at $390 million (2005: $347 million).
Disposals (57} (79) {136)
Exchange differences (6) 3) (9) 28.2 On 7 December 20086, Tampines Assets Limited, a special
Balance at 31 December 133 296 420 Purpose entity consolidated in the Grqup financials, ;c_:ld its DBS
Tampines Centre for a cash consideration of $212 million, and
Less: Allowances for impairment 194 - 124 the building was derecognised on the balance sheet as at that
Net book value, 31 December 1.077 204 1,481 date. A gain of $50 million, being the excess of the sales proceeds
over the net book value and after deducting related expenses and
Market value, 31 December 1.468 - = amounts attributable to senior note holders, was recognised in
2005 the income statement.
Cost 283 On 18 May 2006, DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited sold s
Balance at 1 January 2,182 461 2643 > o Viay <706, g rongi Lim
. office premises in Hong Kong for a cash consideration of HK$655
Additions 28 197 225 .- - . .
Disposals (440) (39) (a78) million (53126 million), and the premises were derecognised on
Exchange differences 20 4 24 the balance sheet as at that date. A net gain of HK$267 million
9 (5§54 million) being the excess of the sales proceeds over the net
Balance at 31 December 1,790 628 2,418  book value and after deducting related expenses, was recognised
Less: Accumulated depreciation in the income statement.
Balance at 1 January 279 21 490 29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
Depreciation charge 52 96 148 S .
) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
Disposals (170) (29) {199) ) .
Exchange differences 3 2 s enfarceable right to set off current tax assets against current
9 tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the
Balance at 31 December 164 280 444 same fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined after
Less: Allowances for impairment 312 — 317  appropriate offsetting, were shown in the balance sheet:
The Group
Net book value, 31 December 1,314 348 1,662 In'$ millions 2006 2005
Market value, 31 December 1,730 - - Deferred tax assets 20 51
o 7
{a) Refers to computer hardware, software, affice equipment, furniture and Deferred tax liabilities (137) (>8)
fittings and other fixed assets Total (117) {7
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The movement in deferred tax is as follows:

31 DUE TO NON-BANK CUSTOMERS

The Group The Group
in % millions 2006 2005 In $ millions 2006 2005
Balance at 1 January 7 40 Analysed by currency
On adoption of FRS 39 at 1 January 2005 - (49)  Singapore dollar 65,927 59,181
(Charge)/credit to income statement (66) 13 US dollar 21,374 21,078
Charge to equity (44) (11)  Hong Kong dollar 21,698 15,812
Balance at 31 December (117} (7) Others 13.093 10,360
Total 122,092 106,431
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities were attributable to the Analysed by product
following items: Savings accounts 47,491 45,409
The Group Current accounts 14,109 14,004
In $ millions 2006 2005  Fixed deposits 57,707 44,564
Deferred income tax assets Other deposits 2,785 2,454
Allowances for loan losses 78 153 Total 122,092 106,431
Cther temporary differences 30 28
108 181 32 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
Deferred income tax liabilities THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS The G
Accelerated tax depreciation (121) (126) 0 $ mill 2006 ® mu:nos
Available-for-sale investrments/cash flow hedge  (104) 61) n 3 mifions
Other temporary differences - (1) Trading
(225) (188) Other debt securities in issue (Note 32.1) 2,951 3,409
Due to non-bank customers
Total {(117) {7) - structured investments 6,436 6,097
— others 270 432
Payable in respect of short
30 OTHER ASSETS The & sale of debt securities 3,564 6,799
N @ Broup Other financial liabilities 674 9
In § millions 2006 2005
Accrued interest receivable 1,136 435 Sub-total 13,895 16,745
Deposits and prepayments 298 316  Fair value designated®
Clients’ monies receivable Due to non-bank customers
from securities business 885 4 — structured investments 2,575 3,924
Sundry debtors and others 2,160 3,078  Other debt securities in issue (Note 32.2) 3,238 2,153
Total 4,479 4,730  Sub-total 5,813 6,077
Total 19,708 22,823

{a) Changes in the fair value of the financial fiabilities designated as at
fair value through profit or loss are attributable mainly tc equity,
interest and currency risk changes. The remaining change that is not
attributable to changes in the benchmark interest rate is considered
not significant. Unrealised gain for the fair value designated liabilities
amount to $177 miflion at 31 December 2006 (2005: $249 million)
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32.1 Other debt securities in issue (Trading)

Details of other debt securities issued and outstanding at 31 December 2006 were as follows:

In § millions The Group
Type Issue Date Maturity Date 2006 2005
Issued by DBS Bank
Equity linked notes 19 May 2003 to 2 Jan 2007 to 723 806
29 Dec 2006 21 May 2014
Credit linked notes 15 Nov 2001 10 13 Jan 2007 to 1.528 1,932
21 Nov 2006 20 Jun 2016
Interest linked notes 23 Jan 2002 to 6 Jan 2007 to 643 585
19 Dec 2006 3 Dec 2019
Exchange linked notes 6 May 2005 to 2 Jan 2007 to 57 86
18 Dec 2006 21 Dec 2007
Total 2,951 3,409
Due within 1 year 863 827
Due after 1 year 2,088 2,582
Total 2,951 3,409
32.2 Other debt securities in issue (Fair value designated)
The Group
tn $ millions 2006 2005
Negotiable certificate of deposits 149 1,010
Other debt securities 3,089 1,143
Total 3,238 2,153
Due within 1 year 1,605 453
Due after 1 year 1,633 1,700
Total 3.238 2,153
Details of negotiable certificate of deposits issued and outstanding at 31 December 2006 were as follows:
In $ millions The Group
Face Value Interest Rate and Repayment Terms Issue Date Maturity Date 2006 2005
Issued by other subsidiaries
HK$67 1m 3-mth HIBOR* -0.1% to +0.01%, 3Feb 2004 to  26Feb 2007 to 133 168
payable gquarterly 31 May 2005 6 Apr 2010
US$10m 3-mth LIBOR**, payable quarterly 30 Mar 2005to 29 Oct 2007 to 16 23
31 May 2005 7 Apr 2008
HK$1,150m Fixed rate, payable quarterly - - - 244
HK$50m Fixed rate, payable half yearly - - - 1
HK$2,680m Fixed rate, payable yearly - - - 564
Total 149 1,010

*  HIBOR: Hong Kong interbank Offer Rate
** LIBOR: London Interbank Offer Rate
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Details of other debt securities issued and ouistanding at 31 December 2006 were as follows:

In $ millions The Group

Type Issue Date Maturity Date 2006 2005

Issued by DBS Bank

Credit linked notes 2 Jul 2004 10 17 Jan 2007 to 474 109
18 Dec 2006 12 Sep 2011

Exchange linked notes 29 Dec 2006 17 Yan 2007 3 -

Stapled notes with non-voting redeemable preference 135%ep 2006 t¢ 15 Nov 2007 to 1,263 -

shares and fixed rate notes {Note {a)} 13 Dec 2006 30 Dec 2007

tssued by other subsidiaries

Equity linked notes 21 Mar 2005 to 10 Nov 2009 1o 50 30
10 Nov 2006 10 Nov 2011

Credit linked notes 9 Oct 2003 to 9 Oct 2008 to 1,268 939
22 Nov 2006 22 Nov 2013

Secured asset-backed medium term notes (Note {b)} 30 Nov 2001 25 Apr 2008 31 65

Total 3,089 1,143

{a}  The notes consist of non-voting redeemable preference
shares and fixed rate notes which are issued and stapled together.
The payments at maturity can be either dividgends and nominal
interest, or fuil interest on issue value of the stapled securities. The
nen-voting redeemahble preference shares are classified as liabilities
instead of shareholders’ equity in accordance with the substance
of the transaction.

33  OTHER LIABILITIES

(b}  The notes issued by New Heights Investrnent Limited wou'd
be redeemed at a fixed interest rate on the maturity provided that
there is no occurrence of a credit event. If there is an occurrence
of a credit event, the issuer of the note will deliver bonds or loans
or their market value in cash terms 1o the holder of the notes.
The notes are secured on deposits equivalent to the issue price,

a series of credit default swaps whereby the issuer sells credit

protection, and cross currency swaps.

The Group
tn $ millions 2006 2005
Sundry crediters 2,911 2,992
Cash callaterals received in respect of valuation shortfalls on derivative portfolios 539 460
Interest payable 593 421
Valuation reserves 195 181
Loss allowances for off-balance sheet credit exposures 126 95
QOther payables 2,313 1,326
Total 6,677 5,475
Movements in loss allowances for off-balance sheet credit exposures during the year were as follows:

The Group

In $ millions 2006 2005
Balance at 1 January 95 126
Charge/(Write-back) to income statement 3 (31
Balance at 31 December 126 95
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34 OTHER DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

The Group
In § millions 2006 2005
Negotiable certificate of deposits 536 522
Other debt securities 3,414 1,918
Total 3,950 2,440
Due within 1 year 3,682 1,410
Due after 1 year 268 1,030
Total 3,950 2,440
Details of negotiable certificate of deposits issued and outstanding at 31 December 2006 were as follows:
In $ millions The Group
Face Value Interest Rate and Repayment Terrns Issue Date Maturity Date 2006 ) 2005
Issued by DBS Bank
TWDS00m 1.705%, payable on maturity 9 Nov 2006 9 Jan 2007 42 187
Issued by other subsidiaries
HK$750m 2.13% to 8.34%, payable quarterly 10 May 2000 to 5 Jan 2007 1o 147 113
16 Feb 2005 23 Feb 2008
HK$1,343m 2.175% to 4.12%, payabie yearly 65p 2004to 16 May 2007 to 261 22
10 May 2006 9 Mar 2009
HK$436m 3-mth HIBOR* +0.01% to +0.07%, 30 Nov 2004 to 7 Jun 2007 to 86 200
payable gquarterly 31 May 2005 7 Dec 2007
Total 536 522
*  HIBOR: Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate
Details of other debt securities issued and outstanding at 31 December 2006 were as follows:
In $ millions The Group
Type Issue Date Maturity Date 2006 2005
Issued by DBS Bank
Stapled notes with non-voting redeemable preference 20Dec 200510 15 Nov 2007 to 2,023 934
shares and fixed rate notes (Note (a)) 13 Dec 2006 30 Pec 2007
Issued by other subsidiaries/joint ventures
Equity linked notes 28 Nov 2006 o 3 Jan 2007 to 2 -
13 Dec 2006 19 Jan 2007
Coliaterialised floating rate notes (Note (b)) - - - 66
Senior secured bonds (Note () - - - 108
Asset-backed short term notes (AUD 654 million at 6.24% to 10 Oct 2006 to 3 Jan 2007 to 1.141 810

6.38% payable at maturity and $349 million at 3.38%
to 3.44% payable at maturity} (Note (d))
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In $ millions The Group
Type Issue Date Maturity Date 2006 2005
Redeemable non-convertible debentures (Note ()
— Fixed rate at 7.2% 10 9.35% 15 Dec 2005 to 6 Sep 2007 to 73 -
12 Dec 2006 31 May 2012
- Floating rate at INBMK* +0.25% t0 +1.3% 3 Mar 2005 to 3 Mar 2008 to 36 -
31 Jul 2006 31 Jul 2009
— Floating rate at MIBOR** -0.1% to +2.18% 27 Dec 2004 tc 23 Feb 2007 to 87 -
29 Dec 2006 31 Jul 2009
Commercial papers {INR 1.5 billion discounted at 7.39% to 8.2%) 1Sep2006tc 28 Feb 2007 to 52 -
30 Nov 2006 17 Apr 2007
3,414 1,918

Total

*  INBMK: Indian Benchmark
** MIBOR: Mumbai Interbank Offer Rate

(@  The notes issued by DBS Bank consist of non-voting
redeemable preference shares and fixed rate notes which are
issued and stapled together. The payments at maturity can be
either dividends and nominal interest, or full interest on issue
value of the stapled securities. The non-vating redeemable
preference shares are classified as liabilities instead of
shareholders’ equity in accordance with the substance of the
transaction.

{b)  The notes issued by DBS China Square Ltd, a subsidiary of
DBS Bank, were fully redeemed on 30 November 2006.

35 SUBORDINATED TERM DEBTS

{c}  The bonds were issued by Tampines Asset Limited, a special
purpose entity, in connection with the securitisation of Tampines
Centre. These bonds were fully redeemed on 7 December 2006.

{d)  The notes were issued by Red Orchid Secured Assets
Limited. The short-dated notes are secured by a debenture
creating a first fixed and floating charge over property, assets,
rights and undertakings of the issuer.

{e}  The notes were issued by Cholamandalam DBS Finance
Limited, a joint venture. The medium-term debentures amounting
to INR 1.7 billion are secured on a pari passu by way of specific
charge on assets under hypothecation, hire-purchase assets and
immovable property.

Subordinated term debts issued by subsidiaries of the Group are classified as fiabilities in accordance with FRS 32. Certain of these
instruments qualify as Tier 2 capital for capital adequacy purposes. These subordinated term debts are junior long-term debts that have a

lower priority claim on the Group's assets in the case of a default or liquidation.

In $ miflions The Group

Face Value Issue Date Maturity Date 2006 2005

Issued by DBS Bank

US$750m 7 7/8% Subordinated Notes (Note 35.1) 10 Aug 1999 10 Aug 2009 1,204 1,333

US$500m 7 7/8% Subordinated Notes (Note 35.2) 15 Apr 2000 15 Apr 2010 808 898

Us$850m 7 1/8% Subordinated Notes (Note 35.3) 15 May 2001 15 May 2011 1,341 1,480

US$750m 5.00% Subordinated Notes callable 1 Qct 2004 15 Nov 2018 1,116 1,219
with step-up in 2014 {Note 35.4)

Us$900m Floating Rate Subordinated Notes callable 16 Jun 2006 15 Jul 2021 1,379 -
with step-up in 2016 {Note 35.5)

5$500m 4.47% Subordinated Notes callable with 11 Jul 2006 15 Jul 2021 500 -
step-up in 2016 (Note 35.6)

Issued by other subsidiaries

Us$262m 7.75% Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes (Note 35.7) 24 jan 1997 24 Jan 2007 401 435

Total 6,749 5,365
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The Group
In $ millions 2006 2005
Due within 1 year 401 -
Due after 1 year 6,348 5,365
Total 6,749 5,365

35.1 Interest is payable semi-annually on 10 February and 10
August commencing 10 February 2000. Part of the fixed rate
funding has been converted to floating rate at three-month LIBOR
+ 1.0475% via interest rate swaps. in computing the Group’s
capital adequacy ratio, these notes qualify as Tier 2 capital,

35.2 Interest is payable semi-annually on 15 April and 15
October commencing 15 October 2000. The fixed rate funding
has been converted to floating rate at six-month LIBOR
+0.9569% via interest rate swaps. In computing the Group's
capital adequacy ratio, these notes qualify as Tier 2 capital.

35.3 Interest is payable semi-annualiy on 15 May and 15
November commencing 15 November 2001. The fixed rate
funding has been converted to fioating rate at three-month LIBOR
+1.252% via interest rate swaps. In computing the Group’s
capital adequacy ratio, these notes qualify as Tier 2 capital.

35.4 Interest is payable semi-annually on 15 May and 15
November commencing 15 May 2005. Part of the fixed rate
funding has been converted to floating rate at three-month LIBOR
+0.611% via interest rate swaps. If the notes are nat called at the

tenth year, the interest rate steps up and will be reset at six-month
LIBOR + 1.61% on the call date. In computing the Group’s capital
adequacy ratio, these notes qualify as Tier 2 capital.

35.5 Interest is payable quarterly on 15 January, 15 April, 15 July
and 15 October commencing 15 October 2006, interest on the
notes will be paid initially at three-month LIBOR + 0.61%. If the
notes are not called at the tenth year, the interest rate steps up
and will be set at three-month LIBOR + 1.61% on the call date. In
computing the Group’'s capital adequacy ratio, these notes qualify
as Tier 2 capital.

35.6 Interest is payable semi-annually on 15 January and 15
July commencing 15 January 2007, If the notes are not called at
the tenth year, the interest rate steps up and will be reset at a
floating rate per annum equal to six-month Singapore swap offer
rate + 1.58% on the call date, In computing the Group's capital
adequacy ratio, these notes qualify as Tier 2 capital.

35.7 Interest is payable semi-annually on 24 January and 24 July,
commencing 24 July 1997,

36 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND TREASURY SHARES

Share Capital

The Company

In § millions 2005

Authorised

4,000,000,000 ordinary shares 4,000

500,000,000 non-voting convertible preference shares (“CPS") 500

500,000,000 non-voting redeemable CPS 500
1,000

The Companies {Amendment) Act 2005 came into effect on 30 Janua

and share premium were abolished. On 30 January 2006, amount
and became part of the Company's share capital henceforth.
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Share Capital The Company

In $ millions 2006 2005
Issued and fully paid-up

1,510,835,033 (2005: 1 ,497,857,345) ordinary shares 1,511 1,498
120,436 (2005: 120,436) non-voting CPS # #
66,475,374 (2005: 66,475,374) non-voting redeemable CPS 66 66
Total Issued and Paid-up Share Capital of the Company 1,577 1,564

#  Amounts under $500,000

During the financial year, pursuant to the DBSH Share Option Plan, the Company issued 12,977,688 (2005 5,126,909) ordinary shares,
fully paid in cash upon the exercise of the options granted. The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the previcusly

issued shares. The mavements in ordinary shares and CPS were as follows:
Share Capital

The Company

Number of shares ($ millions) 2006 2005
Balance at 1 January 1,564 1,559
Exercise of share options 13 5
Balance at 31 December 1,577 1,564

The non-voting CPS and non-voting redeemable CPS enjoy the same dividend rate paid on ordinary shares except that the dividend

payable is subject to maximum of $0.30 per annum.

Mavements in share capital and treasury shares were as follows:

Issued share Share Treasury
In $ millions capital premium shares
Balance at 1 January 2006 1,564 2,269 (117)
Exercise of share options 165 7 -
Effects of Companies (Amendment) Act 2005 2,304 (2,276} -
Draw-down of reserves upon vesting of perfarmance shares - - 6
Reclassification of reserves upon exercise of share options 9 - -
Balance at 31 December 2006 4,042 - {111)
Balance at 1 January 2005 1,659 2,208 (126)
Exercise of share options S 59 -
Draw-down of reserves upon vesting of performance shares - - 9
Reclassification of reserves upon exercise of share aptions - 2 -
Balance at 31 December 2005 1,564 2,269 (117

37 OTHER RESERVES
37.1 Other reserves

The Group The Company
In $ millions 2006 2005 2006 2005
Available-for-sale revaluation reserves 414 11 - -
Cash flow hedge reserves - 23 - -
General reserves 2,423 2,362 - -
Capital reserves (1) (26} - -
Capital redemption reserves - 28 - 28
Share option and share plan reserves 85 72 53 49
Others 4,21 4,271 - -
Total 7.182 6,841 53 77
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Movements in other reserves during the year were as follows:

The Group
Available- Share
forsale Cash flow Capital  option and
revaluation hedge General Capital redemption share plan Other

In § millions reserves reserves reserves”  reserves® reserves'© reserves  reserves™ Total
Balance at 1 January 2006 " 23 2,362 {26) 28 72 4271 6,841
Effects of Companies {(Amendment) Act 2005 - - - - (28) - - (28)
Appropriation from income statement - - 61 - - - - 61
Net exchange translation adjustments - - - (6) - - - (6)
Share of associates’ capital reserves - - - 21 - - - 21
Cost of share-based payments - - - - - 28 - 28
Draw-down of reserves upon vesting

of performance shares - - - - - (6) - (6)
Reclassification of reserves upon

exercise of share options - - - - - (9) - (9)
Available-for-sale/cash flow hedge:
- net valuation taken 1o equity 454 (29) - - - - - 425
- transferred to fncome statement on sale (101) - - - - - - (101)
- tax on items taken directly to or

transferred from equity {50) 6 - - - - - (44)

Balance at 31 December 2006 414 - 2,423 {11) - 85 4,271 7,182
Balance at 1 January 2005
- as previously reported - - 2,327 (41) 28 - 427N 6,585
- effect of adoption of new or revised FRSs 292 - - - - 42 - 42
Balance at 1 January as restated - - 2,327 (41} 28 42 4271 6,627
On adaptation of FRS 39 at 1 January 292 - - - - - - 292
Apprapriation from income statement - - 35 - - - - 35
Net exchange translation adjustments - - - 7 - - - 7
Share of associates’ capital reserves - - - 8 - - - 8
Cost of share-based payments - - - - - a1 - a
Draw-down of reserves upon vesting

of perfermance shares - -~ - - - (9 - (9
Reclassification of reserves upon

exercise of share options - - - - - {2) - 2)
Available-for-sale/cash flow hedge:
- net valuation taken to equity (87) 28 - - - - - {(59)
- transferred 1o income statement on sale (88) - - - - - - (88)
- tax on iems taken directly to or

transferred from equity (8) (5) - - - - - (11}

Balance at 31 December 2005 (RN 23 2,362 (26) 28 72 4,271 6,841
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The Company

Capital Share option

redemption and share

tn $ millions reserves® plan reserves Total

Balance at 1 January 2006 28 49 77

Effects of Companies {Amendment) Act 2005 {28) - (28)
Cost of share-based payments - 13 13

Reclassification of reserves upon exercise of share options - (9) 9)
Balance at 31 Decermber 2006 - 53 53

Balance at 1 January 2005

— as previously reported 28 - 28

— effect of adoption of new or revised FRSs - 34 34

Balance at 1 January as restated 28 34 62

Cost of share-based paymenis - 17 17

Reclassification of reserves upon exercise of share options - 2) (2)
Balance at 31 December 2005 28 49 77

{a) The mavements in General reserves refate to the amounts transterred to the Reserve Fund to comply with the Banking Act, and the ather statutory
regulations. This reserve is non-distributable unless approved by the refevant authorities

{b) The Capital reserves include net exchange transtation adjustments arising from transiation differences on net investments in foreign subsidiaries,
joint ventures, associates and branches, and the related foreign currency borrowings designated as a hedge

(c) The Capital redemption reserves arise out of the redemption of non-voting redeemable convertible preference shares by way of capital reduction in
the financial year ended 31 December 2000

{d} Other reserves relate to the share premiurm of DBS Bank prior to the restructuring of DBS Bank under a financial services holding company,
DBSH, pursuant to a scheme of arrangement under Section 210 of the Singapore Companies Act on 26 June 1999

37.2 Revenue reserves

The Groug
In $ millions 2006 2005
Balance at 1 January
— as previously reported 6,167 6,150
- effect of adoption of new or revised FRSs - 26
Balance at 1 January as restated 6,167 6,176
On adoption of FRS 39 at 1 January 2005 - (25}
Share of associates' reserves 18 -
Net profit attributable to shareholders 2,269 824
Transfer 1o general reserves {61) (35
Amount available for distribution 8,393 6,940
Less: Final dividend on ordinary shares of $0.17 (2005: $0.22) net of tax paid for the previous financial year 203 263
Fina! dividend on non-voting CPS and non-voting redeemable CPS of $Nil (2005: $0.12)
net of tax paid for the previous financial year - 6
Interim dividends on ordinary shares of $0.51 (2005 $0.41) net of 1ax paid for the current finandial year 612 488
Interim dividends on nen-voting CPS and non-voting redeemable CPS of $0.30 (2005; $0.30) net of
tax paid for the current financial year 16 16
Balance at 31 December 7.562 6,167
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37.3 Proposed dividend

Proposed final dividends on ordinary shares of $0.20 per share, riet of tax, as well as a special dividend of $0.05 per share, net of tax,
are not accounted for in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006, until they have been approved at the Annual

General Meeting on 4 April 2007.

38 MINORITY INTERESTS

The Group

In $ millions 2006 2005
Preference shares issued by

D85 Bank (Note 38.1) 1,100 1,100
Preference shares issued by DBS Capital

Funding Corporation {Note 38.2) 1,196 1,298
Other subsidiaries 75 68
Total 2,31 2,466

38.1 31,100 million 6% non-cumulative non-convertible
perpetual preference shares and  liquidation preference of $100
each, was issued on 28 May 2001 by DBS Bank, a subsidiary of
the Company, to third parties. They qualify as Tier 1 capital for the
calculation of the Group’s capital adequacy ratios. Dividends, if
declared by the Board of Directors of DBS Bank, are payable semi-
annually on 15 May and 15 November at a fixed rate of 6% gross
of the liquidation preference per annum, ending on or prior to 15
May 2011, and thereafter on 15 February, 15 May, 15 August and
15 November in each year at a fioating rate per annum equal to
the three-month Singapore swap offer rate plus 2.28%.

38.2 US$725 million 7.657% non-cumulative guaranteed
preference shares, Series A, each with a liquidation preference of
US$1.000 and $100 million 5.35% non-cumulative guaranteed
preference shares, Series B, each with a liquidation preference of
$10,000 were issued on 21 March 2001 by DBS Capital Funding
Corporation, a subsidiary of DBS Bank, Dividends, when declared
by the Board of Directars of DBS Capital Funding Corporation, are
payable in arrears on 15 March and 15 September each year at a
fixed rate of 7.657% per annum {Series A) and 5.35% per annum
(Series B), up to 15 March 2011. Thereafter, dividends are payable
quarterly in arrears on 15 March, 15 June, 15 September and

15 December each year at a floating rate of three-month London
Interbank Offer Rate (“LIBOR”) + 3.2% per annum {(Series A) and
three-month Singapore Swap Offer Rate + 2.52% per annum
(Series B). In computing the Group's capital adequacy ratio, these
guaranteed preference shares qualify as Tier 1 capital.
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39 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group conducts business involving guarantees, performance
bonds and indemnities. The majority of these facilities are offset
by corresponding obtigations of third parties.

Guarantees and performance bonds are generally written

by the Group to support the performance of a custamer to

third parties. As the Group will only be required to meet these
obligations in the event of the customer’s default, the cash
requirements of these instruments are expected to be considerably
below their nominal amount.

Endorsements are residual liabilities of the Group in respect
of bills of exchange, which have been paid and subsequently
rediscounted.

The Group

In $ millions 2006 2005
Guarantees on account of customers 6,909 4,052
Endorsements and other obligations

on account of customers
- Letters of credit 4,495 4,217
— Others 708 412
Other contingent items 75 88
Totai 12,187 8,769
Analysed by Industry
Manufacturing 2,814 1,735
Building and construction 778 862
General commerce 2,576 2,920
Transportation, storage and communications 940 660
Financial institutions, investment and

hotding companies 3,227 1,016
Professionals and private individuals

{except housing loans) 180 354
Others 2,072 1,222
Total 12,187 8,769
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39.1 DBS Bank, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corpany, has
existing outsourcing agreements for the provision of information
technology and related support to the Group’s operations in
Singapore, Hong Kong and China. There are various termination
clauses in the agreements that could require the Group to pay
termination fees on early termination of the cantract or part
thereof. The termination fees are stipulated in the agreements and
are determined based on the year when the agreements or part
thereof are terminated.

39.2 Included in “Other contingent items” at 31 December
2006, is an amount of $75 million (2005: 485 million),
representing the termination fee payable by DBS Bank should
a distribution agreement be terminated prematurely prior to
December 2011.

40 COMMITMENTS
The Group's commitments at 31 December comprised the following:
The Group

In $ millions 2006 2005
Loans and other facilities
— Undrawn credit facilities 85,520 75,168
— Undisbursed commitments in

debt securities and equities 88 103
Sub-total 85,608 75,271
Capital commitments 40 68
Operating lease commitrnents 417 465
Total 86,065 75,804

Undrawn commitments on loans and other facilities
analysed by industry

Manufacturing 11,630 9,775
Building and construction 4,825 3,369
Housing loans 2,571 1,915
General commerce 9,579 7.704
Transportation, storage and communications 5,372 5,509
Financial institutions, investment and

holding companies 23,727 23,330
Professionals and private individuals

{except housing loans) 15,218 13,892
Others 12,686 9,777
Total 85.608 75,271

The total future minimum tease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases at 31 December were as follows:

The Group
In § millions 2006 2005
Not later than 1 year 109 107
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 220 23
Later than 5 years a8 127
Total 417 465
41  FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

Financial derivatives are financial instruments whose characteristics
are derived from underlying assets, or from interest and exchange
rates or indices. These include forwards, swaps, futures and
options. The following sections outiine the nature and terms of
the most common types of derivatives used by the Group.

Interest rate contracts

Forward rate agreements give the buyer the ability to
determine the underlying rate of interest for a specified period
cammencing on a specified future date (the settlement date).
There is no exchange of principal and settlement is effected on
the settlement date. The settlement amount is the difference
between the contracted rate and the market rate prevailing on
the settlement date.

Interest rate swaps involve the exchange of interest obligations
with a counterparty for a specified period without exchanging the
underlying {or notional) principal.

Interest rate futures are typically exchange-traded agreements
to buy or seli a standard amount of a specified fixed income
security or time deposit at an agreed interest rate on a standard
future date.

Interest rate options give the buyer on payment of a premium
the right, but not the obligation, to fix the rate of interest on a
future deposit or loan, for a specified period and commending on
a specified future date.
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Interest rate caps and floors give the buyer the ahility to fix

the maximum or minimum rate of interest. There is no facility to
deposit or draw down funds, instead the writer pays to the buyer
the amount by which the market rate exceeds or is less than the
€ap rate or the floor rate respectively. A combination of an interest
rate cap and floor is known as an interest rate collar

Exchange rate contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements to buy or
sell fixed amounts of currency at agreed rates of exchange on a
specified future date,

Cross currency swaps are agreements to exchange, and

on termination of the swap, re-exchange principal amounts
denominated in different currencies. Cross currency swaps may
involve the exchange of interest payments in one specified
currency for interest payments in another specified currency for a
specified period.

Currency optians give the buyer, on payment of a premium,
the right but not the obligation, to buy or sell specified amounts
of currency at agreed rates of exchange on or before a specified
future date.

Equity-related contracts

Equity options provide the buyer, on payment of a premium, the
right but not the cbligation, either to purchase or sell a specified
stock or stock index at a specified price or level on or before a
specified date.

Equity swaps involve the exchange of a set of payments whereby
one of these payments is based on an equity-linked return while
the other is typically based on interest reference rate.

Credit-related contracts

Credit default swaps involve the transfer of credit risk of a
reference asset from the protection buyer to the protection seller,
The protection buyer makes one or more payments to the seller in
exchange for an undertaking by the seller to make a payment to
the buyer upon a predefined credit event.

Commaodity-related contracts

Commodity swaps are agreements between two parties to
exchange cash flows which are dependent on the price of the
underlying physical assets.
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41.1 Trading derivatives

Mast of the Group’s derivatives relate to sales and trading
activities. Sale activities include the structuring and marketing
of derivatives to customers to enable them to take, transfer,
madify or reduce current or expected risks. Trading activities are
entered into principally for the purpose of generating a profit
from short-termn fluctuations in price or dealer’s margin. Trading
includes market making, positioning and arbitraging activities.
Market making involves quoting bid and offer prices to other
market participants with the intention of generating revenues
based on spread and volume. Positioning involves managing
market risk pasitions with the expectation of profiting from
favourable mavements in prices, rates or indices. Arbitraging
involves identifying and profiting from price differentials of the
same product in different markets or the same ecanomic factor in
different products.

41.2 Hedging derivatives

The accounting treatment of the hedge derivative transactions
varies according 1o the nature of the hedge and whether the
hedge meets the specified criteria to qualify for hedge accounting.
Derivatives transacted as economic hedges but do not qualify

for hedge accounting are treated in the same way as derivative
instruments used for trading purposes.

The Group’s fair value hedges consist principally of interest rate
swaps used for managing interest rate gaps. Derivatives are also
used by the Group to hedge its exposures to variability in cash
ftows or forecasted transactions, and its net investment in foreign
operations.

The following tables summarise the contractual or underlying
principal amounts of derivative financial instruments held or issued
for trading and hedging purposes. The notional or contractual
amounts of these instruments reflect the volume of transactions
outstanding at balance sheet date, and do not represent amounts
at risk.

In the financial statements, trading derivative financial instruments
are revalued on a gross position basis and the unrealised gains or
losses are reflected in " Positive replacement value® or “Negative
replacement value” respectively.

The table on the facing page shows an analysis of the Group’s
derivatives financial instruments at 31 December:
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2006 2005
Year-end Year-end Year-end Year-end
positive negative positive negative
Underlying replacement replacement Underlying replacement replacement

In $ miliions notional values values notional values values
Derivatives held for trading
Interest rate derivatives
Forward rate agreements bought 2,811 - 1 9,512 28 1
Forward rate agreements sold 3,648 1 - 10,515 1 26
Interest rate swaps 705,248 3,923 3,819 875,433 5,481 5,570
Financial futures bought 21,430 - 1" 19,190 3 6
Financial futures sold 20,104 12 1 11,090 2 10
Interest rate options bought 5,858 48 - 6,063 74 -
Interest rate options sold 6,757 - 45 10,251 - 67
Interest rate futures options bought 2,956 - - 2,930 - -
Interest rate futures options sold 6,253 - - 5,743 - 9
Interest rate caps/floors bought 14,101 108 - 19,659 230 1
Interest rate caps/floors sold 14,019 - 161 18,726 - 254
Sub-total 803,185 4,092 4,038 989,112 5819 5,944
Foreign exchange (“FX") derivatives
FX contracts 316,857 1,730 1,488 223,968 1,220 821
Currency swaps 51,598 946 774 35,694 686 510
Currency options bought 65,323 540 - 32,557 325 -
Currency options sold 64,567 - 535 28,218 - 379
Sub-total 498,345 3,216 2,797 320,437 2231 1,710
Equity derivatives
Equity options bought 3,801 248 - 3,407 179 2
Equity options sold 5279 - 344 4,878 - 328
Equity swaps 1,849 45 81 811 - 20
Sub-total 10,929 293 425 9,096 179 350
Credit derivatives
Credit default swaps 60,112 479 529 32,434 263 368
Sub-total 60,112 479 529 32,434 263 368
Commodity derivatives
Commodity swaps 61 - - - - -
Sub-total 61 - - - - -
Total derivatives held for trading 1,372,632 8,080 7,789 1,351,079 8.492 8,372
Derivatives held for hedging
Interest rate swaps held for fair value hedge 6,227 135 84 8,539 272 165
FX contracts held for fair value hedge 10 - - 4 - -
FX contracts held for hedge of net investment 47 - - 39 - -
Equity options held for cash flow hedge - - - 2749 28 -
Total derivatives held for hedging 6,284 135 84 8,856 300 165
Total derivatives 1,378,916™ 8,215 7.873 1,359,935W 8,792 8,537
Positive/negative replacement values 8,215 7.873 8,792 8,537

() The forecasted transaction has occurred in 2006
(b) The contractual or underlying principal amounts of denivative financial instruments 0

$1,170 billion (2005: §1.150 billion) and $209 billion (2005: $210 billion) respectively

f bank and non-bank counterparties amounted to
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42  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Ordinary shares
Market value

The Group Number (s millians)
In § millions 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Cash on hand (Note 17) 988 802  Balance, 1 January 3,507,829 3,477,829 58 56
Non-restricted balances with central Balance, 31 December 2,922,829 3,507,829 65 58
banks (Note 17} 8,302 1,723
. y . ! ’ Under the DBSH Share Option Plan {the "Option Plan™), options
Trading other government securities ) . .
and treasury bills (Note 19) 2.500 2625 to subscribe for the Company's ordinary shares may be granted
Y : ! to Group executives who hold the rank of Vice President (or
Tozal 15,118 9,408  equivalent) and above and selected employees below the rank of

43 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

43.1 DBSH Share Ownership Scheme

The DBSH Share Ownership Scheme is a fund set up to hold units
of the Company's ordinary shares. All employees with at least one
year of service and who are not participating in the DBSH Share
Option Plan or DBSH Performance Share Plan are eligible.

Under the Scheme, participants and the Group contribute up to
10% and 5% of monthly base salary respectively to buy units of
the Company’s ardinary shares. Amounts contributed by the Group
under the Scheme are recognised as employee benefits when paid.

Vice President {or equivalent),

The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the average
of the last dealt prices for the Company’s shares, as determined
by reference to the daily official list published by the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Ltd, for the three consecutive trading
days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

These share options vest over a period of three years in
accordance with a vesting schedule determined by the
Compensation Committee, and are exercisable after the first
anniversary of the date of the grant up to the date of expiration
of the options. The share options have a validity period of ten
years from the date of grant, unless they have been forfeited

or have lapsed prior to that date. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

During the current financial year, there were no awards granted to
eligible employees under the Option Plan.

The following table sets out the movement of the unissued ordinary shares of the Company under outstanding options, the weighted

average exercise prices and expiration dates.

2006 2005
Unissued number of Weighted Unissued number of Weighted
ordinary shares under average ordinary shares under average

outstanding options  exercise price ($) outstanding options  exercise price ()
Balance at 1 January 39,474,281 14.87 46,749,383 14.71
Movements during the year:
~ Granted - - 2,815,600 15.07
- Exercised (12,977,688) 13.98 (5,126,909) 12.52
- Forfeited (1.481,786) 16.95 (4,963,793) 15.90
Balance at 31 December 25,014,807 15.21 39,474,281 14.87
Additional information:
Outstanding options exercisable at 31 December 20,987,537 15.28 27,624,463 15.67
Weighted average remaining contractual life of

options outstanding at 31 December 5.9 years 6.4 years

Range of exercise price of options
outstanding at 31 December

$10.40 to $22.33

$9.18 10 $22.33

In 2006, 12,977,688 options {2005: 5,126,909) were exercised at their contractual exercise prices. During this period, the average

market price of the Company’s shares was $18.24 (2005: $15.68).
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43.3 DBSH Performance Share Plan

Under the DBSH Performance Share Pian (the “PSP"}, the
Company’s ordinary shares (PSP shares”) could be granted

1o Group executives who hold the rank of Vice President (or
equivalent) and above and selected employees below the rank of
Vice President (or equivalent).

Participants are awarded ordinary shares of the Company, their
equivalent cash value or a combination of both, when prescribed
Group performance targets are met over a three-year period.
Since the inception of the PSP, there have been no cash-settled
awards under the Plan.

The PSP shares will vest three years from the date of grant.

The fair value of PSP shares awarded is computed based on the
market price of the ordinary shares at the time of the award and is
amortised through the income statement over the vesting period.
At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of

the number of PSP shares expected to vest based on non-market
vesting conditions and the corresponding adjustments are made

44  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

44.1 Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this Note.

44.2 During the financial year, the Group had banking
transactions with related parties, consisting of associates, joint
ventures, directors and key management personnel of the Group.
These included the taking of deposits and extension of credit
card and other loan facilities. These transactions were made in
the ordinary course of business and carried out at arms-length
commercial terms, and are not material,

In addition, directors and key management personnel received
remuneration for services rendered during the financial year. Non-
cash benefits including performance shares were also granted.

44.3 Total compensation paid 1o Company directors and key
management personnel®, as well as fees paid to Company
directors and directors of subsidiaries were as follows:

to the income statement and Share Plan reserves. The Group

In $ millions 2006 2005
The following table sets out the move‘mem.of the PSP shares Short-term benefits 51 30
granted pursuant to the Plan for the financial year ended 31 .

L Post-employment benefits # #

December 2006 and their fair values at grant date.

Share-based payments 7 6

March March

{(Number of shares) 2006 grant 2005 grant  Total 58 36
Balance, 1 January 2006 Not applicable 2,913,630 Comprise amounts® paid to:
Granted in 2006 3,738,190 Not applicable - Company directors 11 10
Forfeited in 2006 (362,500) {284,780) — Directors of subsidiaries 19 14
Balance, 31 December 2006 3,375,690 2078950 Ky management personnel 28 12
Fair value per share at grant date $16.20 $14.70 Total 58 36

Fees of Company directors 2 1
At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 30 March 2006, Fees of subsidiaries' directors # #
the shareholders of the Company adopted the change of name Totlal compensation and fees 60 37

of the PSP from “DBSH Performance Share Plan” to “DBSH Share
Plan” to better reflect the Group's ability to also grant time-based
awards. Such time-based awards will only be granted from 2007.

43.4 DBSH Employee Share Plan

The DBSH Employee Share Plan {the "£5P") caters to all employees
of the Group who are not eligible to participate in the DBSH

Share Option Plan, the DBSH Performance Share Plan or other
equivalent plans.

Under the ESP, efigible employees are awarded ordinary shares
of the Company, their equivalent cash value or combinations
of both when prescribed Group performance targets are met.
The ESP awards are granted at the absolute discretion of the
Compensation Committee.

During the current and previous financiat years, there were no
awards granted to eligible employees under the ESP.

(a) Refers to members of the Management Committee, excluding
members who are also the Company directors

{b) Includes cash bonus based on amournt accrued during the year, to be
paid in the following year

#  Amount under $500,000
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44.4 Share options granted to Company directors and key
management perscnnel

No share options were granted to Company directors and key

management personnel during the financial year. The outstanding

number of share options granted to Company directors and

key management personnel at the end of the financial year

were 888,225 and 1,127,550 (2005: 888,225 and 1,645,550)

respectively.

44.5 Performance shares granted to Company directors and
key management personnel
During the financial year, 240,740 and 271,390 {2005: 204,080
and 209,620) awards in respect of DBSH ordinary shares were
granted to Company directors and key management personnel
respectively. The awards represented a 100% payout. The payout
at the end of the performance period could have ranged from a
minimum of 100% of the shares awarded to 200%, depending
on the Group’s performance as measured by return on equity.

45  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOT

CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE
For financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value on the
financial statements, the Group has ascertained that their fair
values were not materially different from the carrying amounts at
year-end. The basis of arriving at their fair vatues is as follows:

(a) Cash and balances with central banks and

Due from banks
The estimated fair value of placements is based on the discounted
cash flows using the prevailing money market interest rates for
placements with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.

{b} Financial investments

For equities where market price information is not avaifable,

fair value has been estimated by reference to the net tangible
asset backing of the investee. Unquoted equities of $133 million
as at 31 December 2006 (2005: $105 million) were stated at
cost because the fair values cannot be reliably estimated using
valuation techniques supported by observable market data,

{c)  Loans and advances to customers
The estimated fair value takes into account the relevant market
interest rates and credit spread by product types.

(d) Due to banks and Due to non-bank customers

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity,
which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount
repayable on demand. The estimated fair value of fixed interest-
bearing deposits and other borrowings is based on discounted
cash flows using prevaifing interest rates with similar remaining
maturity.

(e) Other debt securities issued and bills payable
The fair value approximates their carrying amounts.
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(f}  Subordinated term debts

The estimated fair value of subordinated term debts is based
on a discounted cash flow model using a current yield curve
appropriate for the remaining term 1o maturity,

46  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - USAGE AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

46.1 Use of financial instruments

The Group may act as principal, broker or advisor in the use of

financial instruments.

The Group takes positions in exchange-traded and over-the-
counter financial instruments including derivatives to take
advantage of short-term market movements in, inter alia,
equity, bond, currency, interest rate and gold rates and prices.
These positions can be for trading, market making or meeting
customers’ needs.

The Group's investment portfolio comprises mainly government
and corparate bonds, and includes other investments such as
third-party managed funds. Derivatives may be used to gain or to
hedge market exposure in such investrments.

46.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

As part of overall corporate governance, the Group Board has
approved a comprehensive Integrated Risk Framework covering
risk governance for all risk types for all entities within the Group.

This framework defines authority levels, oversight responsibilities,
policy structures and risk appetite limits to manage the risks that
arise in connection with the use of financial instruments.

On a day-to-day basis, business units have primary responsibility
for managing specific risk exposures while Group Risk exercises
independent risk oversight on the Group as a whole.

(a) Market risk

Market risk arises from changes in market rates such as interest
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices, as well as in their
correlation and volatility levels.

The Group's trading and investment market risk appetite

is determined by the Board of Directors, with detailed limit
frameworks recommended by the appropriate risk committee and
approved by senior management.

The principal market risk appetite measures are Value at Risk
(VaR} and stress |oss. VaR estimates the potential loss on the
current portfolio assuming a specified time horizon and level of
confidence. Stress loss is assessed against a set of scenarios using
stress moves in the market variables.

At the business unit level, trading exposures are measured and
controiled by more granufar risk and loss limits such as risk
sensitivity-based limits, stress limits and management action triggers.
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All trading activities are subject to mark-to-market valuation to
reflect the current market value of the trading portfolio and their
profit and loss. Investments are subject to limits by market risk
type as well as concentration limits.

(b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
or the interest income of a portfolio will fluctuate due to changes

in market interest rates. Examples of financial assets and liabilities
which have fixed or floating interest rate exposure include debt
securities, loans and derivatives.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by changing the duration
of on-balance sheet items and by way of entering into off-balance
sheet interest rate hedging instruments to hedge the interest rate
exposure based on market and economic conditions.

The following tables summarise the Group’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts at 31 December, categorised by the earlier of
contractual repricing or maturity dates. Actual dates may differ from contractual dates owing 1o prepayments and the exercise of
options. It should also be noted that any representation of interest rate risk at a specific date offers only a snapshot of the risks taken by
the Group, since the position is being actively managed and can vary significantly on a daily basis. As such, it may not be representative

of the level of risk at other times.

Non-
Less than 1 week to 1t03 3to12 1t03 Over interest

In § millions 7 days 1 month months months years 3 years bearing Total
2006
Cash and balances with central banks 1,11 1,730 2,500 3,018 - - 3,487 11,846
Due from banks 3,500 3,371 7,761 7.371 1,255 1,139 876 25,273
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 652 2,258 2,032 1,604 1.461 7.689 800 16,496
Other securities®™ 679 1,464 6,789 7.352 8,356 11,124 2,206 37,970
Loans and advances 10 customers 28,624 21,760 12,459 13,216 2,659 5,061 1,370 85,149
Other assets®™ - - - - - - 20,638 20,638
Total assets 34,566 30,583 31,541 32,561 13,731 25,013 29,377 197,372
Due to banks 3,625 1,779 1,471 427 - 200 361 7,863
Due to non-bank customers 74,120 26,261 12,223 7.634 386 1,468 - 122,092
Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss 624 909 2,104 3,213 2,230 B,276 2,352 19,708
Other liabilities® 1,441 1,294 306 124 118 2,532 14,099 19,914
Subordinated term debts - 401 - - - 6,348 - 6,749
Total liabilities 79,810 30,644 16,104 11,398 2,734 18,824 16,812 176,326
Minority interests - - - - - - 2.3NM 2,31
Shareholders’ funds - - - - - - 18,675 18,675
Total equity - - - - - - 21,046 21,046
On-balance sheet interest rate gap (45,244) (61) 15,437 21,163 10,997 6,189 (8,481) -
Off-balance sheet interest rate gap
- Financial derivatives 3,890 2,159 14,240 (3.179) (11,482) (5.628) - -
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Non-
Less than 1 week to 1t03 3to 12 1to3 Over interest

in $ millions 7 days 1 month months months years 3 years bearing Total
2005
Cash and balances with central banks 553 312 755 112 - - 3,254 4,986
Due from banks 3,31 7,059 6,736 2,689 979 573 762 22,129
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or toss 642 3,454 1,187 1,684 1,806 9,450 279 18,502
Other securities® 850 1,847 4,569 4,947 3,170 12,019 1,926 35,328
Loans and advances to customers 27,596 21,089 11,337 11,360 2,685 2,200 1,369 77,636
Other assets® - - - - - - 21,623 21,623
Total assets 32,972 33,761 24,584 20,792 14,640 24,242 29,213 180,204
Due to banks 3,301 1,680 2,474 1,413 12 1" 59 8,950
Due to non-bank customers 70,104 19,206 11,285 5,159 - 677 - 106,43
Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss 1,206 1,257 1,884 2,200 2.906 6,571 6,799 22,823
Other liabilitiest 557 197 589 112 190 1,562 14,238 17.445
Subordinated term debts - - - - 435 4,930 - 5,365
Total liabilities 75,168 22,340 16,232 8,884 3,543 13,751 21,096 161,014
Minority interests - - - - - - 2,466 2,466
Shareholders’ funds - - - ~ ~ - 16,724 16,724
Total equity - - - - - - 19,190 19,190
On-balance sheet interest rate gap (42,196) 11,421 8,352 11,908 11,097 10,491 (11,073) -
Off-balance sheet interest rate gap
- Financial derivatives 6,366 8,528 4,656 2,795 {17,394) (4,951) - -

fa) Other securities include Singapore Government securitfes and treasury bills,
(B} Other assets include positive replacement values, investments in associates,

assets and other assets

financial investments and securities pledged
goodwill on consolidation, properties and other fixed assets, deferred tax

(c) Other liabilities include negative replacement values, bills payable, current and deferred tax Hiabilities, other debt securities in issue and other liabilities

The table below summarises the effective average interest rate at 31 December by major currencies for monetary financial instruments:

2006 2005
Singapore us Hong Kong Singapore us Hong Kong
doliar, % dollar, % dollar, % dollar, % dollar, % dollar, %
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks - - - - - -
Due from banks 3.22-330 427-606 217-445 266-341 3.84-428 423
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 3.04-3.92 2.58-6.06 457 2.33-3.87 420 -498 -
Other securities® 277-366 2.74-6.79 3.14-450 2.25-570 2.36-6.17 374-527
Loans and advances to customers 3.04-575 341-795 4.15-14.35 3.33-4.41 456-691 5.75-1456
Liabilities
Due to banks 271-294 521-5.40 429 248-27 4,12 -4.25 4.44
Due 10 non-bank customers 0-2.05 1.97-5.73 1.39-368 0-1.20 1.82-3.75 2.71~367
Financial fiabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 2.41 4.85 - 203 2312-392 -
Subordinated term debts 447 500-7.88 - - 500-7288 -

(a) Cther securities include Singapore Gevernment securities and treasury bills, financial investments fexcludes equities) and securitios pledgad
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() Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financal instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The table below
summarises the Group's assets and liabilities at carrying amounts at 31 December, categorised by currency:

Singapore us Heng Kong
in $ millions dollar dollar dollar Others Total
2006
Cash and balances with central banks 11,496 37 68 245 11,846
\ Due from banks 2,617 17.441 1.167 4,048 25,273
; Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,925 5.321 528 8,722 16,496
i Other securities® 15,974 9,768 4,105 8,123 37,970
| Loans and advances to customers 34,812 15,202 24,560 10,575 85,149
) Other assets™ 9,434 4,809 2,845 3,550 20,638
i Total assets 76,258 52,578 33,273 35,263 197,372
I
; Due to banks 1,341 3,566 667 2,289 7.863
! Due to non-bank customers 65,927 21,374 21,698 13,093 122,092
[ Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 9,143 4,060 3,289 3,216 19,708
' Other liabilities® 3,318 13,766 2,006 824 19,914
‘ Subordinated term debts 500 6,249 - - 6,749
| Total liabilities 80,229 49,015 27,660 19,422 176,326
‘ Mincrity interests 2,37 - - - 2,371
: Shareholders’ funds 18,675 - - - 18,675
,‘ Total equity 21,046 - - - 21,046
: Net on-balance sheet positicn (25,017} 3,563 5,613 15,841 -
Net off-balance sheet position 21,585 (28,145) 12,344 (5,784) -
2005
Cash and balances with central banks 4,716 36 70 164 4,986
Due from banks 5,324 8,686 1,692 6,427 22,129
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 882 9,199 497 7,924 18,502
Other securities® 12,189 13,880 2,694 6,565 35,328
Loans and advances to customers 32,765 14,890 24,323 5,658 77,636
Other assets® 11,472 6,080 2.953 1,118 21,623
Total assets 67,348 52,771 32,229 27,856 180,204
Due to banks 651 4618 798 2,883 8,950
Due to non-bank customers 59,181 21,078 15,812 10,360 106,431
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 8,014 9,072 779 4,958 22,823
Cther liabilities® 3,118 6,284 5,968 2,075 17,445
Subordinated term debts - 5,365 - - 5,365
Total liabilities 70,964 46,417 23,357 20,276 161,014
Minority interests 2,466 - - - 2,466
Shareholders’ funds 16,724 - - - 16,724
Total equity 19,190 - - - 19,190
Net on-balance sheet position (22,806) 6,354 8,872 7,580 -
Net off-balance sheet position 21,870 (15,785) (3,279) (2,806) -

{3) Other securities include Singapore Government securities and treasury bills, financial investments and securities pledged
(b) Other assets include positive replacement values, investments in associates, goodwill on consolidation, properties and other fixed assets, deferred tax

assets and other assets
{c} Other liabilities include negative replacement values, bills payable, current and deferred tax habilities, other debt securities in issue and other liabilities
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The table below analyses the Group's net structural Currency exposure by functional currency at 31 December:

Financial

Net instruments Remaining

investments which structural

in overseas  hedge the net currency

In § millions operations™  jnvestments® exposures
2006

US dollar 454 378 76

Hong Kong dallar 3,539 3,485 54

Others 1,519 740 779

Total 5512 4,603 av
2005

US dollar 350 349 1

Hong Kong dollar 4,445 4,394 51

Others 1,381 718 663

Total 6,176 5,461 715

{a) Refer to investment in associates, net tangible assets of subsidiaries and

branches operations.

joint ventures and capital fundsiretained earnings of overseas

(b} Include forwards and non-deliverable forwards used to hedge the investments.

(d) Credit risk

Credit risk represents the loss which the Group would suffer if a
client or counterparty failed to meet its contractual obligations,
Senior management sets the averall direction and policy for
managing credit risk at the enterprise level, In so doing, it directs
the risk appetite and undenariting activities for various countries,
industries and counterparties taking into account factors such as
prevailing business and economic conditions. The Group is guided
by a set of Group-wide credit principles and policies which have
been develeped with the abjective of promoting best practices
and consistent credit risk management standards throughout the
crganisation,

Exposure 1o credit risk is managed through a sound, well-
defined credit granting process, which includes the assessment
of repayment likelihood, the establishment of appropriate credit
limits, and the employment of varigus credit risk mitigation
techniques such as appropriate credit structuring, and posting
of collateral and/or third party support. The Group also uses
Credit derivatives to manage its credit risk exposures through risk
transfer to third parties.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the amounts
on the balance sheet as well as commitments to extend credit,
without taking into account the fair value of any collateral and
master netting arrangements.

- Derivatives

At any one time, the credit exposure of derivative transactions
is limited to the positive mark-to-market value 1o the Group,
which in general is only a fraction of the derivative contract or
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noticnal amount used to express the volume of instruments. This
credit exposure, together with potential exposures from market
movements, is managed as part of the overall lending limits to the
counterparties. Credit exposures on these instruments are usually
unsecured, except where the Group enters into collateratised
margin transacticns with counterparties.

— Master netting arrangements

The Group further manages its credit exposure by entering into
master netting arrangements with counterparties whera it is
appropriate and feasible to do so. Master netting arrangements
do not generally result in an offset of balance sheet assets and
liabilities as transactions are usually accounted for individually on
a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated with favourable
contracts is reduced by a master netting arrangernent to the
extent that if an event of default occurs, all amounts with the
counterparty are settled on a net basis.

- Credit-related commitments

Financial guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent
undertakings that the Group will make payments in the event
that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry
the same credit risk as loans even though they are of contingent
nature. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are
undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer, are usually
collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which

they relate and therefore exhibit different risk characteristics from
direct borrowing.

Commitments to extend credit include unused portions of loan
commitments, guarantees or letters of credit. The majority of
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unused commitments are contingent upon customers observing
or meeting certain credit terms and conditions.

47 CONCENTRATION RISK

The Group's risk management processes also ensure that an
acceptable level of risk diversification is maintained across the
Group on an ongoing basis. Limits are established and regularly
monitored in respect of country exposures and major industry
groups, as well as for single counterparty exposures. Control
structures are in place to ensure that appropriate limits are

in place, exposures are monitored against these limits, and
appropriate actions are taken if limits are hreached.

47.1 Cross-border exposures

At 31 December 2006, the Group had exposures to varicus
countries where net exposure exceeded 1% of the Group’s total
assets. The exposures are determined based on the location of
the credit risk of the customers and counterparties regardless of
where the transactions are booked.

The Group's exposures exceeding 1% of the Group total assets as at 31 December were as follows:

Loans and debt securities Total exposure

Central
banks and

In § millions Goavernment Non- As a % of
Assets in Banks securities banks™  Investrments Amount Total assets

(1 (2) 3) @) (5)=(142+3+4) (6}
2006
Top 10 countries
{Net exposure >1% of Total assets}
Hong Kong 1,761 2,486 27,953 138 32,338 16.4
South Korea 6,506 684 1,664 - 8.854 4.5
United States 1,689 657 3,827 449 6,622 3.4
China 1,990 118 4,174 239 6,521 33
India 2,980 671 1,810 438 5,899 3.0
United Kingdom 2,829 188 2,391 42 5,450 28
Germany 3,174 670 1,423 4 5,271 2.7
Australia 2,976 6 1,474 52 4,508 2.3
Netherlands 2,978 16 849 9 3,852 2.0
tndonesia 389 1,461 1,737 12 3,599 1.8
Total 27,272 6,957 47,302 1,383 82,914 42.2
2005
Top 10 countries
{Net exposure >1% of Total assets)
Hong Kong 1,186 2,199 27,702 272 31,359 17.4
United States 1,392 2,937 4,619 370 9,318 5.2
South Korea 3,106 791 1,963 - 5,860 33
United Kingdom 3,002 28 2,266 100 5,396 29
Germany 3,163 507 569 7 4,246 24
China 1,235 59 2,519 43 3,856 2.1
Australia 2,644 - 1,100 32 3,776 21
India 2,370 365 77 41 3,547 2.0
Indonesia 564 1,005 1,630 5 3,204 1.8
Netherlands 2,187 19 929 5 3,140 1.7
Total 20,849 7,910 44 068 875 73,702 409

(a) Non-bank loans include loans 1o government and quasi-gavernment entities
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48  LIQUIDITY RISK the Group focuses on a number of components, including tapping
Liquidity risk is the potential earnings volatility arising from available sources of liquidity, preserving necessary funding capacity
being unable to fund portfolio assets at reasonable rates over and contingency planning.

required maturities. Liquidity obligations arise from withdrawals of

deposits, repayments of purchased funds at maturity, extensions The table below analyses assets and labilities of the Group at 31
of credit and working capital needs. The Group seeks to manage December based on the remaining period at balance sheet date

its liquidity to meet its obligations under normal as well as to the contractual maturity date. However, contractual terms may

adverse circumstances, and take advantage of arising lending and not be representative of the behavior of assets and liabilities.
investment opportunities. As part of its liquidity risk management,

Less than 1 week to Tto3 3to12 tto3 Over No specific

In $ millions 7 days 1 month months months years 3 years maturity Total
2006
Cash and balances with central banks 3,312 1,694 2,500 3,018 - - 1,322 11,846
Due from banks 4,046 3,118 6,356 7,421 2,269 1,990 73 25,273
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 650 1,869 514 1,550 1,837 9,233 843 16,496
Other securities@ 530 378 2,745 7.660 10,202 14,243 2,212 37,970
Loans and advances to customers 7,217 7,584 9,443 12,893 11,064 36,354 594 85,149
Other assets® 899 67 46 41 21 9 19,555 20,638
Total assets 16,654 14,710 21,604 32,583 25,393 61,829 24,599 197,372
Due to banks 3,089 1,835 1,934 448 - 190 367 7.863
Due to non-bank customers 74,120 26,261 12,223 7,634 386 1,468 - 122,092
Financial liabilittes at fair value

through profit or loss 826 629 1,586 5,326 3,174 8,148 19 19,708
Other liabilities™ 1.457 1,348 451 2,252 170 1,115 13,121 19,914
Subordinated term debts - 401 - - - 6,348 - 6,749
Total liabilities 79,492 30,474 16,194 15.660 3,730 17,269 13,507 176,326
Minority interests - - - - - - 2,31 2,371
Shareholders’ funds - - - - - - 18,675 18,675
Total equity - - - - - - 21,046 21,046
Net liquidity gap (62,838) (15,764) 5410 16923 21,663 44,560  (9,954) -
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Less than 1 week to 1to0l 3to 12 1to3 Over No specific

In $ millions 7 days 1 month months months years 3 years maturity Total
2005
Cash and balances with central banks 2,39 267 755 107 67 - 1,399 4,986
Due from banks 3,799 6,935 6,135 2,493 1,719 859 189 22,129
Financiat assets at fair value

through profit or loss 10,681 2,769 398 505 947 2,926 276 18,502
Other securities™ 4,693 862 2,282 4,149 11,491 9,922 1,929 35,328
Loans and advances to customers 6,643 6,257 8,427 10,935 10,692 34,577 105 77.636
Other assets™ 253 23 24 14 29 14 21,266 21,623
Total assets 28,460 17,113 18,021 18,203 24,945 48,298 25,164 180,204
Due {0 banks 3,329 1,497 2,067 1,175 351 523 8 8,950
Due to non-bank customers 70,103 19,207 11,285 5,159 - 677 - 106,431
Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss 1,287 887 1,341 2,503 5,399 10,277 729 22,823
Other fiabiliies® 1,384 622 620 29 784 2,199 11,545 17,445
Subordinated term debts - - - - 435 4,930 - 5,365
Total liabilities 76,103 22,213 15,313 9,528 6,969 18,606 12,282 161,014
Minority interests - - - - - - 2,466 2,466
Shareholders’ funds - - - - - - 16,724 16,724
Total equity - - - - - - 19,190 19.190
Net liquidity gap (47,643) {5,100) 2,708 8,675 17,976 29,692 (6,308) -

(3} Other securities include Singapore Government securities and treasury bills, financial investments and securities pledged
{b) Other assets include positive replacement values, investments in associates, goodwill on consofidation, properties and other fixed assets, deferred tax

assets and other assets

{c) Other liabilities inciude negative replacement values, bills payable, current and deferred tax liabilities, other debt securities in issue and

other fiabilities

49 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

49.1 Business segment reporting

The business segment results are prepared based on information
and data generated from the Group's internal financial reporting
systems and are reflective of the organisation's management
reporting structure. The activities of the Group are highly
integrated and accordingly, internal allocation has to be made

in preparing the segment information. As a result, amounts for
each business segrment are shown after the allocation of certain
centralised costs, funding income and the application of transfer
pricing, where appropriate. Definitions of business segments have
been refined and comparative figures were adjusted to provide
consistent comparison with current year's definitions. Transactions
between segments are recorded within the segment as if they are
third party transactions and are eliminated on consolidation.

The business segment results represent the custormer segments of

the respective businesses and are determined by:

_ Income and direct expenses attributable to each customer and
other segment; and

- Management accounting policies relating to the allocation of
indirect expenses and funds transfer pricing between the
central treasury unit and customer/other segments.

The various customer segments are described below:

- Consumer Banking

Consumer Banking provides individual customers with a diverse
range of banking and related financial services. The products

and services offered to customers include current and savings
accounts, fixed deposits, loans and home finance, cards, payments
and investment products.
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- Enterprise Banking

Enterprise Banking provides financial services and products to
small and medium-sized businesses. The products and services
offered 1o customers include credit facilities {overdraft, factoring/
accounts receivable purchase, trade services and financing,
commercialfindusirial property financing, hire purchase and
government financing and assistance schemes), deposit, payment
and collection services and treasury products.

- Corporate and Investment Banking

Corporate and Investment Banking provides taifored and unigue
financial solutions to large corporate and institutional clients. The
products and services offered to customers include direct lending,
corporate finance and advisory banking services for mergers and
acquisitions, capital raising through debt and equity markets,
capital restructuring, syndicated finance, securities and fiduciary
services, cash management and trade services, and private equity.

~ Global Financial Markets

Global Financial Markets provides treasury services to
corporations, institutional and private investors, financial
institutions and other market participants. It is primarily involved
in market making, structuring, equity and debt sales and trading
across a broad range of financial products including foreign

exchange, interest rate/creditequity and other structured
derivatives. Income from financial praducts and services relating
to oiher customer segments, e.g. Consumer Banking, Enterprise
Banking and Corporate and Investment Banking, is reflected in
the respective customer segments. Global Financial Markets also
provides equity services through DBS Vickers Securities (*DBSV").
D85SV offers a wide range of services to retail and corporate
customers including research, sales and trading, share placement,
nominees and securities custodian services and distribution of
primary and secondary issues.

- Central Treasury Unit

Central Treasury Unit is responsible for the management of the
Group’s asset and liability interest rate positions and invesiment of
the Group's excess tiquidity and sharehalders’ funds,

~ Central Operations

Central Operations encompassas a range of activities resulting
from central corporate decisions and the related income and
expenses not attributed to business segments. These include
funding costs of the Group’s associates, joint ventures and
subsidiaries and gainsflosses on properties. Private banking
activities and asset management activities are included in this
segment.

The following table analyses the results, total assets and total liabilities by business segments:

The Group
Corporate
and Global Central
Consumer Enterprise Investment  Financial Treasury Central

In § millions Banking Banking Banking Markets Unit Operations Total
2006

Net interest income 1,765 736 592 595 280 3770 3,591
Non-interest income 514 330 585 274 (64) 208 1,847
Expenses 985 338 376 411 N 228 2,369
Allowances for credit and other Josses 52 119 77 (3} (5) (105) 135
Profit before tax 1,242 609 724 466 190 {227} 3,004
Total assets before goodwill 30,655 20,067 40,090 69,426 28,119 3,175 191,532
Goodwill on consolidation 5,840
Total assets 197,372
Total iiabilities 76,237 18,827 19,733 36,114 998 24,417 176,326
Capital expenditure 50 8 37 18 3 123 239
Depreciation 29 10 7 15 6 63 130
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The Group
Corporate
and Global Central
Consumer Enterprise Investment  Financial Treasury Central
tn $ millions Banking Banking Banking Markets Unit Operations Total
2005
Net interest income 1,308 578 475 484 380 (282} 2,943
Non-interest income 483 227 462 111 (167} 582 1,698
Expenses 926 2N 319 364 N 95 2,026
Allowances for ¢redit and other losses 77 145 144 - 6 (169} 203
Profit before tax and goodwill charges 788 369 474 236 176 423 2,466
Total assets before goodwill 29,539 18,486 32,824 67,107 24,047 2,398 174,401
Goodwill on consalidation 5,803
Total assets 180,204
Total liabilities 68,903 17,871 17,953 30,974 1,417 23,806 161,014
Capital expenditure 34 19 7 23 9 133 225
Depreciation 29 15 3 20 7 74 148

49.2 Geographical segment reporting

Income and net profit attributable to shareholders (“Net profit”)
assets are shown by geographical area in which the assets are bool
based on the country in which the counterparty or assets are locate

of inter-group assets and revenues.

are based on the country in which the transactions are booked. Total
ked. It would not be materially different if total assets shown are
d. The total assets, income and net profit are stated after elimination

The Group
Rest of South and
Greater Southeast Rest of the

In § millions Singapore Hong Kong China®! Asia® World!"* Total
2006

Total income 3,424 1,576% 147 181 110 5,438
Net profit before goodwiill 1,545 680 55 127 22 2,429
Goodwill charges -
Net profit after goodwill 2,429
Total assets before goodwill 126,499 44,868 7,792 5,131 7,242 191,532
Goodwill on consolidation 5.840
Total assets 197,372
2005

Total income 3,037W 1,266 92 141 105 4,641
Net profit before goodwill 1,374% 481 4 100 (7) 1,952
Goodwill charges (1,128)
Net profit after goodwill 824
Total assets before goadwill 116,087 41,393 5,861 3,781 7,279 174,401
Goodwill on consolidation 5,803
Total assets 180,204

{a) includes one-time net gains of 394 mitlion and $303 million in 2006 and 2005 respectively
(b) Rest of Greater China, includes branch operations in China and Taiwan

() South and Southeast Asia, includes branch and subsidiary operations in

india, indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand and the Philippines
{d) Rest of the World, includes branch opera tions in South Korea, Japan, United States of America and United Kingdom
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S0

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
The significant subsidiaries in the Group are listed below:

Share capital

Effective
shareholding %

Country of
Name of subsidiary Principal activities incorporation Currency  In millions 2006 2005
Held by the Company
1. DBS Bank Ltd Retail, corporate and Singapore SGD 12,096 100 100
investment banking services
Held by DBS Bank
2. DBS Vickers Securities Holdings Pte Ltd  Investment helding Singapore SGD 403 100 100
3. DBS Asset Management Ltd invesiment management services Singapore SGD 64 100 100
4. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd Nominee services Singapare SGD # 100 100
5. DBS Trustee (td Trustee services Singapore 5GD 3 100 100
6. DBS China Square Ltd Property investment holding Singapore SGD 228 70 70
7. DBS Asia Capital Limited* Corporate finance and Hong Kong HKD 92 100 100
advisory services
8. PT Bank DBS Indonesia* Commercial banking and Indonesia IDR 1,300,000 99 99
financial services
9. DBSAM Funds Collective investment scheme Luxembourg usp 12 86 68
10. GBS Diamond Holdings Ltd investment holding Bermuda uso 4065 100 100
11. DBS Capital Funding Corporation* * Capital funding Cayman Islands usD # 100 100
12. DBS {China) Investment Co., Ltd* China CNY 241 100 -
13. Primefield Company Pte Ltd*** Investment halding Singapore SGD 8§ 100 -
14. DBS HDM Capital Management Investment company Malaysia RM # 50 -
Sdn Bhd*
15. DBSN Services Pte. Ltd. Nominee services Singapore SGD # 100 -
Held by other subsidiaries
16. DBS Vickers Securities {Singapore) Securities and futures broker Singapore SGD 50 100 100
Pte Ltd
17. DBS Vickers Securities Online Securities broker Singapore SGD 56 100 100
(Singapore) Pte Ltd
18. DBS Vickers Securities Online investment holding Singapare SGD 46 80 73
Holdings Pte Ltd
19. DBS Asset Management Investment management services Singapore SGD # 100 100
(United States) Pte Ltd
20. DBS Vickers Research (Singapore) Market research consultants Singapore S5GD 1 100 100
Pte Lid
21. DBS Vickers Securities Nominees Nominee services Singapore SGD # 100 100
(Singapore) Pte Ltd
22. DBS Bank (Hong Kong} Limited* Retail, corperate and investment Hong Kong HKD 5200 100 100
banking services
23. DBS Asset Management Investment management services Hong Kong HKD 13 100 100
{Hong Kong) Ltd*
24, DBS Corporate Services Investment holding and Hong Kong HKD 1 100 100
(Hong Kong) Limited™* corporate services
25. DHB Limited* Investment holding Hong Kang HKD 500 100 100
26, DBS Vickers Securities Online Securities broker Hong Kong HKD 137 100 100
(HK) Limited*
27. DBS Vickers (Hong Kong) Limited* Securities and futures broker Hong Kong HKD 150 100 100
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Share capital Effective
shareholding %
Country of
Name of subsidiary Principal activities incorporation Currency Inmillions 2006 2005
28. Kenson Asia Ltd> Corporate services Hong Kong HKD # 100 100
29. Kingly Management Ltd* Corporate services Hong Kong HKD # 100 100
30. Worldson Services Ltd* Corporate services Hong Kong HKD # 100 100
31. Ting Hong Nominees Limited* Nominee services Hong Kong HKD # 100 100
32. DBS Vickers Securities Nominees Nominee services Hong Kong HKD # 100 100
{Hong Kong) Limited*
33. PT DBS Vickers Securities (Indonesia)*  Securities broker Indonesia IDR 55,000 99 99
34. DBS Vickers Securities (Thailand} Securities broker Thailand THB 396 100 100
Co. Ld*
35. DHJ Management Limited** Corporate services British Virgin Islands USD # 100 100
36. JT Administration Limited** Corporate services British Virgin Islands USD # 100 100
37. Market Success Limited*™* Corporate services British Virgin Islands USD # 100 100
38. Kendrick Services Limited** Corporate directorship services British Virgin Islands  USD # 100 100
39. Lushington Investment Limited* * Corporate shareholding services British Virgin 1slands USD # 100 100
40. Quickway Limited** Corporate directorship services British Virgin Islands USD # 100 100
41. DBS Group (Hong Kong) Limited” Investment holding Bermuda usb 356 100 100
42, DBS Vickers Securities (UK} Ltd* Securities broker United Kingdom GBP # 100 100
43. DBS Vickers Securities (USA), Inc* Securities broker United States usb # 100 100
44. DBS Trustee H.K. (Jersey} Limited* Trustee services Jersey GBP # 100 100
45. AXS Infocomm Pte Ltd@*** Development and operation of Singapacre SGD 14 648 -

multimedia transactional pay
- phone kiosks

# Amount under $500,000
Audited by Ernst & Young firms outside Singapore

*+  Ng statutory audit was performed for these companies as it is not mandatory under focal laws and regulations

=** Audited by other auditors

(a) Shareholding includies 10.8% (2005: Nil) hefd through DBS Bank. In addition, there is an indirect shareholding of 9.5% (2005: Nif) held through Network
for Electronic Transfers {Singapore) Pte Ltd. There is no cantrol over indirect shareholding, thus consolidation was not applied

The significant joint ventures in the Group are listed below:

Share capital Effective
shareholding %
Country of
Name of joint venture Principal activities incorporation Currency Inmillions 2006 2005
Held by DBS Bank
1. Ayala DBS Holdings inc.” Investment holging The Philippines PHP 3,340 40.0 40.0
2 Cholamandalam DBS Finance Limited ~ Consumer finance India iNR 380 375 200
(formerly known as Cholamandalam
Investments and Finance Company
timited)* **
3. DBS HDM Capital Sdn Bhd* Investment holding Malaysia RM # 500 -
Held by other subsidiaries
4. Hutchinson DBS Card Limited* Provision of credit card services British Virgin Islands HKD 1 S0.0 500

# Amount under $500,000
Audited by Ernst & Young firms outside Singapore
=+ Audited by other auditors
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries

The significant associates in the Group are listed below:

Share capital Effactive
shareholding %
Country of
Name of associate Principal activities incorporation Currency  In millions 2006 2005
Quoted - Held by DBS Bank
1. Bank of the Philippine Islands*** Commercial banking and The Philippines PHP 22,386 204 204
financial services
Quoted - Held by other subsidiaries
2. Hwang - DBS (Malaysia) Bhd@* * * investment holding Malaysia RM 265 262 231
Unquoted - Held by DBS Bank
3. Century Horse Group Limited* Financial services British Virgin Islands  USD # 200 200
4. Clearing and Payment Services Provides service infrastructure for Singapore SGD # 333 333
Pte Lid*** clearing payment and settlement
of financial transactions
5. Investment and Capital Corparation Financial services The Philippines PHP 300 20.0 200
of the Philippines*
6. Network for Electronic Transfers Electronic funds transfer Singapore SGD 1 333 333
(Singapore) Pte Ltd***
7. Nextmall Holdings Corporation® * Hypermarket chain Cayman Istands ust ¥ 337 337
8. Orix Leasing Singapore Ltd*** Leasing and hire-purchase financing  Singapore SGD 3 300 300
of equipment, provision of installment
loans & working capital financing
Unquoted -~ Held by other subsidiaries
9. Hwang-DBS Investment Management  Investment managerment services Malaysia RM 10 30.0 423
Berhad***
10. Hwang-DBS Resources Sdn Bhd* ** Leasing of movable assets Malaysia RM 3 231 231
11. Hwang-DBS Vickers Research Investment management Malaysia RM 3 490 49.0
{Malaysia} Sdn Bhd®i»=+
12. Singapore Africa Investment Invesiment management Singapore ush # 300 300
Management Pte Ltd***
13. Southern Africa Investment Investment holding Singapore usD 35 25.0 250
Pte Ltdiox*~
14. Singapore Consortium Investment Investment management services Singapore SGD 1 333 333

Management Lid***

#  Amount under $500,000

* Audited by Ernst & Young firms outside Singapore

“*  No statutory audit was performed for this company as it is not mandatary under local laws and regulations

*** Audited by other auditors

(@) Shareholding includes 2.6% held through DBS Bank

{b) In addition to the effective sharehoiding of 49%, there is an indirect shareholding of 13.4% (2005: 11.8%) held through Hwang-DBS (Malaysia) Bhd.
There is no control over indirect shareholding, thus consolidation was not applied

{c} Shareholding includes 12.5% held through DBS Bank

1 04 Notes to the Financial Statements
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DBS Bank Ltd

INCOME STAtEMENT v e earendec 31 decermber 2005

tn $ millions Note 2006 2005
Income

Interest income 5,324 3,774
Interest expense 3,011 1,870
Net interest income 2,313 1,904
Net fee and commission income 681 588
Net trading income 527 199
Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value 4 (7
Net income from financial investments 162 80
QOther income 2 194 448
Total income 3,881 3,202

Expenses

Employee benefits 808 651

Depreciation of properties and other fixed assets 75 89
Qther expenses 710 562
Allowances for credit and other losses 46 939
Total expenses 1,639 2,241

Profit before tax 2,242 961

Income tax expense 47 246
Net profit for the year 1,825 715

(see notes on pages 107 to 109, which form part of these financial statements)
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DBS Bank Lid

Balance Sheet .. o

tn $ millions Note 2006 2005
Assets

Cash and balances with centrat banks 11,619 4,791
Singapore Government securities and treasury bills 12,843 9,843
Due from banks 19,590 16,089
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14,818 17,647
Positive replacement values 8,529 9,206
Loans and advances to customers 60,470 52,702
Financial investments 14,429 15,996
Securities pledged 678 433
Subsidiaries 3 9,790 11,066
nvestments in joint ventures 75 -
Investments in associates 567 631
Properties and other fixed assets 453 435
Deferred tax assets - 27
Gther assets 2,527 3,557
Total assets 156,388 142,423
Liabilities

Due to banks 6,758 8,026
Due to non-bank customers 89,947 78,826
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 14,355 15,064
Negative replacement values 8,065 8,646
Bills payable 472 351
Current tax liabilities 643 499
Deferred tax liabilities 80 -
Other liabilities 3,71 4,161
Other debt securities in issue 2,065 1,121
Due to holding company M 59
Due to subsidiaries 4 4,537 2,934
Due to related companies - 5
Subordinated term debts 6,348 4,930
Total liabilities 137,182 124,622
Net assets 19,206 17,801
Equity

Share capital 5 12,096 1,962
Share premium 5 - 10,134
Other reserves 6 3,143 2,665
Revenue reserves 6 3,967 3,040
Shareholders’ funds 19,206 17,801
Total equity 19,206 17,801
Off balance sheet items

Contingent liabilities 10,897 7,389
Commitments 69,497 61,654
Financial derivatives 1,408,971 1,380,765

(see notes on pages 107 to 109, which form part of these financial statements)
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DBS Bank Ltd

Notes to the Supplementary Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 Decermber 2006

The supplementary financial statements of DBS Bank Lid {"the
Bank ") are extracted from the Audited Statutory Accounts

of DBS Bank Ltd and its subsidiaries ("the Bank Group”) for

the financial year ended 31 December 2006. The statutory
accounts of the Bank, and the Bank Group which contained an
unqualified audit report, will be delivered to the Accounting &
Corporate Regulatory Authority in accordance with the Singapore
Companies Act.

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies applied by the Bank and the Bank Group
are consistent with those applied by the Group as disclosed in
Note 2 of the “Notes to the Financia! Statements” {“Notes”) in
DBSH Consolidated Financial Statements.

2 OTHER INCOME
Other income included dividend income received from subsidiaries
and associates as follows:

In $ millions 2006 2005
Dividends from subsidiaries 64 33
Dividends from associates 39 38
Total 103 71
3 SUBSIDIARIES

In § millions 2006 2005
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 10,125 11,344
Impairment allowances (821) (873)
Due from subsidiaries 486 595
Total 9,790 11,066
Movements in impairment allowances during the year were

as follows:

In $ millions 2006 2005
Balance at 1 January (873) (141}
ChargeAwrite-back) to income statement 52 (732)
Balance at 31 December (821) (873)
4 DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES

tn $ millions 2006 2005
Subordinated term debts 1,236 1,352
Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,301 1,582
Total 4,537 2,934

The subordinated term debts were issued by the Bank to DBS
Capital Funding Corporation, both wholly-owned subsidiaries of
DBSH, on 21 March 2001 and mature on 15 March 2051. The
notes comprised Series A Subordinated Note of US$725 million and
Series B Subordinated Note of $$100 million. Interest is payable in
arrears on 15 March and 15 September each year at a fixed rate of
7.657% per annum (Series A) and 5.35% per annum {Series B), up
o0 15 March 2011. Thereafter, interest is payable quarterly in arrears
on 15 March, 15 June, 15 September and 15 December each year
at a floating rate of three-month London Interbank Offer Rate
("LIBOR”) + 3.2% per annum (Series A} and three-month Singapcre
Swap Offer Rate + 2.52% per annum (Series B).

5 SHARE CAPITAL

In § millions 2005
Authorised
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares 2,000
600,000,000 non-redeemable

convertible preference shares ("CPS”) 1,200
300,000,000 non-voting convertibte CPS 300

300,000 non-cumulative

redeemable non-convertible perpetual

preference shares and each with a

liquidation preference #
17,500 non-cumulative redeemable

non-convertible perpetual

preference shares and each with

a liquidation preference #
1,100,000,000 non-cumulative

non-convertible perpetual preference

shares and each with a liguidation preference 1"

1,511

The Companies {Amendment} Act 2005 came into effect on 30
January 2006 whereby the concept of par value, authorised share
capital and share premium were abolished. On 30 January 2006,
amount previously classified as share premium was transferred

to share capital and became part of the Bank's share capital
henceforth.
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DBS Bank Ltet

In % millions 2006 2005
Issued and fully paid-up

1,962,302,697 (2005: 1,962,302,697) ordinary shares 1,962 1,962
11,000,000 {2005: 11,000,000) non-cumulative non-convertible perpetual preference shares # #
Total Issued and Paid-up Share Capital 1,962 1,962

#  Amounts under $500,000

Movements in issued share capital and share premium were as follows:

In § millions Issued share capital Share premium
Balance at 1 January 2006 1,962 10,134
Effects of Companies {Amendment) Act 2005 10,134 (10,134)
Balance at 31 December 2006 12,096 -
There was no movement in issued share capital and share premium during the previous financial year,
6 OTHER RESERVES
6.1 Other reserves
tn $ millions 2006 2005
Available-for-sale revaluation reserves 482 212
Cash flow hedge reserves - 23
General reserves 2,330 2,269
Capital reserves 296 136
Share option and share plan reserves 35 25
Total 3,143 2,665
Movemenis in other reserves during the year were as follows:
Share
Available-for-sale Cash option and
revaluation flow hedge General Capital share plan
In § millions reserves reserves reserves reserves™ reserves Total
Balance at 1 January 2006 212 23 2,269 136 25 2,665
Appropriation from income statement - - 61 - - 61
Net exchange translation adjustments - - - 160 - 160
Cost of share-based payments - - - - 15 15
Draw-down of reserves upon vesting
of performance shares - - - - (5) {5)
Available-for-sale/cash flow hedge:
~ net valuation taken to equity 407 (29) - - - 378
- transferred to income statement on sale (87) - - - - (87)
— tax on items taken directly to or
transferred from equity (50) 6 -~ - - (a4)
Balance at 31 December 2006 482 - 2,330 296 35 3,143
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!

| Share
Available-for-sale Cash option and
: revaluation flow hedge General Capital share plan
; In § millions reserves reserves reservest reserves®™ reserves Total
‘I Balance at 1 January 2005
: — as previously reported - - 2,233 221 - 2,454
- effect of adoption of new or revised FRSs - - - - 8 8
Batance at 1 January as restated - - 2,233 221 8 2,462
On adoption of FRS 39 at 1 fanuary 2005 297 - - - - 297
Appropriation from income statement - - 36 - - 36
Net exchange translation adjustments - - - (85) - (85)
Cost of share-based payments - - - - 23 23
' Draw-down of reserves upon vesting
of performance shares - - - - (6) (6)
Available-for-sale/cash flow hedge:
- net valuation taken to equity (3) 28 - - - 25
- transferred to income statement on sale (71} - - - - (71)
— tax on items taken directly to or
transferred from equity (11} (5) - - - {16)
Balance at 31 December 2005 212 23 2,269 136 25 2,665

(a) The movements in General reserves relate to the amounts transferred to the Reserve Fund to comply with the Banking Act, and the other statutory
reguiations. This reserve is non-distributable unless approved by the relevant authorities

fh) The Capital reserves include net exchange translation adjustments arising from translation differences on net investments in foreign subsidiaries,
joint ventures, associates and branches, and the related foreign currency borrowings designated as & hedge

6.2 Revenue reserves

In $ millions 2006 2005
Balance at 1 January
- as previously reported 3,040 3,205
- effect of adoption of new or revised FRSs - {18}
Balance at 1 January as restated 3,040 3,187
On adoption of FRS 39 at 1 January 2005 - (122)
Net profit attributable to shareholders 1,825 715
Transfer 1o general reserves (61) (36)
Amount available for distribution ) 4,804 3,744
Less: $0.08 (2005: 30.10) tax exempt crdinary final dividends 154 189
$0.32 (2005: $0.23) tax exempt ordinary interim dividends 630 462
6% preference dividends net of tax paid 53 53
Balance at 31 December 3,967 3,040
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DBS Group Haold.ngs Lid and its subsichanies

Jlrecters’ Report

The Directors are pleased to submit their report to the Members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of DBS
Group Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the balance sheet of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2006, which have been prepared tin accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards, as modified by the requirements of Notice to Banks No. 612 *Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning”
issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors in office at the date of this report are:

Koh Boon Hwee - Chairman

Jackson Tai - Chief Executive Officer & Vice Chairman
Frank Wong Kwong Shing ~  Chief Operating Officer

Ang Kong Hua

Andrew Robert Fowell Buxton - (Appointed 17 February 2006)

Goh Geck Ling

Kwa Chong Seng
Leung Chun Ying

N R Narayana Murthy
Peter Ong Boon Kwee
John Alan Ross

Wong Ngit Liong

Messrs Jackson Tai, Ang Kong Hua, Leung Chun Ying and Peter Ong will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election,

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement, the object of which, is to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits through the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate
save as disclosed in this report under the headings “Directors’ interest in shares and debentures”, "DBSH Share Option Plan” and
"DBSH Performance Share Plan”.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’ shareholdings
required to be kept under Section 164 of the Companies Act, an interest in shares of the Company and related corporations as stated
below:

Holdings in which Directors Holdings in which Directors are
have a direct interest deemed to have an interest

DBSH ordinary shares Asat31Dec2006 Asat31Dec2005 Asat31Dec2006 Asat 31 Dec 2005
(or date of {or date of

appointment if later) appointment if later)

Koh Boon Hwee - - - -
Jackson Tai 157,307 148,822 - -
Frank Wong Kweng Shing 213,357 204,872 - -
Ang Kong Hua - - - -
Andrew Robert Fowell Buxton* 4,000 - - -
Goh Geok Ling 2,100 2,100 - -
Kwa Chong Seng 42,129 42,129 50,000 50,000
Leung Chun Ying - - - -
John Alan Rass 10,000 10,000 10,000 -
N R Narayana Murthy 2,000 2,000 - -

Peter Ong Boon Kwee - - - -
Waong Ngit Liong - - - -

¥ Appointed 17 February 2006
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Holdings in which Directors Holdings in which Directors are
have a direct interest deemed to have an interest
DBSH ordinary shares Asat 31 Dec 2006  Asat31Dec2005  Asat31Dec2006  Asat31Dec 2005
(or date of {or date of
appointment if later) appointment if later)

Unissued ordinary shares under the DBSH Share Option Plan
Jackson Tai 440,175 440,175 - -
Frank Wong Kwong Shing 448,050 448,050 - -

DBS Bank 6% non-cumulative non-convertible

perpetual preference shares

tackson Tai 250 250 - -
Wong Ngit Liong 6,000 6,000 - -

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and 21 January 2007.

DIRECTORS' CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or has become entitled to receive a benefit under a contraci
which is required to be disclosed by Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act save as disclosed in this report or in the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group.

DBSH SHARE OPTION PLAN

The DBS Bank Share Option Plan (the “DBS Bank Option Plan”) was adopted by the shareholders of DBS Bank at an Extraordinary
General Meeting of DBS Bank held on 19 June 1999 to replace the DBS Bank Option Scheme. At an Extraordinary General Meeting held
on 18 September 1999, the shareholders of the Company adopted the DBSH Share Option Plan {the “Option Ptan”) to replace the DBS
Bank Option Plan, following the restructuring of DBS Bank as a wholly owned subsidiary company of the Company. Particulars of the
share options granted under the Option Plan in 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 (herewith called 1999 DBSH Options”,
“March/uly 2000 DBSH Cptions”, “March/lune/August 2001 DBSH Options”, * January/March/August/December 2002 DBSH Options™,
“February 2003 DBSH Options”, "March 2004 DBSH Options” and “March 2005 DBSH Options”} have been set aut in the Directors’
Reports for the years ended 31 December 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 respectively.

The mavements of the unissued ordinary shares of the Company in outstanding DBSH options granted under the Option Plan were as follows:

Number of Number of
unissued During the year unissued Exercise
ordinary shares ordinary shares price
DBSH Options 1 January 2006 Granted Exercised forfeited 31 December 2006  per share Expiry date
July 1999 2,716,023 - 1,434,554 355 1,281,114 $15.30 27 July 2009
March 2000 1,329,000 - 73,000 98,000 1,158,000 $20.87 5 March 2010
July 2000 968,000 - 14,000 75,000 879,000 $22.33 26 July 2010
March 2001 8,613,000 - 2,344,284 725,801 5,542,915 $17.70 14 March 2011
June 2001 21,000 - 21,000 - - $14.76 31 May 2011
August 2001 420,000 - 151,600 - 268,400 $12.93 31 July 2011
January 2002 50,500 - 50,500 - - $13.70 1 January 2012
March 2002 7,953,280 - 3,419,973 9,290 4,524,017 $14.73 27 March 2012
August 2002 475,800 - 173,900 (13,800)* 315,700 $12.27 15 August 2012
December 2002 20,000 - 10,000 - 10,000 $11.47 17 December 2012
February 2003 8,277,220 - 3,994,110 34,740 4,248,370 $10.40 23 February 2013
March 2004 6,079,158 - 1,120,916 341,050 4,617,192 $14.73 2 March 2014
March 2005 2,551,300 - 169,851 211,350 2,170,099 $15.07 1 March 2015
39,474,281 - 12,977,688 1,481,786 25,014,807

#  Included a credit of 15,000 shares previously reported as “forfeited” due to timing
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and 1s subsidiaries

Other than the DBSH Options granted under the Option Plan as disciosed herein, there were no further options granted by the Company
as at the end of the financial year.

The persons to whom the DBSH Options have been granted do not have any right to participate by virtue of the DBSH Options in any
share issue of any other company.

DBSH PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

The DBS Bank Performance Share Plan was adopted by the shareholders of DBS Bank at an Extraordinary General Meeting of DBS Bank
held on 19 June 1999. At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 18 September 1999, the shareholders of the Company adopted

the DBSH Performance Share Plan (the ”Performance Share Plan™}, to replace the DBS Bank Performance Share Plan, following the
restructuring of DBS Bank as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. During the financial year, awards in respect of an aggregate of
3,738,190 ordinary shares were granted pursuant to the DBSH Performance Share Plan, to selected employees of the Greup. This included
240,740 awards granted to executive directors Mr Jackson Tai and Mr Frank Wong Kwaong Shing. The awards represented a 100% payout.
The payout at the end of the performance period could range from a minimum of 100% of the shares awarded to 200%, depending on
the Group's performance as measured by return on equity.

Information on the Performance Share Plan is as follows:

{i) The Company’s ordinary shares could be granted 1o the Group executives who hold the rank of Vice President (or equivalent rank)
and above and selected employees of the Group of a rank below the rank of Vice President (or equivalent rank). This would also
include executives of associated companies of the Group who hold the rank of Vice President (or equivalent rank); and non-executive
directors of the Company.

The participants of the Perfarmance Share Plan may be eligible to participate in the DBSH Share Option Plan or other equivalent
plans, but shall not be eligible to participate in the DBSH Employee Share Plan or other equivalent plans.

{ii) Participants are awarded ordinary shares of the Company, their equivalent cash value or a combination of both (“DBSH Awards”),
when the prescribed performance targets are met. The DBSH Awards are granted at the absolute discretion of the Compensation
Committee.

(iii) The Performance Share Plan shall continue o be in force at the discretion of the Compensation Committee, subject to a maximum
period of ten years commencing from 18 September 1999, provided always that the Performance Share Plan may continue beyond
the above stipulated period with the approval of the shareholders of the Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting and of
any relevant authorities which may then be required.

{iv) DBSH Awards may be granted at any time in the course of a financial year, and may lapse by reason of cessation of service of the
participant, or the retirement, redundancy, ill health, Injury, disability, death, bankruptcy or miscorduct of the participant, or the
participant, being a non-executive director, ceases to be a director, or a take-over, winding up or reconstruction of the Company.

{v} The aggregate nominal amount of new ordinary shares of the Company which may be delivered (pursuant to DBSH Awards granted)
under the Performance Share Plan, when added to the nominal amount of new ordinary shares issued and issuable in respect of all
DBSH Awards granted under the Performance Share Plan, and all opticns granted under the Option Plan, shall not exceed 15% of
the issued share capital of the Company on the day preceding the relevant date of the DBSH Award. The number of existing ordinary
shares purchased from the market which may be delivered pursuant to the DBSH Award will not be subject to any limit.

(vi) Subject to the prevailing legislation and SGX-ST guidelines, the Company will have the flexibility to deliver ordinary shares of the

Company to participants upan vesting of their DBSH Awards by way of an issue of new ordinary shares and/or the purchase of
existing ordinary shares.
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries

{vii) The nominal amount, class and’or number of ordinary shares of the Company comprised in a DBSH Award ta the extent not yet
vested, and/or which may be granted to participants, are subject to adjustment by reason of any variation in the issued ordinary
share capital of the Company (whether by way of a capitalisation of profits or reserves or rights issue, reduction, subdivision,
consolidation, or distribution}, upon the written confirmation of the auditors of the Company that such adjustment {other than in
the case of a capitalisation issue) is fair and reasonable.

At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 30 March 2006, the shareholders of the Company adopted the change of name of the
Plan from “DBSH Performance Share Plan” to “DBSH Share Plan” to better reflect the Group's ability to also grant time-based awards.
Such time-based awards will only be granted from 2007.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised non-executive directors Mr Ang Kong Hua (Chairman), Mr Goh Geok Ling and Mr Peter Ong Boon

Kwee. As part of its functions, it assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities for the Group's financial announcements, internal
control issues and regulatory compliance as well as to oversee the objectivity and effectiveness of the internal and external auditors.

In its review of the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2006, the Audit Comrmittee has discussed
with management and the external auditors the accounting principles that were applied and their judgement on the items that might
affect the financials. Based on the review and discussions with management and the externat auditors, the Audit Commitiee is of the
view that the financial statements are fairly presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in all material aspects.
The Audit Committee has received the requisite information from Ernst & Young ("E&Y"} and has considered the financial, business

and professional relationship between E&Y and the Group. 1t is of the view that such relationship is compatible with maintaining E&Y's

independence.

The Audit Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the re-appointment of E&Y as external auditors at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting of the Company on 4 April 2007.

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as external auditors.

On behalf of the Directors

Koh Boon Hwee

Jackson Tai

15 February 2007
Singapore
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Statement by the Directors

We, Koh Boon Hwee and Jackson Tai, being two of the Directors of DBS Group Holdings Ltd (the “Company®), state that, in the opinion
of the Directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group, consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries, and the balance
sheet of the Company, together with the notes thereon, as set out on pages 54 to 109, are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 20086, and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the
Group for the financial year ended on that date and there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Group will be
able to pay their debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Directors
Koh Boon Hwee

Jackson Tai

15 February 2007
Singapore
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DBS Group Heldings Ltd and its subsidiaries

Independent Auaitors’ Report

TO THE MEMBERS OF DBS GROUP HOLDINGS LTD (INCORPORATED IN SINGAPORE)

We have audited the accompanying financial staterments of DBS Group Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries {the “Group"}
set out on pages 54 to 109, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2006, consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company's directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstaterment, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statemnents based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant

1o the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control, An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis far our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion,

(i)

(i)

the consolidated financia! statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, including the
modification of the requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning
by Notice of Banks No. 612 “Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning” issued by the Manetary Authority of Singapore, so as to give

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2006 and the resulis, changes in

equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that daie; and

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated in
Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

15 February 2007
Singapore
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DBS Group Haldings Ltd and its subsidiaries

Ten-Year Summary of Operations of DBSH Group

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Selected Income Items ($ millions)
Profit before taxation 3,004 1,338 2,566 1,562 1,615 1,548 1,675 1,041 44 562
Net profit attributable to shareholders 2,269 824 1,995 1,061 1,103 986 1,389 1,072 12 458
Selected Balance Sheet Items
Assets ($ millions)
Total assets 197,372 180,204 175,671 159,479 149,425 151 429 111,208% 106,465 100,037 65,984
Customer lpans®? 86,630 79,462 69,659 64,330 60,704 68,202 52,024 54,370 56,215 40,135
Investment in quoted and

unquoted securities and shares 52,346 50902 47,589 41,229 27.785 24,892 14,403 14,593 11,086 5,702
Liabilities ($ millions)
Customer deposits® 131,373 116,884 113,206 108,041 101 315 106,771 80,721 82,268 73,858 33,557
Total deposits 139,910 125,843 124,145 115,538 106,191 115,217 92,774 89,759 86,477 54,038
Borrowings and debt securities 17,362 13,763 12,704 10,061 9,435 9,114 3,812 2,818 1,123 1,848
Capital and Reserves ($ miilions)
Paid-up non-voting redeemable,

convertible preference share capital 66 66 &b 66 66 66 66 - - -
Paid-up non-redeemable, convertible

preference share capital - - - - - - - - 412 536
Paid-up non-voting, convertible

preference share capital # # # 20 20 25 25 147 225 -
Issued and paid-up ordinary

share capital 1,511 1,498 1,493 1,470 1,469 1,447 1,216 1,178 928 703
Ordinary shareholders’ funds 18,242 16,291 16,011 14,259 13,681 13,007 9,899 9,921 7,800 7,494
Total {ordinary and preference)

shareholders’ funds 18,675 16,724 16,444 14,818 14,241 13,602 10,495 10,876 9,812 8.030
Selected Ratios
Dividend cover for ordinary

shares (number of times) 2.46 1.17 414 3.03 3.15 3.18 3.32 5.05 1.65 4.86
Adjusted gross dividend

per ordinary share™ ($) 0.76 0.58 0.40 0.3¢ 0.30 0.30 0.45 0.26 0.16 0.15
Adjusted earnings per ordinary

share after tax® () 1.50 0.54 1.33 0.71 0.75 0.68 1.13 0.97 0.10 0.52
Net tangible asset backing per

ordinary share® ($) 8.21 6.99 6.08 467 4.07 538 8.14 8.42 7.68 8.43
Return on shareholders’ funds (%) 12.8 5.0 12.8 7.3 79 88 12.9 10.4 1.3 5.7
Shareholders’ funds to total assets 0.09 0.09 0.09 Q.09 0.10 0.09 0.09 0.10 0.10 0.12
US$/5% exchange rate

as at 31 December 1.53 1.66 1.63 1.70 1.74 1.85 1.73 1.67 1.65 1.68

(1) Prior years' figures have been restated to reflect the effects on adoption of new or revised Financial reporting Standards
(2) Includes financial assetsffiabilities at fair value through profit or foss
{3) Net tangible asset backing per ordinary share has been adjusted for bonus issues in 1998 and 1999, and rights issue in 1998

(4) Gross dividends per ordinary share and earnings per ordinary share after tax have been adjusted for bonus issues in 1998 and 1999,

and rights issues in 1998

(5) Total assets exclude "Life fund assets attributible to policyholders”

#  Amount less than $500,000

1 1 6 Ten-Year Summary of Operations of DBSH Group
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Further Information on Directors

MR KOH BOON HWEE

Academic and Professional Qualifications:

- Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering (1st Class Hons)
Imperia! College, University of London

— Master in Business Administration {with Distinction)
Harvard Business School

Current Directorships

MR JACKSON TAI
Academic and Professional Qualifications:
— Master of Business Administration
Harvard University
—  Bachelor of Science
Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute

Current Directorships

Company Title Company Title
1. DBS Group Holdings ttd Chairman 1. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Vice Chairman
2. DBS Bank Ltd. Chairman 2. DBSBank Ltd. Vice Chairman
3. MediaRing Ltd Executive Director 3. DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited Director
4, Sunningdale Tech Ltd Executive Chairman 4. DBS Diamond Holdings Limited Chairman
& CEO 5. DBS Group (HK) Limited Director
5.  Agilent Technologies, Inc. Director 6. DBS Group Holdings (Hong Kong) Ltd Chairman
6. Four Soft Ltd Director 7. Hutchison DBS Card Limited Director
7. AAC Acoustic Technologies Holdings Ltd Chairman 8. Capitaland Limited Director
8. Infiniti Solutions Ltd Chairman 9. MasterCard Asia/Pacific Regional Advisory Board  Director
9.  Temasek Holdings (Pte) Ltd Director 10.  Asian Art Museum of San Francisco Trustee
10.  First Spring Ltd Director  11.  Asian Civilisations Museum Director
11.  800buy.com Chairman 12. Committee of 100, USA Director
12.  Wuthelam Holdings Ltd Chairman 13. Dr Goh Keng Swee Schoiarship Fund Director
13. Harvard Singapore Foundation Director 14. Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute Trustee
14, Lee Kuan Yew School of Public Policy Member 15.  San Francisco Symphony Board of Governors
15.  Nanyang Technological University 16. The Institute of Banking and Finance Council Member
Board of Trustees Chairman  17.  The University of Hong Kong
16. Research, Innovation & Enterprise Council Member (Faculty of Business and Economics} Director
17.  Geoscope Information Systermns India 18.  Ayala DBS Holdings Inc. Director
Private Limited Director 19. Bloomberg L.P. — Asia-Pacific Advisory Board Member
18.  Pacific Internet Ltd Director 20. ABS Coundil Council Member
21. Nanyang Business School
Directorships for the past 3 years International Advisory Board Member
Company Title
1. nnovalues Precision Ltd Director Elrectorshlps for the past 3 years Tt
z. Citiraya Industries Ltd Director —openY e
3. intelsat Ltd, Bermuda Director 1. Jones Lang LaSalle Incorporated Director
4. BroadVision, Inc, USA Director 2. PT Bank DBS Indonesia President
5. Aims Lab Pte Ltd Director Commissioner
6. Anytime Pte Ltd Director 3.  Singapore Telecommunications Limited Director
7. Centre for Effective Leadership (Asia) Pte Ltd Director 4. ABS Councit First Vice-Chairman/
2. Delteq Ltd Director Chairman
9. Xuehui Holdings Pte Lid Director 5. Dr Goh Keng Swee Scholarship Fund Deputy Chairman
10. Pro-Tem Governing Board of the Lee Kuan Yew 6.  Singapore Business Federation Council Member
School of Public Policy, Singapore Member 7.  Singapore Institute of Directors Fellow
1. Norelco UMS Holdings Ltd Director
12.  Singapore Airlines ttd Chairman
13.  SIA Engineering Company Ltd Chairman
14.  Nanyang Technological University Council Chairman

15.  Singapere Business federation

Council Member

Further Information on Directors 1 1 7
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsidiarias

MR FRANK WONG KWONG SHING
Academic and Professional Qualifications:
- Hong Keng English School Certificate

Current Directorships

Company Title
1. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Director
2. DBS Bank Ltd. Vice Chairman
3. DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited Chairman
4. DBS Group (HK) Limited Chairman
5. DBS Diamond Holdings Ltd Deputy Chairman
6. China Mobile Limited Director
7. Ayala DBS Holdings Inc. Director
8.  Singapore Tourism Board Board Member
9. The University of Hong Kong Member of the

10.  Mapletree Investments Pte Lid
11, National Healthcare Group Pte Lid
12. DBS {China) Investment Co., Ltd

Directorships for the past 3 years
Company

University Court
Director
Director
Direcior

Title

1. 5NP Leefung Holdings Limited

Director

MR ANG KONG HUA
Academic and Professional Qualifications:

- Bachelor of Science (2nd Class Upper Honours) in Economics

University of Hull, UK

Current Directorships

Company Title
1. DBS Graup Holdings Lid Director
2. DBSBank Ltd. Director
3. Bangkok Synthetics Co. Ltd Director
4. GIC Special Investments Private Limited Director
5. Government of Singapore Investment

Corporation Private Limited Director
6. K1 Ventures Limited Director
7. Lieng Chung Corporation {(Kowloon} Ltd Director
8. NatSteel Ltd Executive Director
9. Neptune Crient Lines Ltd Director
10.  Yantai Raffles Shipyard Limited Director

1 1 8 Further Information on Directors

Directorships for the past 3 years

Company Title
1. Eastern Industries Private Limited Chairman
2. Eastern Pretech Pte Ltd Chairman
3. NatSteel Chemicals Ltd Director
4. SteelAsia Manufacturing Corporation Director
5. SteelAsia Development and

Management Corporation Director
6.  Southern Steel Berhad Director
7. Crown Central Assets Limited Director
8.  Gilory Central Holdings Limited Director
MR ANDREW ROBERT FOWELL BUXTON
Academic and Professional Qualifications:
— Master of Arts, Politics, Philosophy, Econgmics

Oxford University {Pambroke College)
- Fellow
Institute of Bankers

Current Directorships
Company Title
1. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Director
2. DBS Bank Ltd. Director
3. CapitaLand Limited Director
4. Capitaland Financial Limited Director
5. Allied Schools Limited Chairman
6. Pigeon Properties Ltd Chairman
7. XansaPLC Deputy Chairman
8. Saad Investments Company Limited Director
3. Cygnet Properties and Leisure Pic Chairman
10.  Cibitas Limited Director
11, National Education Business

Partnership Network Patron
12, Akbank, Istanbul, Turkey Adviser
13.  MerchantBridge & Co. Ltd Chairman of the

Advisory Board

Directorships for the past 3 years
Company Title
1. Ahli United Bank Director

DBS Group Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2006
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MR GOH GEOK LING
Academic and Professional Qualifications:
— Bachelar of Engineering

University of Sydney

Current Directorships

Company Title
1. DBS Group Hoidings Ltd Director
2. DBSBank Ltd. Director
3. Venture Corporation Ltd Director
4. 02 Micro Pte Ltd Director
5. 02 Micro International Limited Director
6. SembCorp Indusiries Ltd Director
7. SembCorp Marine Ltd Chairman
8 Yew Lian Property & Investment (Pte) Ltd Director
9. Marigold Holdings (Pte) Ltd Executive Director
10.  Nanyang Technologicat University Council Member

Directorships for the past 3 years

Company Title
t.  ASTI Holdings Ltd Director
2. Singapore Technologies Pte Lid Director
3. Tuas Power Ltd Chairman
4, Plato Pte Ltd Director
5. Plato Capital Ltd Director
MR KWA CHONG SENG
Academic and Professional Qualifications:
— Bachelor of Engineering

University of Singapore
Current Directorships
Company Title
1. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Director
2. DBS Bank Lid. Director
3. ExxonMobil Asia Pacific Pte Ltd Chairman &

Managing Director

4. Esso China Inc. Chairman

wn

Termasek Holdings (Pte) Ltd

6.  ExxonMobil Oil Singapore Pte Ltd
{In members' voluntary winding up)

7. Mobil Asia Marketing Pte Ltd

{In members’ voluntary winding up)

Mohil South Asia Investments Ltd

9. Esso Asia Pacific (Petroleum) Pe Ltd

{In members’ voluntary winding up)

©

Deputy Chairman
Chairman

Director
Director

Director

Directorships for the past 3 years

Company Title
1. Media Corporation of Singapore Pte Ltd Chairman
2. MediaCorp Publishing Pte Ltd Chairman
3. MediaCorp Radio Singapore Pte Ltd Chairman
4. MediaCorp Studios Pte Ltd Chairman
5. MediaCorp TV Singapore Pte Ltd Chairman
6. MediaCorp TV12 Singapore Pte Ltd Chairman
7. MediaCorp Technologies Pte Ltd Chairman
MR LEUNG CHUN YING
Academic and Professional Qualifications:
- Hon. Doctor of Business Administration
University of the West of England
—  Hon. Doctor of Business Administration
Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Current Directorships
Company Title
1. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Director
2.  DBSBank Ltd. Director
3. DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited Director
4.  ACE Link Property Ltd Director
5. Ascendas Pte Ltd Director
6. Banson Investments Lid Director
7. Beson Investments Ltd Director
8.  Bowman Hospitality Services Ltd Director
9. PBrilliant Time Investment Ltd Director
10.  China Homes Ltd Director
11. €Y lLeung & Co. Ltd Director
12.  CY Leung {China) Ltd Director
13. Dragon Foundation Ltd Director
14, DTZ Cyberdata (Shenzhen) Ltd Director
1%. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Assets

Management Ltd Director
16, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Cyberdata Ltd Director
17. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Investment

Services Lid Director
18. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Ltd Director
19, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Project Services Ltd Director
20. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Property

Management Ltd Director
21. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung-Beijing Director
22. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung-Chongging Director
23. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung-Dalian Director
24, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung-Guangzhou Director
25. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung {Guangzhou)

Property Management Ltd Director
26. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Hotel

Management Lid Director

Further Information on Directors 1 1 9
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries

27.  DTZ Debenham Tie Leung-Shanghai Director
28. DTZ Debenham Tie Leung-Tianjin Director
29.  DTZ Facility Management Ltd Director
30. DTZ Japan K.K. Director
31. DTZ Japan Ltd Director
32. DTz Pacific Holdings Ltd Director
33. DTZTie Leung Co. Ltd Director
34, DTZ.com Ltd Director
35, DTZ.com.hk Ltd Director
36. DTZworld.com Ltd — Cayman Director
37.  DT2world.com Lid - Hong Kong Direcior
38. Eastinn Hospitality Services Ltd Director
39.  EuroAsia Properties Ltd Director
40.  Sing Tao News Corporation Limited Director
41, HK Millennium Ltd Director
42.  Keppe! Corporation Ltd Director
43.  Lotvest Ltd Director
44.  One Country Two Systems Research

Institute Ltd Director
45.  Shenzhen DTZ Debenham Tie Leung

Valuation & Advisory Services Ltd Director
46.  The Hong Kong Coalition of Professional

Services Ltd Director
47.  Wintrack Worldwide Lid Director
48.  Shui On Land Limited Non-Executive Director
49, DTZ Holdings Plc Director
Directorships for the past 3 years
Company Title
1. Jumbo Land Ltd Director
MR NARAYANA MURTHY
Academic and Professional Qualifications:
- Masters in Technology

Indian Institute of Technology, Kanpur
— Bachelor of Engineering
University of Mysore

Current Directorships
Company Title
1. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Director
2. DBS Bank Ltd. Director
3. Infosys Technalogies Limited, India Chairman/

Chief Mentor
4. Indian Institute of Information
Technology, Bangalore
5. Indian Institute of Management, Ahmedabad
6. University of Pennsylvania‘s
Wharton School
7. Cornell University

Chairman
Chairman
Member of the
Board of Overseers
Board of Trustees

1 20 Further Information on Directors

8. William F. Achtmeyer Center
for Global Leadership at the Tuck
School of Business

9. Singapore Management University

Board of Advisors
Board of Trustees

10.  Infosys Technologies (China) Co Limited Director
11, BT Asia Pacific Advisory Board, Belgium Director
12, Infosys Consulting Inc, USA Director
13.  New Delhi Television Ltd Director
14, Stanford Graduate School of

Business Advisory Council Member
15, Hero Mindmine Advisory Board Member
16. INSEAD's Global India Council &

International Council Member
17.  Lafarge International Advisory Board Member
18.  United Nations Foundation Director
19, Yale University President’s Council Advisory Group

on International Activities Member
Directorships for the past 3 years
Company Title
1. Bangalore International Airport Ltd Director
2. Indo-British Partnership Co-Chairman
3. Central Board of the Reserve Bank of India Director
MR PETER ONG BOON KWEE
Academic and Professional Qualifications:
- Master of Business Administration

Stanford University
~ Bachelor of Economics {(Honours)
University of Adefaide

Current Directorships
Company Title
i. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Director
2. DBS Bank Ltd. Director
3. Maritime and Port Authority of Singapare Chairman
4, Calvary Baptist Church Deacon
5. Value Innovation Action Tank Ltd Director
6. Singapore-India Partnership Foundation Director
7. Singapore Cooperation Enterprise Deputy Chairman

Directorships for the past 3 years

Company Title
1. TIF Ventures Pte Ltd Director
2. Alpha Society Chairman
3. INSEAD National Council Member
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MR JOHN ALAN ROSS 13.  Technocom Systems Sdn Bhd Director
Academic and Professional Qualifications: 14.  Univac Precision Engineering Pte Ltd Director
- Master of Business Administration 15.  Ventech Data Systems Pte Ltd Director
The Wharton School of The University of Pennsylvania 16.  Ventech Investments Ltd Director
- Bachelor of Arts 17.  Venture Corporation Limited Chairman & CEQ
Hobart College 18.  Venture Electronics (Europe) B.V. Director
19.  Venture Electronics Internaticnal, Inc. Director
Current Directorships 20.  Venture Electronics Solutions Pte Ltd Director
Company Title 21. Venture Electronics Spain, S.L. Director
- . . H i

1. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Director 22. Venture ungary El‘ectroplc? .
. Manufacturing Limited Liability Company Director

2. DBS Bank Ltd. Director , .
. 23.  VIPColor Technologies Pte Ltd Director

3. Jewish Museum, New York Board Member/Trustee . .
. ‘ 24, VIPColor Technologies USA, Inc. Director

4. Metropolitan Opera Guild Board Member/Trustee . .
25 VM Services, Inc. Director

5. German Marshall Fund of US, . .
) 26. VS Electronics Pte Lid Director

Washington, D.C. Board Member/Trustee . X .
- . 27.  Royal Philips Electronics Director
. Hobart & William Smith Colleges Trustee 28. Research, Innovation and Enterprise Council Member

7. ATV Holdings In¢ President ’ ' P

Directorships for the past 3 years Directorships for the past 3 years

Company Title Company Title
. . 1. ingapare Exch Ltd i

1. Global Mezzanine Inc Directar Singap . Exc ange =i D!rector
‘ - 2. international Enterprise Singapore Director

2. Singapore Technologies Pte Ltd - 3 StA Engineering Company Ltd Director

International Advisory Panel Member : 9 9 pany
3. AIrTV Limited President
4. LarkSat Limited President

MR WONG NGIT LIONG

Academic and Professional Qualifications:

- Bacheler of Engineering {1st Class Hons)
University of Malaya

- Master of Science {Electranics Engineering)
University of California at Berkeley

- Master of Business Administration {Distinction)
McGill University

Current Directorships

Company Title
1. DBS Group Holdings Ltd Director
2. DBS Bank Ltd. Director
3. Advanced Products Corporation Pte Ltd Director
4.  Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd Director
5. NUS Board of Trustees Chairman
6.  EAS Security Systems Pte Ltd Director
7. Innovative Trek Technclogy Pte Ltd Director
8. Multitech Systems Pte Ltd Director
9. NLW Pte Ltd Director
10.  Pintarmas Sdn Bhd Director
11, PT Venture Electronics Indenesia Director
12, V-Design Services (M) Sdn Bhd Director
Further Information on Directors 1 2 1
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries

Shareholding Statistics

I3

Class of Shares - Ordinary Shares
Voting Rights — One vote per share

As at 21 February 2007

No. of No, of
Size of holdings Sharcholders % Shares %
1-999 5,700 30.99 1,630,728 0.11
1,000 -~ 10,000 11,256 61.19 29,687,095 1.96
10,001 - 1,000,000 1,414 7.69 51,285,550 3.39
1,000,001 & above 25 0.13 1,429,781,375 94.54
Total 18,395 100.00 1,512,384,748 100.00
Location of Shareholders
Singapore 16,902 91.88 1,502,912,245 99.37
Malaysia 909 4,94 4,908,114 0.33
Overseas 584 3.18 4,564,389 0.30
Total 18,395 100.00 1,512,384,748 100.00
Twenty Largest Shareholders (As shown in the Register of Members and Depository Register)
No. of shareholdings %
1 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 379,003,915 25.06
2 Maju Holdings Pte Ltd 234,497,040 15.51
3 DBSN Services Pte Ltd 187,429,937 12.39
4 Temasek Holdings (Pte) Ltd 185,673,795 12.28
5 H3BC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 126,196,655 8.34
6 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 108,783,741 7.19
7 Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 84,812,096 5.61
8 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 54,436,397 3.60
9 Morgan Stanley Asia (Singapore) Securities Pte Ltd 17,723,743 1.17
10 DB Nominees (S) Pte Lid 13,788,533 0.91
11 Lee Pineapple Company Pte Ltd 8,750,000 0.58
12 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 3,433,881 0.23
13 Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd 3,385,621 0.22
14 Macquarie Securities {S) Pte Ltd 2,686,795 0.18
15 KEP Holdings Limited 2,500,000 0.17
16 Societe Generale Singapore Branch 2,372,066 0.16
17 Oversea Chinese Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 2,296,252 0.15
18  Eng Hueng Fook Henry 2,224,965 0.15
19 The Asia Life Assurance Society Ltd 2,055,238 0.14
20 Western Properties Pte Ltd 1,884,000 0.12
TOTAL 1,423,934,670 94.16

Class of Shares - Non-Voting Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares ("NVRCPS™)
Voting Rights - Please see Article 6A of the Articles of Association.
Sole Shareholder of 66,475,374 NVRCPS: Maju Holdings Pte Ltd

Class of Shares - Non-Voting Convertible Preference Shares ("NVCPS™)
Voting Rights — Please see Article 6 of the Articles of Association.

Sole Shareholder of 120,436 NVCPS: Maju Hoeldings Pte Ltd

1 22 Shareholding Statistics
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DBS Group Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries

Substantial ordinary shareholders (As shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 21 February 2007)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

No. of Shares % MNo. of Shares %
Maju Holdings Pte Ltd 234,497,040 15.51 - -
Temasek Holdings {Pte} Ltd 185,673,795 12.28 238,982,790 15.80

1. Maju Holdings Pte Ltd {"Maju”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Temasek Holdings (Pte) Ltd.

2. Temasek Holdings (Pte} Ltd, a company wholly-owned by Minister for Finance Incorporated, is deemed interested in the 234,497,040

shares held by Maju.

As at 21 February 2007, approximately 71.89% of DBSH's issued ordinary shares is held by the public and, therefore, Rule 723 of the

Listing Manual is complied with.

Shareholding Statistics 1 23
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DBS Group Hokdings Ltd

International Banking Offices

DBS Bank Bangkok
Representative Office

7th Floor, Main Building

393 Silom Road

Bangkok 10500, Thailand

Tel: (66 2} 636 6364; 636 6365
Fax: (66 2} 636 6366

DBS Bank Beijing Branch
Units 1009-1018

Level 10, China World Tower 1
No 1 Jianguomenwai Avenue
Beijing 100004

The People’s Republic of China
Ted: (86 10) 6505 1216

Fax: {86 10) 6505 4831

DBS Bank Dubai Branch
Suite 5, 3rd Floor, Building 3
Gate Precinct, PO Box 506538
DIFC, Dubai, UAE

Tel: (971 4) 364 1800

Fax: (971 4) 364 1801

DBS5 Bank Guangzhou Branch
Unit 1006, 10/F

Fortune Plaza West Tower

Ti Yu East Road, Tianhe
Guangzhou 510620

The People’s Republic of China
Tel: {86 20) 3884 8010

Fax: (86 20) 3884 8060

DBS Bank Hong Kong Branch
16th Floor, Man Yee Building
68 Des Voeux Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2868 3386

Fax: (852) 2596 0577

DBS Bank Kuala Lumpur
Representative Office
#08-01, Menara Keck Seng
203 Jalan Bukit Bintang
55100 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel: (603) 2148 8338

Fax: (603} 2148 8083

DB8S Bank Labuan Branch
Level 12 (E) Main Office Tower
Financial Park Labuan

lalan Merdeka

87000 W.P. Labuan, Malaysia
Tel: (6 087) 423 375

Fax: (6 087) 423 376

DBS Bank London Branch
4th Floor, Paternoster House
65 St Paul’s Churchyard
London EC4M SAB, UK
Tel: (44 207) 489 6550
Fax: (44 207) 489 5850

DBS Bank Los Angeles
Agency

445 South Figueroa Street
Suite 3550, Los Angeles
CA 90071, USA

Tel: (1 213) 627 0222
Fax: (1 213) 627 0228

DBS Bank Manila
Representative Office
18th Floor, BPI Building
Ayala Avenue corner

Paseo de Roxas

Makati City, The Philippines
Tel: (632) 845 5112

Fax; (632) 750 2144

DBS Bank Mumbai Branch
Fort House, 3rd Floor

221, Dr. D.N. Road, Fort
Mumbai 400001, India

Tel: (91 22) 6638 8888

Fax: (91 22) 6638 8899

DBS Bank New Delhi Branch
Upper Ground Floor

Birla Tower

25, Barakhamba Road

New Delhi 110001, india

Tel: (971 11) 3041 8888

Fax: (91 11) 3041 8899

DBS Bank Seoul Branch
18th Floor, Seoul Finance
Center Building

84-1, 1-ka Taepyungro
Chung-ku, Seoul
Republic of Korea

Tel: (822) 6322 2660

Fax: (822) 732 7953

DBS Bank Shanghai Branch
28th Floor, Azia Center

1233 Lu Jia Zui Ring Road
Pudong, Shanghai 200120
The People’s Republic of China
Tel: (86 21) 3896 8888

Fax: (86 21) 3896 8989

1 24 Internatonal Banking Offices

D85S Bank Shanghai Luwan
Sub-branch

G/F and 2/F Century Bashi
Building

398 Middle Huaihai Road
Shanghai 200020

The People’s Republic of China
Tel: (86 21) 5383 8989

Fax: (86 21) 5383 8080

DBS Bank Taipei Branch
28F-B Taipei 101 Tower

7 Xin-Yi Road, Section 5
Taipei 11049, Taiwan R.O.C.
Tel: (886 2) 8101 0598

Fax: (886 2} 8101 0589

DBS Bank Tokyo Branch
508 Yurakucho Denki Building
7-1 Yurakucho 1-chome
Chiyoda-ku

Tokyo 1000006, Japan

Tel: (813) 3213 4411

Fax: {813) 3213 4415

DBS Bank Yangon
Representative Office
#0502 Level 5 Sakura Tower
339 Bogyoke Aung San Street
Kyauktada Township

Yangon, Myanmar

Tel: (951} 255 407

Fax: (951) 255 100

DBS Bank (Hong Kong)
Dongguan Representative
Office

Room 01-03, 19/F

Jin Yuan Centre

No 1 Ke Yuan South Road
Guangdong

Dongguan 523000

The People’s Republic of China
Tel: (86 769) 2117 698

Fax: (86 769) 2118 856

DBS Bank (Hong Kong)
Fuzhou Representative Office
Block A, 23/F

World Trade Plaza

71 Wusi Road, Fuzhou 350001
The People’s Republic of China
Tel: (86 591) 8754 4080

Fax: (86 591) 8754 4079

DBS Bank {Hong Kong)
Hangzhou Representative
Office

258 Zhong He Zhang Road
25/F, Richful International
Trade Plaza, Unit F

Hangzhou 310003

The People’s Republic of China
Tel- (86 571) 8788 1288

Fax: (86 571) 8788 1289

DBS Bank (Hong Kong)
Macau Branch

Nos 5 a 7E da Rua de
Santa Clara

Edif, Ribeiro, Loja C e D.
Macau

Tel: (853) 2832 9338

Fax: (853) 2832 3711

DBS Bank (Hong Kong)
Shenzhen Branch

Personal Banking Services
Shop 229, Level 2 The MIXc,
No 1887, Baoan Nan Road
Shenzhen 518001

The People’s Republic of China
Tel: (86 755) 8269 1043

Fax: (86 755) 8269 1055

Enterprise Banking Services
18/F, China Resources Building
5001 Shennan Dong Road
Shenzhen 518001

The People's Republic of China
Tel: (86 755) 8269 0880

Fax: (86 755) 8269 0890

DBS Bank {Hong Kong)
Suzhou Branch

7th Floor, Internaticnal Building
No. 2 Suhua Road,

Suzhou Industrial Park

Jiang Su 215021

The People’s Republic of China
Tel: (86 512) 6288 8090

Fax: (86 512) 6288 8070

DBS Bank (Hong Kong)
Tianjin Representative Office
Unit 1902, 19/F

The Exchange Tower

189 Nanjing Road

Tianjin 300051

The People's Republic of China
Tel: (86 22) 2339 3075

Fax: {86 22) 2339 3003
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Main Subsidiaries & Associated Companies

DBS Bank (Hong Kong)
Limited

11/F The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

Tel: {(852) 2218 8822

Fax: (852) 2167 8222

100% owned by DBS Diamond
Holdings Ltd, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of DBS Bank

DBS Asia Capital Limited
16/F, Man Yee Building

68 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2918 0399

Fax: {852} 2868 0250
100% owned by DBS Bank

DBS Asset Management Ltd
8 Cross Street

#08-01, PWC Building
Singapore 048424

Tel: (65) 6878 7801

Fax: {65) 6534 5183

100% owned by DBS Bank

DBS Capital Investments Ltd
6 Shenton Way

DBS Building Tower One
Singapore 068809

Tel: (65) 6878 8888

Fax: {65) 6220 7487

100% owned by DBS Bank

DBS China {Investment)
Co. Ltd

& Shenton Way

DBS Building Tower One
Singapore 068809

Tel: (65) 6878 8888

Fax: {65) 6220 7487

100% owned by DBS Bank

DBS Nominees Pte Ltd

6 Shenton Way

DBS Building Tower One
Singapore 068809

Tel: (65) 6878 8888

Fax: (65) 6338 8936

100% owned by DBS Bank

DBSN Services

6 Shenton Way

DBS Building Tower Gne
Singapore 068809

Tel: (65) 6878 8888

Fax: {(65) 6338 8936

100% owned by DBS Bank

DBS Trustee Ltd

180 Clemenceau Ave

Haw Par Centre, #03-01/04
Singapore 239922

Tel: (65) 6878 8388

Fax: (65) 6338 0360

20% owned by DBS Bank Ltd
20% owned by DBS Vickers
Securities Nominees

(S'pore) Pte Ltd

20% owned by DBS Vickers
Securities Holdings Pte Ltd
20% owned by DBS Nominges
Pte Ltd

20% owned by DBS Group
Holdings Ltd

DBS Vickers Securities
(Singapore) Pte Ltd

8 Cross Street

#02-01, PWC Building
Singapore 048424

Tel: {65} 6533 9688

Fax: (6%5) 6226 8033

100% owned by DBS Bank
DBS Vickers Securities
{Singapore) Pte Ltd is the main
operating entity in Singapore
of the DBS Vickers Group,
which has operations of
varying scope and complexity
in other jurisdictions including
Hong Kong, Malaysia, Thailand
and Indonesia.

PT Bank DBS Indonesia
Plaza Permata

Ground Floor and 12th Floor
Jalan M. H. Thamtin Kav.57
Jakarta 10350, Indonesia
Tel: (62 21) 390 3366,

390 3368

Fax: {62 21) 390 3488;

390 3383

99% owned by DBS Bank

DBS HDM Capital
Management Sdn Bhd
Suite 6-03B, 6th Floor
Menara Keck Seng

203 Jalan Bukit Bintang
Kuala Lumpur 55100
Malaysia

Tel: {603) 2144 2068

Fax: (603) 2144 5068
50% owned by DBS Bank
50% owned by Hwang-DBS
(Malaysia) Bhd

Bank of the Philippine
Islands

BPt Building

Ayala Avenue

corner Paseo de Roxas
Makati City, Metro Manila
The Philippines

Tel: {632) 845 5971; 845 5977;
845 5978

Fax: (632) 845 5980
20.34% owned by DBS Bank

Cholamandalam DBS
Finance Limited

Care House, 234

NSC Bose Road

Parrys, Chennai 600 001
India

Tel: (91 44) 2534 6400

Fax: (91 44) 2534 6464
37.48% owned by DBS Bank

Hutchison DBS Card Ltd
22/F, Hutchison House

10 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2606 8992

Fax: (852) 2687 5911
50% owned by DBS Bank
{Hong Kong) Limited

Hwang-DBS (Malaysia) Bhd
Level 2, 3,4, 7 &8,

Wisma $ri Pinang

60 Green Hall

Penang 10200, Malaysia

Tel: (604) 263 6996

Fax: {604} 263 9597

23.63% owned by DBS Vickers
Securities Malaysia Pte Ltd,

an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of DBS Bank
2.60% owned by DBS Bank

Investment & Capital
Corporation of the
Philippines

15th Fl, PS Bank Centre
777 Paseo de Roxas

Makati City, The Philippines
Tel: {(632) 811 4656

Fax: (632} 819 0941

20% owned by DBS Bank

Network for Electronic
Transfer {Singapore) Pte Ltd
298 Tiong Bahru Read,
#04-01/06, Central Plaza
Singapore 168730

Tel: (65) 6272 (G533

Fax: {65) 6272 2334

33.3% owned by DBS Bank

Orix Leasing Singapore Ltd
¢/o United Qverseas Bank Ltd
80 Raffles Place

4th Storey, UOB Plaza 1
Singapore 048624

Tel: (65) 6339 3622

Fax: (65) 6339 4417

30% owned by DBS Bank

Primefield Company Pte Ltd
6 Shenton Way

DBS Building Tower One
Singapore 068809

Tel: (65) 6878 8888

Fax: (65) 6878 8884

100% owned by DBS Bank
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Financial Calendar

Payment date of 2005 Final Dividend on Ordinary Shares, Non-Voting Convertible Preference Shares 20 April 2006
and Non-Voting Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares
Payment date of 2006 first quarter Dividend on Ordinary Shares, Non-Voting Convertible Preference Shares and 26 May 2006

and Non-Voting Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares

Payment date of 2006 second quarter Dividend on Ordinary Shares, Non-Voting Convertible Preference Shares
and Non-Vating Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares

25 August 2006

Payment date of 2005 third quarter Dividend on Ordinary Shares, Non-Voting Convertible Preference Shares
and Non-Voting Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares

23 November 2006

Financial Year-end

31 December 2006

Announcement of first quarter results for 2006

28 April 2006

Announcement of half-year results 2006

28 July 2006

Announcement of third quarter resuits 2006

27 Qctober 2006

Announcement of full-year results 2006

15 February 2007

Annual General Meeting 4 April 2007
Proposed payment date of 2006 Final Dividend on Ordinary Shares, Non-Voting Convertible Preference Shares 25 Aprii 2007
and Non-Voting Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares

Announcement of half-year results 2007 July 2007
Announcement of full-year results 2007 February 2008

126 Financial Catendar
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

DBS Group Holdings Ltd {Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Informal briefing on DBS® 2006 results

Chief Financial Officer Jeanette Wong will take questions on the DBS 2006 Results and contents of the 2006 Annual Report
(at 1.30pm) immediately preceding the formal commencement of the Annual General Meeting.

To: All Shareholders

NQTICE 1S HEREBY GIVEN that the Eighth Annual General
Meeting of the Shareholders of the Company will be held in the
Auditorium, 3rd Storey, DBS Building Tower Cne, 6 Shenton Way,
Singapore 068809 on Wednesday, 4 April 2007 at 2.00 pm to
transact the following business:

1 To receive and consider the Directers’ Report and Audited
Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2006 and the
Auditors’ Report thereon.

2 To declare a Final Bividend of 20 cents per ardinary share,
less income 1ax, and a Special Dividend of 5 cents per
otdinary share, less income tax, for the year ended 31
December 2006. {2005: Final Dividend of 17 cents per
ordinary share, less income tax]

3 To sanction the amount of $1,486,500 proposed as
Directors’ Fees for 2006. [2005: $1,076,538]

4 To appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the
Company and te authorise the Directors to fix their
remuneration.

5 To re-elect the following Directors retiring under Article 95
of the Cormpany’s Articles of Associaticn;

(a}  MrJackson Tai

(b)  Mr Ang Kong Hua

(¢ Mrleung Chun Ying

(d)  MrPeter Ong Boon Kwee

6 As Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following
Resolutions as CRDINARY RESOLUTIONS:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

6A  That the Board cf Directors of the Company be and is
hereby authorised to allot and issue from time to time such
number of ordinary shares in the capitat of the Company
{"DBSH Ordinary Shares”} as may be required to be issued
pursuant to the exercise of the options under the DBSH
Share Option Plan PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the aggregate
number of new DBSH Crdinary Shares to be issued pursuant
to the DBSH Share Option Plan and DBSH Share Plan
(previously known as the DBSH Performance Share Plan)
shall not exceed 7.5 per cent of the total number of issued
shares in the capital of the Company from time to time.

68

6C

That the Board ot Directors of the Company be and is
hereby authorised to offer and grant awards in accordance
with the provisions of the DBSH Share Plan and to allot and
issue from time to time such number of DBSH Ordinary
Shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the
vesting of awards under the DBSH Share Plan, PROVIDED
ALWAYS THAT the aggregate number of new DBSH
Ordinary Shares to be issued pursuant to the DBSH Share
Plan and DBSH Share Option Plan shall not exceed 7.5 per
cent of the totat number of issued shares in the capital of
the Company from time to time.

That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the
Company to:

(ay issue shares in the capital of the Company
{“shares") whether by way of rights, bonus or
otherwise; and/or

{it  make or grant offers, agreements or options
(collectively, “Instruments”) that might or
would require shares o he issued, including
but not limited to the creation and issue of {as
well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or
other instruments convertible into shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and
for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors
may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

{b)  (notwithstanding the autharity conferred by this
Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares
in pursuance of any Instrument made cr granted by
the Directors while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

{1)  the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant
to this Resolution (including shares to be issued in
pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant
to this Resolution) does not exceed 50 per cent of
the issued shares in the capital of the Company (as
calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below),
of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued
other than on a pro rata hasis to shareholders of the
Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance
of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this
Resclution) does not exceed 20 per cent of the issued
shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in
accordance with paragraph (2) below,
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{2)  (subject to such manner of calculation and
adjustments as may be prescribed by the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited {“SGX-ST")) for
the purpose of determining the aggregate number
of shares that may be issued under paragraph (1}
above, the percentage of issued shares shall be based
on the number of issued shares in the capital of the
Company at the time this Resolution is passed, after
adjusting for:

(i new shares arising from the conversion or
exercise of any convertible securities or share
options or vesting of share awards which
are outstanding or subsisting at the time this
Resolution is passed; and

i) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of
shares;

(3)  inexercising the authority conferred by this
Resolution, the Company shall comply with the
provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the
time being in force (unless such compliance has been
waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association
for the time being of the Company; and

(4}  (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general
meeting) the authority conferred by this Resalution
shall continue in force until the conclusien of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date
by which the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held, whichever is
the earlier.

By Order of The Board

Heng Lee Cheng (Ms)
Group Secretary
DBS Group Holdings Ltd

19 March 2007
Singapore

*

Further information on Mr Jackson Taj, Mr Ang Kong Hua, Mr Leung
Chun Ying and Mr Peter Ong can be found at page 117 onwards.

1 28 Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTES:

An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is
entitied to appoint a proxy to attend and to vote in his stead. An ordinary
shareholder of the Company which is a corporation is entitfed to appoint its
authorised representative or proxy to vote on its behalf.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

The instrument appointing a proxy must he deposited at the Company's
Office at & Shenton Way, DBS Building Tower One #39-02, Singapore
068809, at feast 48 hours before the time for holding the Meeting.

STATEMENT PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 54(C) OF THE ARTICLES
OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY

Resolution 6A is to empower the Directors to issue ordinary shares
in the capital of the Company pursuant to the DBSH Share Option
Plan. Although the Rules of the DBSH Share Option Plan provide
that the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued
under the DBSH Share Option Plan and the DBSH Share Plan
{previously known as the DBSH Performance Share Plan) is limited
to 15 per cent of the total number of issued shares in the capital
of the Company from time to time, Resolution 6A provides for

a lower limit, namely, 7.5 per cent of the total number of issued
shares in the capital of the Company from time to time.

Resolution 6B is to empower the Directors to offer and grant
awards and to issue ordinary shares in the capital of the Company
pursuant to the DBSH Share Plan. Although the Rules of the DBSH
Share Plan provide that the maximum number of ordinary shares
which may be issued under the DBSH Share Plan and the DBSH
Share Option Plan is limited to 15 per cent of the total number

of issued shares in the capital of the Company from time to time,
Resolution 6B provides for a lower limit, namely, 7.5 per cent of
the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company
from time to time.

Resolution 6C is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the
capital of the Company and to make or grant instruments (such
as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares, and to issue
shares in pursuance of such instruments, up to a number not
exceeding in total 50 per cent of the issued shares in the capital
of the Company, with a sub-limit of 20 per cent for issues other
than on a pro rata basis to shareholders. Far the purpose of
determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued,
the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the number

of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time that
Resolution 6C is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares arising
from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or
share opifons or vesting of share awards which are outstanding
or subsisting at the time that Resolution 6C is passed, and (b) any
subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.
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' (T'] IMPORTANT:
I roxy I_Or 1. For investars who have used their CPF monies to buy DBS Group Holdings Ltd shares,

the annual report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees
DBS GROUP HOLDINGS 1TD and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
{Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) 2. For holders of Non-Vioting Convertible Preference Shares (NVCPS), the annual report is
forwarded to them solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
3. For holders of Non-Voting Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares {(NVRCPS),
the annual report is forwarded to them solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
4. This Proxy form is not valid for use by CPF Investors, NVCPS and NVRCPS holders and
shall be ineffective for ali intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

|/ We

of
heing an Ordinary Shareholder(s) of DBS Group Heldings Ltd hereby appoint Mr/Mrs/Ms

Name Address NRIC/Passport Number Proportion of Shareholdings (%)

and/cr (delete as appropriate)

as myfour proxy/proxies, to vote for mefus and on my/our behalf at the Eighth Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held on
Wednesday, 4 April 2007 at 2.00 pm and at any adjournment thereof in the following manner:

NOC. RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

Ordinary Business

—_

Adoption of Report and Accounts

Declaration of Final Dividend and Special Dividend on Ordinary Shares

Approval of proposed Directors’ Fees of 531,486,500

Appointment of Ernst & Young as Auditors

il aw| M

Re-election of the following Directors retiring under Article 95:
{a) Mr Jackson Tai

() Mr Ang Kong Hua

(¢} Mr Leung Chun Ying

{d) Mr Peter Ong Bcon Kwee

Special Business

BA Approval to issue Shares in accordance with the DBSH Share Option Plan

6B Approval to grant awards in accordance with the DBSH Share Plan

6C Approval to issue Shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap 50

If you wish to exercise all your votes For or Against, please tick with "+ Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes For or
Against each resolution.

If this form of proxy contains no indication as to how the proxy should vote in relation te each resolution, the proxy shall vote as the
proxy deems fit,

As witnass my/our hand(s} this day of 2007. No. of Ordinary Shares held

Signature or Common Seal of Shareholder IMPORTANT PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF.

]
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NOTES:

Please insert the total number of Ordinary Shares held by you. If you
have Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 1304 of the Companies Act, Chapter
50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Ordinary Shares.

if you have Ordinary Shares registered in your narme in the Register of
Mermbers, you should insert that number of Ordinary Shares. If you
have Crdinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register and Ordinary Shares registered in your name in the Register of
Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares
entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in
your name In the Register of Members.

A Member entitled to attend and vote at a Meeting of the Company
is entitied to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote instead of
him.

Where a Member appoints two proxies, the appointments shalf be
invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding fexpressed
as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

The Instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the office of
the Company at 6 Shenton Way, DBS Building Tower One

#39-02, Singapore 0688089, not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for the Annuaf Generaf Meeting.

5 The Instrument appointing the proxy or proxies must be under the
hand of the appcinter or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.
Where the Instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by
a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the
hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6 A corporation which is 3 Member may, in accordance with
Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore, authorise
by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting.

7 The Company shail be entitled to reject the Instrument appointing a
proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or iflegitie or
where the true intentions of the appointer are not ascertainable from
the instructions of the appointer specified in the Instrument appointing
a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of members whose Ordinary
Shares are entered against their names in the Depository Register, the
Company may refect any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies
fodged if such Members are not shown to have Ordinary Shares
entered against their names in the Depository Register 48 hours
before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting as
certified by The Central Depository (Pte} Limited to the Company.




Corporafte Information

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Jackson Tai - Vice Chairman &
Chief Executive Officer

Frank Wong Kwong Shing — Chief Operating
Officer; Vice Chairman, DBS Bank,; Chairman,
DBS Bank {Hong Kong) Limited

Jeanette Wong — Chief Financial Officer

Eric Ang - Managing Director & Joint Head,
Global Financial Markets

Roger Arner — Managing Director & Head,
Group Credit

Chng Sok Hui -~ Managing Director & Head,
Group Risk

Sharon Craggs — Managing Director & Head,
Group Legal, Compliance and Secretariat

Susan Ho - Managing Director & Principal
Secretary to the Corporate Office

Edmund Koh —~ Managing Director & Head.
Regional Consumer Banking

Edmund Larkin — Managing Director & Head,
Group Audit

David Lau — Managing Director & Joint Head,
Global Financial Markets

Teresa Lin — Managing Director & Joint Head,
Corporate and Investrnent Banking

Karen Ngui — Managing Director & Head,
Group Strategic Marketing and
Communications

Rajan Raju — Managing Director & Head,
South and Southeast Asia, Global Transaction
Services and Technology & Cperations

Brent Smith - Managing Director & Joint Head,
Corporate and investrnent Banking

Theresa Soikkeli — Managing Director & Head,
Group Human Resources

Amy Yip ~ CEO, DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

DBSH BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Koh Boon Hwee — Chairman
Jackson Tai - Vice Chairman &
Chief Executive Officer

Frank Wong Kwong Shing —
Chief Operating Officer

Ang Kong Hua

Andrew Robert Fowell Buxton
Goh Geok Ling

Kwa Chong Seng

Leung Chun Ying

Narayana Murthy

Peter Ong Boon Kwee

John Alan Ross

Wong Ngit Liong

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ang Kong Hua — Chairman
Goh Geok Ling

Peter Ong Boon Kwee

BOARD RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Kwa Chong Seng - Chairman

Kch Boon Hwee

Ang Kong Hua

Andrew Robert Fowell Buxton

Peter Ong Boon Kwee

John Alan Ross

BOARD CREDIT COMMITTEE
Koh Boon Hwee — Chairman
Jackson Tai

Frank Wong Kwong Shing
Goh Geok Ling

Kwa Chong Seng

BOARD STRATEGY AND PLANNING
COMMITTEE

Koh Boon Hwee — Chajirman

Jackson Tai

Frank wong Kwong Shing

Goh Geok Ling

Kwa Chong Seng

COMPENSATION AND MANAGEMENT
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Kwa Chong Seng - Chairmar

Koh Boon Hwee

Goh Geok Ling

Leung Chun Ying

Narayana Murthy

Wong Ngit Liong

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Leung Chun Ying — Chairman
Kah Boon Hwee

Ang Kong Hua

Narayana Murthy

wong Nagit Liong

GROUP SECRETARY
Heng Lee Cheng

REGISTRAR

Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
(A division of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd.)

8 Cross Street

#11-00 PWC Building

Singapore 048424

Tel: (65) 6236 3333

Fax: (65) 6236 4399

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
One Raffles Quay

North Tower, Level 18
Singapore 048583

Partner in charge of the audit:
Ms Fang Ai Lian
{Appointed on 21 April 2003)

REGISTERED OFFICE

6 Shenton Way

DBS Building Tower One
Singapore 068809

Tel: {65) 6878 8888
Website: www.dbs.com
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